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Our Vision
Ducommun Incorporated is dedicated to providing the 

aerospace and defense industry with leading engineered 

products, electronic and structural manufacturing and 

assembly services as well as aftermarket support. 

The company supplies high value, niche products and 

services that deliver superior and sustainable value to  

our customers and all other stakeholders. 

Company Profile
Ducommun Incorporated delivers innovative value- 

added manufacturing solutions to customers in the 

aerospace, defense and industrial markets. Founded 

in 1849, the company specializes in two core areas—

Electronic Systems and Structural Systems—to produce 

complex products and components for commercial 

aircraft platforms, mission-critical military and space 

programs, and sophisticated industrial applications.  

For more information, visit www.ducommun.com.
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We’ve added new leadership, enhanced and developed 

our business model, implemented a new operating 

system focused on lean principles and initiated a 

company-wide performance and results-driven culture 

that holds people accountable. The company has also 

streamlined the organization to drive profitable top-line 

growth and improve performance through operational 

excellence and efficiencies. The flattening of the 

organization with one less layer of management along 

with fewer business units has enabled Ducommun to  

be a stronger company that operates better all with 

lower costs.

In 2019, our strategic focus and priorities for growth are 

clear as the team developed a strategic plan in 2018 

which was approved by the Board of Directors last 

October. Ducommun is dedicated to being a niche 

solutions provider for aerospace and defense industry 

customers who demand high value from our industry-

leading proprietary processes and engineered products 

and services. Our priorities for growth will focus on 

adding new programs in the marketplace while 

continuing to expand the current presence on major 

single-aisle commercial aircraft as well as multiple 

defense and missile platforms. In addition, we 

committed to strategic acquisitions of businesses that 

Stephen G. Oswald
ChaIrman, PrESIDEnT anD CEO

I’m happy to report that in just under two 

years, Ducommun has been transformed  

into an exciting high-performance company 

and organization. 

Dear Fellow Shareholders:

meet our defined evaluation criteria that has been 

shared with investors.

InveStOr reSultS

Ducommun’s success last year is evidenced by the 

growth in shareholder value reflected in the 27 percent 

growth in the stock price from $28.45 at the end of 2017 

to $36.32 at end of 2018. I believe the Ducommun team 

is demonstrating a higher degree of accountability and 

Our priorities for growth will focus 

on adding new programs in the 

marketplace while continuing to  

expand the current presence on major 

single-aisle commercial aircraft as 

well as multiple defense and missile 

platforms. In addition, we committed to 

strategic acquisitions of businesses that 

meet our defined evaluation criteria that  

has been shared with investors.
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focus on results as we continue to build a stronger 

company. The company also hosted our first-ever 

Investor Day in new York City in november, which 

allowed the senior executive leadership team to 

communicate the strategy, provide market data on our 

key programs as well as showcasing the innovative 

technology that we bring to the market. The Investor Day 

was well-attended and received and I look forward to 

the next meeting.

StrOnG COmmerCIal aerOSpaCe  

and defenSe prOGramS 

With over $100 million in sales for the Boeing 737 

platform in 2018, Ducommun is very well positioned for 

growth as Boeing looks to increase build rates in 2019 

from 52 airplanes per month to 57. Our 737 work 

includes production of the spoilers as well as other 

titanium structural content for the aircraft. We are also 

excited about opportunities on Boeing’s 787 with build 

rates increasing from 12 per month to 14, and the 

rejuvenated 767 as Boeing announced in april their 

plans to increase the rate beginning in 2020.

Our position on defense programs is also very positive, as 

we have sales on over 30 different missile programs and 

several military fixed wing and rotary aircraft such as the 

F-35, F-18 and apache helicopter. The increase in defense 

spending in the U.S. budget has given many of these 

programs momentum as we head into 2019 and 2020. 

We’re also expanding key customer relationships.  

an excellent example is the recent growth with airbus 

which has been a customer for just the past few years. 

We believe that airbus will continue to be a high-growth 

customer as we work more closely than ever before  

to provide high value technology solutions and meet 

readiness requirements for increasing build rate levels 

on the a320 family.

fInanCIal HIGHlIGHtS

In 2018, Ducommun reported net revenue of 

$629.3 million in 2018, up over 12% from $558.2 million 

in 2017. Our commercial aerospace business posted 

excellent growth, increasing nearly 29% to 

$304.5 million in 2018 from $236.4 million in 2017  

with strong performance by both our Structural Systems 

and Electronic Systems segments. The leading growth 

program within commercial aerospace was the Boeing 

737, where we topped $100 million of net revenue for 

the first time ever resulting in 30% growth compared  

to 2017. Our military and space business grew over  

3% to $276.7 million from $267.8 million, driven by 

continued growth across our numerous electronics 

applications. Backlog grew to an all-time record level  

of $864.4 million, up more than $135 million from the 

start of 2018, which supports our confidence in top line 

performance for 2019 and beyond. additional details 

regarding our revenue and backlog are shown in the 

charts on the following page.

Operating income margins improved significantly  

by over 100 basis points from 2.8% of net revenue  

in 2017 to 3.9% in 2018. The margin expansion was  

driven by strong improvements in our Structural 

Systems segment, which saw operating income margins 

improve over 400 basis points from 2.4% in 2017  

to 6.5% in 2018. additionally, cash flow from operations 

increased more than 30% from $35.4 million in 2017  

to $46.2 million in 2018.

We posted earnings of $9.0 million, or $0.77 per diluted 

share, in 2018 compared to $20.1 million, or $1.74 per 

Backlog grew to an all-time record  

level of $864.4 million, up more than 

$135 million from the start of 2018, 

which supports our confidence in top 

line performance for 2019 and beyond.
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diluted share which included a $14.5 million benefit 

from the 2017 Tax Cuts and Jobs act. 

In november, we refinanced our debt and entered into a 

new credit facility which will allow us greater flexibility 

in executing our strategic initiatives. The new credit 

facility consists of a $100 million revolving line of credit 

and a $240 million term loan.

new fOCuS On InnOvatIOn

The development and transformation of the Ducommun 

Business model has been a top priority for the company 

as we move to more proprietary products, aftermarket 

services and advanced technology. In support of this 

strategy, the Board of Directors has created an 

Innovation Committee comprised of four members 

including myself. This is another excellent development 

leveraging the Board with a focus on investment and 

2018 Revenues
of $629.3 Million

Total Backlog at
December 31, 2018
of $864.4 Million

8%

44%

48%

5%

39%

56%

COMMERCIAL AEROSPACE

MILITARY AND SPACE

INDUSTRIAL
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growth potential in different business areas as well as 

the current products and technology in the company’s 

portfolio. The committee’s work will be closely aligned 

with our performance centers in identifying the best 

opportunities as we move forward. 

a good example of innovation at Ducommun is our 

proprietary VersaCore Composite™ technology, the new 

brand name for the foam matrix composite technology 

the company first introduced at the Paris air Show in 

June 2017. VersaCore is a differentiator with a unique 

value proposition for our customers. In august, 

Ducommun was awarded a long-term contract through 

2029 valued at $200 million. The program is using 

VersaCore Composite™ to produce nacelle components 

for a leading engine OEm to support a high rate single-

aisle commercial aircraft. Ducommun will complete the 

composite product design and process development in 

2019 and expects to begin full production in Guaymas, 

mexico next year.

StrateGIC aCquISItIOnS  

drIvInG GrOwtH

During the first half of 2017, we hired a new mergers and 

acquisitions executive and established a process for 

reviewing potential acquisition opportunities. We’ve 

already closed two acquisitions and I am pleased to 

report that both businesses are on-track to continue  

to drive exceptional value and growth: 

•	 	In	our	first	full	year	since	acquiring	Lightning	

Diversion Systems in September 2017, performance 

has exceeded our acquisition business plan by  

11 percent on revenue and 18 percent on adjusted 

EBITDa. as a world leader in lightning protection 

systems for aircraft, serving both the aerospace and 

defense industries, the business is expected to 

experience very strong growth for many years as an 

ever-increasing number of planes become connected. 

We’ve already closed two acquisitions 

and I am pleased to report that both 

businesses are on-track to continue to 

drive exceptional value and growth.
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•	 	In	April	2018,	we	completed	the	acquisition	of	

Certified Thermoplastics Co., LLC, a leader in 

precision profile extrusions and extruded assemblies 

of engineered thermoplastic resins, compounds  

and alloys for a wide range of commercial 

aerospace, defense, and industrial applications. 

Based in Santa Clarita, California, the 40-year-old 

company had been family-owned and operated  

by George Duncan and his son, robert, who  

has since joined Ducommun.

emplOyee fInanCIal  

well-beInG prOGramS

as we continue to grow as a high-performance 

organization we believe in the importance of Employee 

Financial Well-being which is good for employees, the 

communities we operate in and all other stakeholders. 

In 2019, we will be awarding significant pay-for-

performance bonuses for 2018 as compared to previous 

years and also introduce an Employee Stock Purchase 

Program (ESPP). The ESPP allows for employees to 

purchase Ducommun stock at a 15 percent discount 

during two offering periods each year. 

I’m also delighted to announce some changes to our 

college scholarship program. In 2018, we doubled the 

number of college scholarships available for qualified 

children and grandchildren of Ducommun employees 

from eight to 16. In 2019, we will be raising the amount of 

each scholarship from $2,500 to $3,000 as well as adding 

six more scholarships for vocational or technical students 

in the amount of $2,000 each. These scholarships not 

only help defray some of the college expenses for our 

employees’ families, they also help ensure an educated 

workforce for the future of our nation.

as we continue to grow as a high-

performance organization we believe in 

the importance of Employee Financial 

Well-being which is good for employees, 

the communities we operate in and all 

other stakeholders.
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In the aftermath of the devastating wildfires that 

affected so many of our Ca neighbors, as well as some 

of our own employees and their families, we were 

pleased to support relief efforts with donations to the 

american red Cross and other organizations for 

California Wildfires relief in 2018. 

In many of the communities where our facilities are 

located, we also continue to be very involved by giving 

back both with monetary donations and volunteer hours 

to many organizations such as the Boys & Girls Clubs  

of america. 

Community Involvement 
and Philanthropy

as an aerospace and defense company, we are starting 

to get more involved as a corporation in supporting 

programs that stimulate interest in the science, 

technology, engineering and math (STEm) subject areas. 

In partnership with the Los angeles Chargers and 

University of California, Irvine, we co-founded and 

developed “STEm on the Sidelines™,” a contest which 

attracted a total of 30 teams comprised of more than 

200 students from 22 different high schools in Orange 

and L.a. counties. The program was a huge success in its 

first year and we plan to grow it with our partners and 

reach more students next year.
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SettInG tHe StaGe  

fOr 2019 and beyOnd

as I mark the conclusion of my second year at 

Ducommun, I’m extremely pleased with the results  

of our organizational development, stock price 

appreciation, financial results and operational 

performance. In 2019, we also plan to accelerate 

growth, enhance margins and provide greater value  

to our customers. at the same time, our success will 

enable us to take very important steps toward investing 

in our employees more and more along with improving 

their financial well-being. 

In 2019, Ducommun will also celebrate its 170th 

anniversary in august and we are proud to be 

recognized as the oldest continuously operating 

company in Ca. In addition, there has never been  

a better time to serve our nation’s vital commercial 

aerospace and defense platforms. I, and the team  

intend to continue to differentiate the company in the 

marketplace based on our value-added innovation  

and proprietary technologies. Ducommun is a terrific 

story for investors by providing exceptional value and  

a strong commitment to our employees and the 

aerospace and defense industry. 

In closing, I would like to thank our employees for all 

their efforts and results in 2018 and I look forward to an 

exciting future ahead!

Best regards,

Stephen G. Oswald

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
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to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes   No  

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every 
Interactive Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of this chapter) 
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Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange 
Act).    Yes      No  

The aggregate market value of the voting and non-voting common equity held by non-affiliates computed by reference to the 
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS AND RISK FACTORS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”) contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of 
the Securities Act of 1933, Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and the Private Securities Litigation Reform 
Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements may be preceded by, followed by or include the words “could,” “may,” “believe,” 
“expect,” “anticipate,” “plan,” “estimate,” “expect,” or similar expressions. These statements are based on the beliefs and 
assumptions of our management. Generally, forward-looking statements include information concerning our possible or 
assumed future actions, events or results of operations. Forward-looking statements specifically include, without limitation, 
the information in this Form 10-K regarding: future sales, earnings, cash flow, uses of cash and other measures of financial 
performance, projections or expectations for future operations, our plans with respect to restructuring activities, completed 
acquisitions, future acquisitions and dispositions and expected business opportunities that may be available to us.

Although we believe that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements are based on reasonable assumptions, 
these forward-looking statements are subject to numerous factors, risks and uncertainties that could cause actual outcomes 
and results to be materially different from those projected. We cannot guarantee future results, performance or achievements. 
Moreover, neither we nor any other person assumes responsibility for the accuracy and completeness of the forward-looking 
statements. All written and oral forward-looking statements made in connection with this Form 10-K that are attributable to 
us or persons acting on our behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by “Risk Factors” contained within Part I, Item 1A 
of this Form 10-K and other cautionary statements included herein. We are under no duty to update any of the forward-
looking statements after the date of this Form 10-K to conform such statements to actual results or to changes in our 
expectations.

The information in this Form 10-K is not a complete description of our business. There can be no assurance that other factors 
will not affect the accuracy of these forward-looking statements or that our actual results will not differ materially from the 
results anticipated in such forward-looking statements. While it is impossible to identify all such factors, some factors that 
could cause actual results to differ materially from those estimated by us include, but are not limited to, those factors or 
conditions described under Risk Factors contained within Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K and the following:

• our ability to manage and otherwise comply with our covenants with respect to our outstanding indebtedness;

• our ability to service our indebtedness;

• our acquisitions, business combinations, joint ventures, divestitures, or restructuring activities may entail certain 
operational and financial risks;

• the cyclicality of our end-use markets and the level of new commercial and military aircraft orders;

• industry and customer concentration;

• production rates for various commercial and military aircraft programs;

• the level of U.S. Government defense spending;

• compliance with applicable regulatory requirements and changes in regulatory requirements, including 
regulatory requirements applicable to government contracts and sub-contracts;

• further consolidation of customers and suppliers in our markets;

• product performance and delivery;

• start-up costs, manufacturing inefficiencies and possible overruns on contracts;

• increased design, product development, manufacturing, supply chain and other risks and uncertainties 
associated with our growth strategy to become a supplier of higher-level assemblies;

• our ability to manage the risks associated with international operations and sales;

• possible goodwill and other asset impairments;

• economic and geopolitical developments and conditions;

• unfavorable developments in the global credit markets;

• our ability to operate within highly competitive markets;

• technology changes and evolving industry and regulatory standards;
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• the risk of environmental liabilities; 

• the risk of cyber security attacks; and

• litigation with respect to us.

We caution the reader that undue reliance should not be placed on any forward-looking statements, which speak only as of 
the date of this Form 10-K. We do not undertake any duty or responsibility to update any of these forward-looking statements 
to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Form 10-K or to reflect actual outcomes.

PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS

GENERAL

Ducommun Incorporated (“Ducommun,” “the Company,” “we,” “us” or “our”) is a leading global provider of engineering 
and manufacturing services for high-performance products and high-cost-of failure applications used primarily in the 
aerospace and defense (“A&D”), industrial, medical and other industries (collectively, “Industrial”). Ducommun 
differentiates itself as a full-service solution-based provider, offering a wide range of value-added advanced products and 
services in our primary businesses of electronics, structures, and integrated solutions. We operate through two primary 
business segments:  Electronic Systems and Structural Systems. We are the successor to a business that was founded in 
California in 1849 and reincorporated in Delaware in 1970.

ACQUISITIONS

Acquisitions have been an important element of our growth strategy. We have supplemented our organic growth by 
identifying, acquiring and integrating acquisition opportunities that result in broader, more sophisticated product and service 
offerings while diversifying and expanding our customer base and markets.

For example, on April 23, 2018, we acquired all the outstanding equity interests of Certified Thermoplastics Co., LLC (the 
“CTP Acquisition”), a privately-held leader in precision profile extrusions and extruded assemblies of engineered 
thermoplastic resins, compounds, and alloys for a wide range of commercial aerospace, defense, medical, and industrial 
applications for $30.7 million (net of cash acquired), funded by drawing down on our revolving credit facility. The CTP 
Acquisition is part of our strategy to diversify towards more customized, higher value, engineered products with greater 
aftermarket potential.

PRODUCTS AND SERVICES

Business Segment Information

We operate through two primary strategic businesses Electronic Systems and Structural Systems, each of which is a 
reportable segment. The results of operations among our operating segments vary due to differences in competitors, 
customers, extent of proprietary deliverables and performance. Electronic Systems designs, engineers and manufactures high-
reliability electronic and electromechanical products used in worldwide technology-driven markets including A&D and 
Industrial end-use markets. Electronic Systems’ product offerings primarily range from prototype development to complex 
assemblies as discussed in more detail below. Structural Systems designs, engineers and manufactures large, complex 
contoured aerostructure components and assemblies and supplies composite and metal bonded structures and assemblies. 
Structural Systems’ products are primarily used on commercial aircraft, military fixed-wing aircraft and military and 
commercial rotary-wing aircraft.

Electronic Systems

Electronic Systems has multiple major product offerings in electronics manufacturing for diverse, high-reliability 
applications: complex cable assemblies and interconnect systems, printed circuit board assemblies, higher-level electronic, 
electromechanical, and mechanical components and assemblies, and lightning diversion systems. Components, assemblies, 
and lightning diversion products are provided principally for domestic and foreign commercial and military fixed-wing 
aircraft, military and commercial rotary-wing aircraft and space programs. Further, we provide select industrial high-
reliability applications for the industrial, medical, and other end-use markets. We build custom, high-performance electronics 
and electromechanical systems. Our products include sophisticated radar enclosures, aircraft avionics racks and shipboard 
communications and control enclosures, printed circuit board assemblies, cable assemblies, wire harnesses, and interconnect 
systems, lightning diversion strips, surge suppressors, conformal shields and other high-level complex assemblies. Electronic 
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Systems utilizes a highly-integrated production process, including manufacturing, engineering, fabrication, machining, 
assembly, electronic integration, and related processes. Engineering, technical and program management services are 
provided to a wide range of customers.

In response to customer needs and utilizing our in-depth engineering expertise, Electronic Systems is also considered a 
leading supplier of engineered products including, illuminated pushbutton switches and panels for aviation and test systems, 
microwave and millimeter switches and filters for radio frequency systems and test instrumentation, and motors and resolvers 
for motion control.

Electronic Systems also provides engineering expertise for aerospace system design, development, integration, and testing. 
We leverage the knowledge base, capabilities, talent, and technologies of this focused capability into direct support of our 
customers. 

Structural Systems

Structural Systems has three major product offerings to support a global customer base: commercial aircraft, military fixed-
wing aircraft, and military and commercial rotary-wing aircraft. Our applications include structural components, structural 
assemblies, bonded (metal and composite) components, and precision profile extrusions and extruded assemblies. In the 
structural components products, Structural Systems provides design services, engineers, and manufacturing of large complex 
contoured aluminum, titanium and Inconel aerostructure components for the aerospace industry. Structural assembly products 
include winglets, engine components, and fuselage structural panels for aircraft. Metal and composite bonded structures and 
assemblies products include aircraft wing spoilers, large fuselage skins, rotor blades on rotary-wing aircraft and components, 
flight control surfaces and engine components. To support these products, Structural Systems maintains advanced machine 
milling, stretch-forming, hot-forming, metal bonding, composite layup, and chemical milling capabilities and has an 
extensive engineering capability to support both design services and manufacturing.

AEROSPACE AND DEFENSE END-USE MARKETS OVERVIEW

Our largest end-use markets are the aerospace and defense markets and our revenues from these markets represented 92% of 
our total net revenues in 2018. These markets are serviced by suppliers which are stratified, from the lowest value provided to 
the highest, into four tiers: Tier Three, Tier Two, Tier One and original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”). The OEMs 
provide the highest value and are also known as prime contractors (“Primes”). We derive a significant portion of our revenues 
from subcontracts with OEMs. As the prime contractor for various programs and platforms, the OEMs sell to their customers, 
who may include, depending upon the application, the U.S. Federal Government, foreign, state and local governments, global 
commercial airline carriers, regional jet carriers and various other customers. The OEMs also sell to global leasing companies 
that lease commercial aircraft. A significant portion of our revenues is earned from subcontracts with the Primes. Tier Three 
suppliers principally provide components or detailed parts. Tier Two suppliers provide more complex, value-added parts and 
may also assume more design risk, manufacturing risk, supply chain risk and project management risk than Tier Three 
suppliers. Tier One suppliers manufacture aircraft sections and purchase assemblies. We currently compete primarily with 
Tier Two and Tier Three suppliers. Our business growth strategy is to differentiate ourselves from competitors by providing 
more complex assemblies to our customers as a higher value added supplier.

Commercial Aerospace End-Use Market

The commercial aerospace end-use market is highly cyclical and is impacted by the level of global air passenger traffic in 
general, which in turn is influenced by global economic conditions, fleet fuel and maintenance costs and geopolitical 
developments. Revenues from the commercial aerospace end-use market represented 48% of our total net revenues for 2018.

Global economic growth, a primary driver for air travel, was above the long-term average of three percent in 2018. Passenger 
traffic in 2018 is estimated to grow by almost seven percent, exceeding the long-term average of approximately five percent. 
While growth was strong across all major world regions, there continues to be variation between regions and airline business 
models. Airlines operating in Asia Pacific, Europe, and North America, as well as low-cost-carriers globally, are currently 
leading the growth in passenger traffic.

In addition, airline financial performance also plays a role in the demand for new capacity. Airlines continue to focus on 
increasing revenue through alliances, partnerships, new marketing initiatives, and effective leveraging of ancillary services 
and related revenues. Airlines are also focusing on reducing costs and renewing fleets to leverage more efficient airplanes. 
Net profits in 2018 are expected to approximate $32 billion.
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Further, the availability of internal or external funding impacts commercial aircraft build rates. Failure of our customers to 
obtain financing may result in cancellation or deferral of orders.

The long-term outlook for the industry continues to remain positive due to the fundamental drivers of air travel demand: 
economic growth and the increasing propensity to travel due to increased trade, globalization, and improved airline services 
driven by liberalization of air traffic rights between countries. The Boeing Company’s (“Boeing”) 20 year forecast 
projections in their 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) 
projects a long-term average growth rate of almost five percent per year for passenger traffic and more than four percent for 
cargo traffic. This is based on long-term global economic growth projections of almost three percent average annual gross 
domestic product (“GDP”) growth, Boeing projects a $6 trillion market for more than 42,000 new airplanes over the next 20 
years. We believe we are well positioned given our product capabilities to participate in the steady projected growth rate for 
commercial air traffic and build rates for large commercial aircraft for the airframe manufacturing industry.

Defense End-Use Market

Our defense end-use market includes products used in military and space, including technologies and structures applications. 
The defense end-use market is highly cyclical and is impacted by the level of government defense spending. Government 
defense spending is impacted by national defense policies and priorities, political climates, fiscal budgetary constraints, U.S. 
Federal budget deficits, projected economic growth and the level of global military or security threats, or other conflicts. 
Revenues from the military and space end-use market in 2018 represented 44% of our total net revenues during 2018.

The Bipartisan Budget Act of 2018, passed in February 2018, raised the 2011 Budget Control Act spending caps for fiscal 
years 2018 (“FY2018”), and 2019 (“FY2019”). The consolidated spending bills signed into law in September 2018 provide 
defense funding for FY2019, in compliance with the revised caps. These bills also provide FY2019 appropriations for most 
of the federal government. 

In addition, there continues to be uncertainty with respect to program-level appropriations for the U.S. DoD and other 
government agencies, including NASA. The 2011 Budget Control Act continues to mandate limits on U.S. government 
discretionary spending for fiscal years 2020 (“FY2020”) and 2021 (“FY2021”). The lower budget caps will take effect again 
in FY2020 and FY2021 unless Congress acts to raise the spending caps or to repeal or suspend the law. As a result, continued 
budget uncertainty and the risk of future sequestration cuts remain. Future budget cuts or investment priority changes could 
result in reductions, cancellations, and/or delays of existing contracts or programs. Any of these impacts could have a 
material effect on the results of our operations, financial position, and/or cash flows. For additional information related to our 
revenues from customers whose principal sales are to the U.S. Government and our direct sales to the U.S. Government, see 
“Risk Factors” contained within Part I, Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”).

INDUSTRIAL END-USE MARKETS OVERVIEW

Our industrial, medical and other (collectively, “Industrial”) end-use markets are diverse and are impacted by the customers’ 
needs for increasing electronic content and a desire to outsource. Factors expected to impact these markets include capital and 
industrial goods spending and general economic conditions. Our products are used in heavy industrial manufacturing systems 
and certain medical applications. Revenues from the Industrial end-use markets were 8% of our total net revenues during 
2018. 

We believe our business in these markets is stable and we are well positioned in these markets.

SALES AND MARKETING

Our commercial revenues are substantially dependent on airframe manufacturers’ production rates of new aircraft. Deliveries 
of new aircraft by airframe manufacturers are dependent on the financial capacity of its customers, primarily airlines and 
leasing companies, to purchase the aircraft. Thus, revenues from commercial aircraft could be affected as a result of changes 
in new aircraft orders, or the cancellation or deferral by airlines of purchases of ordered aircraft. Further, our revenues from 
commercial aircraft programs could be affected by changes in our customers’ inventory levels and changes in our customers’ 
aircraft production build rates. In recent years, both major large aircraft manufacturers, Boeing and Airbus, have announced 
higher build rates due to increases in production of existing programs, including more fully-developed models, and by the 
introduction of new platforms.

Military components manufactured by us are employed in many of the country’s front-line fighters, bombers, rotary-wing 
aircraft and support aircraft, as well as land and sea-based applications. Our defense business is diversified among a number 
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of military manufacturers and programs. In the space sector, we continue to support various unmanned launch vehicle and 
satellite programs.

Our sales into the Industrial end-use markets are customer focused in the various markets and driven primarily by their 
capital spending and manufacturing outsourcing demands.

We continue to broaden and diversify our customer base in the end-use markets we serve by providing innovative product 
and service solutions through drawing on our core competencies, experience and technical expertise. Net revenues related to 
military and space, commercial aerospace, and Industrial end-use markets in 2018 and 2017 were as follows:

Many of our contracts are fixed price contracts subject to termination at the convenience of the customer (as well as for 
default). In the event of termination for convenience, the customer generally is required to pay the costs we have incurred and 
certain other fees through the date of termination. Larger, long-term government subcontracts may have provisions for 
milestone payments, progress payments or cash advances for purchase of inventory.

Our marketing efforts primarily consist of developing strong, long-term relationships with our customers, which provide the 
basis for future sales. These close relationships allow us to gain a better insight into each customer’s business needs, identify 
ways to provide greater value to the customer, and allow us to be designed in early in various products and/or high volume 
products.

SEASONALITY

The timing of our revenues is governed by the purchasing patterns of our customers, and, as a result, we may not generate 
revenues equally during the year. However, no material portion of our business is considered to be seasonal.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS

We currently generate the majority of our revenues from the aerospace and defense industries. As a result, we have significant 
revenues from certain customers. Boeing and Raytheon Company (“Raytheon”) were each greater than 10 percent and 
Lockheed Martin Corporation (“Lockheed Martin”) and Spirit AeroSystems Holdings, Inc. (“Spirit”) each were five percent 
or greater of our 2018 or 2017 net revenues. Revenues from our top ten customers, including Boeing, Lockheed Martin, 
Raytheon, and Spirit were 63% of total net revenues during 2018. Net revenues by major customer for 2018 and 2017 were 
as follows: 

8%
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48%
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2017 Net Revenues
of $558.2 Million
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Net revenues from our customers, except the U.S. Government, are diversified over a number of different military and space, 
commercial aerospace, industrial, medical and other products. For additional information on revenues from major customers, 
see Note 17 to our consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, Item 15(a) of this Form 10-K.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

We perform concurrent engineering with our customers and product development activities under our self-funded programs, 
as well as under contracts with others. Concurrent engineering and product development activities are performed for 
commercial, military and space applications.

RAW MATERIALS AND COMPONENTS

Raw materials and components used in the manufacturing of our products include aluminum, titanium, steel and carbon 
fibers, as well as a wide variety of electronic interconnect and circuit card assemblies and components. These raw materials 
are generally available from a number of suppliers and are generally in adequate supply. However, from time to time, we 
have experienced increases in lead times for and limited availability of, aluminum, titanium and certain other raw materials 
and/or components. Moreover, certain components, supplies and raw materials for our operations are purchased from single 
source suppliers and occasionally, directed by our customers. In such instances, we strive to develop alternative sources and 
design modifications to minimize the potential for business interruptions.

COMPETITION

The markets we serve are highly competitive, and our products and services are affected by varying degrees of competition. 
We compete worldwide with domestic and international companies in most markets. These companies may have competitive 
advantages as a result of greater financial resources, economies of scale and bundled products and services that we do not 
offer. Additional information related to competition is discussed in Risk Factors contained within Part I, Item 1A of this Form 
10-K. Our ability to compete depends principally upon the breadth of our technical capabilities, the quality of our goods and 
services, competitive pricing, product performance, design and engineering capabilities, new product innovation, the ability 
to solve specific customer needs, and customer relationships.

PATENTS AND LICENSES

We have several patents, but we do not believe that our operations are dependent upon any single patent or group of patents. 
In general, we rely on technical superiority, continual product improvement, exclusive product features, superior lead time, 
on-time delivery performance, quality, and customer relationships to maintain our competitive advantage.

BACKLOG AND REMAINING PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS

We define backlog as potential revenue that is based on customer placed purchase orders (“POs”) and long-term agreements 
(“LTAs”) with firm fixed price and firm delivery dates of 24 months or less. Backlog is subject to delivery delays or program 
cancellations, which are beyond our control. Backlog is affected by timing differences in the placement of customer orders 
and tends to be concentrated in several programs to a greater extent than our net revenues. Backlog in Industrial markets 
tends to be of a shorter duration and is generally fulfilled within a three month period. As a result of these factors, trends in 
our overall level of backlog may not be indicative of trends in our future net revenues. Backlog was $864.4 million at 
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December 31, 2018, compared to $726.5 million at December 31, 2017. The increase in backlog was primarily in the 
commercial aerospace and military and space end-use markets. 

We define remaining performance obligations as customer placed POs with firm fixed price and firm delivery dates. The 
majority of the LTAs do not meet the definition of a contract under Accounting Standards Codification 606 (“ASC 606”) and 
thus, the backlog amount is greater than the remaining performance obligations amount as defined under ASC 606. Similar to 
backlog, revenue based on remaining performance obligations is subject to delivery delays or program cancellations, which 
are beyond our control. Remaining performance obligations were $722.8 million at December 31, 2018.We anticipate 
recognizing an estimated $505.0 million of our remaining performance obligations during 2019.

ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

Our business, operations and facilities are subject to numerous stringent federal, state and local environmental laws and 
regulations issued by government agencies, including the Environmental Protection Agency (“EPA”). Among other matters, 
these regulatory authorities impose requirements that regulate the emission, discharge, generation, management, transport and 
disposal of hazardous and non-hazardous materials, pollutants and contaminants. These regulations govern public and private 
response actions to hazardous or regulated substances that threaten to release or have been released to the environment, or 
endanger human health, and they require us to obtain and maintain licenses and permits in connection with our operations. 
We may also be required to investigate and remediate the effects of the release or disposal of materials at sites associated with 
past and present operations. Additionally, this extensive regulatory framework imposes significant compliance burdens and 
risks on us. We anticipate that capital expenditures will continue to be required for the foreseeable future to upgrade and 
maintain our environmental compliance efforts, however, we do not expect such expenditures to be material in 2019 and the 
foreseeable future.

Structural Systems has been directed by California environmental agencies to investigate and take corrective action for 
groundwater contamination at its facilities located in Adelanto (a.k.a., El Mirage) and Monrovia, California. Based on 
currently available information, we have accrued $1.5 million at December 31, 2018 for our estimated liabilities related to 
these sites. For further information, see Note 16 in the accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements included in 
Part IV, Item 15(a) of this Form 10-K. In addition, see Risk Factors contained within Part I, Item 1A of this Form 10-K for 
certain risks related to environmental matters.

EMPLOYEES

As of December 31, 2018, we employed 2,600 people, of which 350 are subject to collective bargaining agreements expiring 
in June 2021 and April 2022. We believe our relations with our employees are good. See Risk Factors contained within Part I, 
Item 1A of this Form 10-K for additional information regarding certain risks related to our employees.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

General information about us can be obtained from our website address at www.ducommun.com. Our Annual Reports on 
Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports, if any, are 
available free of charge on our website as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed with or furnished to the SEC. 
Information included in our website is not incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The SEC also 
maintains a website at www.sec.gov that contains reports, proxy statements and other information regarding SEC registrants, 
including our company.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows may be affected by known and unknown risks, 
uncertainties and other factors. We have summarized below the significant, known material risks to our business. Additional 
risk factors not currently known to us or that we currently believe are immaterial may also impair our business, financial 
condition, results of operations and cash flows. Any of these risks, uncertainties and other factors could cause our future 
financial results to differ materially from recent financial results or from currently anticipated future financial results. The 
risk factors below should be considered together with the information included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-
K (“Form 10-K”) as well as other required filings by us with the SEC.
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RISKS RELATED TO OUR CAPITAL STRUCTURE

Our indebtedness could limit our financing options, adversely affect our financial condition, and prevent us from 
fulfilling our debt obligations.

On November 21, 2018, we completed the refinancing of our existing debt by entering into new credit facilities (“New Credit 
Facilities”) to replace the existing credit facilities (“Existing Credit Facilities”). The New Credit Facilities consist of a $240.0 
million senior secured term loan, which matures on November 21, 2025 (“New Term Loan”), and a $100.0 million senior 
secured revolving credit facility (“New Revolving Credit Facility”), which matures on November 21, 2023 (collectively, the 
“New Credit Facilities”). 

At December 31, 2018, we had a total of $233.0 million of outstanding long-term debt. The total long-term debt was 
primarily the result of our acquisitions, LaBarge, Inc. in 2011, Lightning Diversion Systems, LLC (“LDS”) in September 
2017, and CTP on April 23, 2018.

Our ability to complete a reasonable debt refinancing in the future may be limited, as discussed below in this risk factor. We 
may have to undertake alternative financing plans, such as selling assets; reducing or delaying scheduled expansions and/or 
capital investments; or seeking various forms of capital. Our ability to complete reasonable alternative financing plans may 
be affected by circumstances and economic events outside of our control. We cannot ensure that we would be able to 
refinance our debt or enter into alternative financing plans in adequate amounts on commercially reasonable terms, terms 
acceptable to us or at all, or that such plans guarantee that we would be able to meet our debt obligations.

Our level of debt could:

• limit our ability to obtain additional financing to fund capital expenditures, investments or acquisitions or other 
general corporate requirements;

• require a portion of our cash flows to be dedicated to debt service payments instead of other purposes, thereby 
reducing the amount of cash flows available for working capital, capital expenditures, investments or 
acquisitions or other general corporate purposes;

• increase our vulnerability to adverse changes in general economic, industry and competitive conditions;

• place us at a disadvantage compared to other, less leveraged competitors;

• expose us to the risk of increased borrowing costs and higher interest rates as almost 60% of our borrowings 
under our New Credit Facilities bear interest at variable rates, which could further adversely impact our cash 
flows;

• limit our flexibility to plan for and react to changes in our business and the industry in which we compete;

• restrict us from making strategic acquisitions;

• expose us to risk of unfavorable changes in the global credit markets; and

• make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations with respect to the New Credit Facilities and our other 
debt.

The occurrence of any one of these events could have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of 
operations and ability to satisfy our obligations in respect of our outstanding debt.

We require a considerable amount of cash to run our business.

Our ability to make payments on our debt in the future and to fund planned capital expenditures and working capital needs, 
will depend upon our ability to generate significant cash in the future. Our ability to generate cash is subject to economic, 
financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors that may be beyond our control.

On November 21, 2018, we completed New Credit Facilities to replace the Existing Credit Facilities. The New Credit 
Facilities consists of a $240.0 million senior secured term loan, which matures on November 21, 2025, and a $100.0 million 
senior secured revolving credit facility, which matures on November 21, 2023. We are required to make installment payments 
of 0.25% of the outstanding principal balance of the New Term Loan amount on a quarterly basis. In addition, if we meet the 
annual excess cash flow threshold, we will be required to make excess flow payments on an annual basis. Further, the 
undrawn portion of the commitment of the New Revolving Credit Facility is subject to a commitment fee ranging from 
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0.200% to 0.300%, based upon the consolidated total net adjusted leverage ratio. In October 2015, we entered into interest 
rate cap hedges designated as cash flow hedges, with a portion of these interest rate cap hedges maturing on a quarterly basis, 
and a final quarterly maturity date of June 2020 with notional value in aggregate, totaling $135.0 million. At December 31, 
2018, the outstanding balance on the New Credit Facilities was $233.0 million with an average interest rate of 4.71%. Should 
interest rates increase significantly, even though $102.0 million of our debt was hedged, our debt service cost will increase. 
Any inability to generate sufficient cash flow could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of 
operations.

While we expect to meet all of our financial obligations, we cannot ensure that our business will generate sufficient cash flow 
from operations in an amount sufficient to enable us to pay our debt or to fund our other liquidity needs.

We require a considerable amount of cash to fund our anticipated voluntary principal prepayments on our Credit 
Facilities.

Our ability to continue to reduce the debt outstanding under our New Credit Facilities through voluntary principal 
prepayments will be a contributing factor to our ability to keep our interest rate towards the lower end of the interest rate 
range as defined in the New Credit Facilities. Our ability to make such prepayments will depend upon our ability to generate 
significant cash in the future. We cannot ensure that our business will generate sufficient cash flow from operations to fund 
any such prepayments.

The covenants in the credit agreement to our Credit Facilities impose restrictions that may limit our operating and 
financial flexibility.

We are required to comply with a leverage covenant as defined in the revolving credit agreement to the New Credit Facilities. 
The leverage covenant is defined as Consolidated Funded Indebtedness less unrestricted cash and cash equivalents in excess 
of $5.0 million, divided by consolidated earnings before interest, taxes and depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”).

At December 31, 2018, we were in compliance with the leverage covenant under the New Credit Facilities. However, there is 
no assurance that we will continue to be in compliance with the leverage covenant in future periods.

The New Credit Facilities' agreement contains a number of significant restrictions and covenants that limit our ability, among 
other things, to incur additional indebtedness, to create liens, to make certain payments, investments, to engage in 
transactions with affiliates, to sell certain assets or enter into mergers.

These covenants could materially and adversely affect our ability to finance our future operations or capital needs. 
Furthermore, they may restrict our ability to expand, pursue our business strategies and otherwise conduct our business. Our 
ability to comply with these covenants may be affected by circumstances and events beyond our control, such as prevailing 
economic conditions and changes in regulations, and we cannot ensure that we will be able to comply with such covenants. 
These restrictions also limit our ability to obtain future financings to withstand a future downturn in our business or the 
economy in general. 

A breach of any covenant in credit agreement to the New Credit Facilities could result in a default under the New Credit 
Facilities agreement. A default, if not waived, could result in acceleration of the debt outstanding under the agreement. A 
default could permit our lenders to foreclose on any of our assets securing such debt. Even if new financing were available at 
that time, it may not be on terms or amounts that are acceptable to us or terms as favorable as our current agreements. If our 
debt is in default for any reason, our business, results of operations and financial condition could be materially and adversely 
affected.

The typical trading volume of our common stock may affect an investor’s ability to sell significant stock holdings in 
the future without negatively impacting stock price.

The level of trading activity may vary daily and typically represents only a small percentage of outstanding shares. As a 
result, a stockholder who sells a significant amount of shares in a short period of time could negatively affect our share price.

Our amount of debt may require us to raise additional capital to fund acquisitions.

We may sell additional shares of common stock or other equity securities to raise capital in the future, which could dilute the 
value of an investor’s holdings.
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RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS

Our end-use markets are cyclical.

We sell our products into aerospace, defense, and industrial end-use markets, which are cyclical and have experienced 
periodic declines. Our sales are, therefore, unpredictable and may tend to fluctuate based on a number of factors, including 
global economic conditions, geopolitical developments and conditions, and other developments affecting our end-use markets 
and the customers served. Consequently, results of operations in any period should not be considered indicative of the 
operating results that may be experienced in any future period.

We depend upon a selected base of industries and customers, which subjects us to unique risks which may adversely 
affect us.

We currently generate a majority of our revenues from customers in the aerospace and defense industry. Our business 
depends, in part, on the level of new military and commercial aircraft orders. As a result, we have significant sales to certain 
customers. Sales to the Boeing Company and Spirit AeroSystems Holdings, Inc. comprise the majority of our commercial 
aerospace end-use market. A significant portion of our net sales in our military and space end-use markets are made under 
subcontracts with OEMs, under their prime contracts with the U. S. Government. We had significant sales to Lockheed 
Martin Corporation and Raytheon Company in 2018 in our defense technologies end-use market.

Our customers may experience delays in the launch of new products, labor strikes, diminished liquidity or credit 
unavailability, weak demand for their products, or other difficulties in their business. In addition, shifts in government 
spending priorities have caused and may continue to cause additional uncertainty in the placement of orders.

Our sales to our top ten customers, which represented 63% of our total 2018 net revenues, were diversified over a number of 
different aerospace and defense products. Any significant change in production rates by these customers would have a 
material effect on our results of operations and cash flows. There is no assurance that our current significant customers will 
continue to buy products from us at current levels, or that we will retain any or all of our existing customers, or that we will 
be able to form new relationships with customers upon the loss of one or more of our existing customers. This risk may be 
further complicated by pricing pressures, intense competition prevalent in our industry and other factors. A significant 
reduction in sales to any of our major customers, the loss of a major customer, or a default of a major customer on accounts 
receivable could have a material adverse impact on our financial results.

In addition, we generally make sales under purchase orders and contracts that are subject to cancellation, modification or 
rescheduling. Changes in the economic environment and the financial condition of the industries we serve could result in 
customer cancellation of contractual orders or requests for rescheduling. Some of our contracts have specific provisions 
relating to schedule and performance, and failure to deliver in accordance with such provisions could result in cancellations, 
modifications, rescheduling and/or penalties, in some cases at the customers’ convenience and without prior notice. While we 
have normally recovered our direct and indirect costs, such cancellations, modifications, or rescheduling that cannot be 
replaced in a timely fashion, could have a material adverse effect on our financial results.

A significant portion of our business depends upon U.S. Government defense spending.

We derive a significant portion of our business from customers whose principal sales are to the U.S. Government. 
Accordingly, the success of our business depends upon government spending generally or for specific departments or 
agencies in particular. Such spending, among other factors, is subject to the uncertainties of governmental appropriations and 
national defense policies and priorities, constraints of the budgetary process, timing and potential changes in these policies 
and priorities, and the adoption of new laws or regulations or changes to existing laws or regulations.

These and other factors could cause the government and government agencies, or prime contractors that use us as a 
subcontractor, to reduce their purchases under existing contracts, to exercise their rights to terminate contracts for 
convenience or to abstain from exercising options to renew contracts, any of which could have a material adverse effect on 
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Further, the levels of U.S. Department of Defense (“U.S. DoD”) spending in future periods are difficult to predict and are 
impacted by numerous factors such as the political environment, U.S. foreign policy, macroeconomic conditions and the 
ability of the U.S. Government to enact relevant legislation such as the authorization and appropriations bills. The Budget 
Control Act (“2011 Act”) established limits on U.S. government discretionary spending, including a reduction of defense 
spending between the 2012 and 2021 U.S. Government fiscal years. Accordingly, long-term uncertainty remains with respect 
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to overall levels of defense spending and it is likely that U.S. Government discretionary spending levels will continue to be 
subject to pressure.

We are subject to extensive regulation and audit by the Defense Contract Audit Agency.

The accuracy and appropriateness of certain costs and expenses used to substantiate our direct and indirect costs for the U.S. 
Government contracts are subject to extensive regulation and audit by the Defense Contract Audit Agency, an arm of the U.S. 
DoD. Such audits and reviews could result in adjustments to our contract costs and profitability. However, we cannot ensure 
the outcome of any future audits and adjustments may be required to reduce net sales or profits upon completion and final 
negotiation of audits. If any audit or review were to uncover inaccurate costs or improper activities, we could be subject to 
penalties and sanctions, including termination of contracts, forfeiture of profits, suspension of payments, fines and suspension 
or prohibition from conducting future business with the U.S. Government. Any such outcome could have a material adverse 
effect on our financial results.

We are subject to a number of procurement laws and regulations. Our business and our reputation could be adversely 
affected if we fail to comply with these laws.

We must comply with and are affected by laws and regulations relating to the award, administration and performance of U.S. 
Government contracts. Government contract laws and regulations affect how we do business with our customers and impose 
certain risks and costs on our business. A violation of specific laws and regulations, by us, our employees, or others working 
on our behalf, such as a supplier or a venture partner, could harm our reputation and result in the imposition of fines and 
penalties, the termination of our contracts, suspension or debarment from bidding on or being awarded contracts, loss of our 
ability to export products or services and civil or criminal investigations or proceedings. 

In some instances, these laws and regulations impose terms or rights that are different from those typically found in 
commercial transactions. For example, the U.S. Government may terminate any of our customers’ government contracts and 
subcontracts either at its convenience or for default based on our performance. Upon termination for convenience of a fixed-
price type contract, we normally are entitled to receive the purchase price for delivered items, reimbursement for allowable 
costs for work-in-process and an allowance for profit on the contract or adjustment for loss if completion of performance 
would have resulted in a loss.

Contracts with some of our customers, including Federal government contracts, contain provisions which give our 
customers a variety of rights that are unfavorable to us and the OEMs to whom we provide products and services, 
including the ability to terminate a contract at any time for convenience.

Contracts with some of our customers, including Federal government contracts, contain provisions and are subject to laws 
and regulations that provide rights and remedies not typically found in commercial contracts. These provisions may allow our 
customers to:

• terminate existing contracts, in whole or in part, for convenience, as well as for default, or if funds for contract 
performance for any subsequent year become unavailable;

• terminate existing contracts if we are suspended or debarred from doing business with the federal government 
or with a governmental agency;

• prohibit future procurement awards with a particular agency as a result of a finding of an organizational conflict 
of interest based upon prior related work performed for the agency that would give a contractor an unfair 
advantage over competing contractors; and

• claim rights in products and systems produced by us.

If the U.S. Government terminates a contract for convenience, the counterparty with whom we have contracted on a 
subcontract may terminate its contract with us. As a result of any such termination, whether on a direct government contract 
or subcontract, we may recover only our incurred or committed costs, settlement expenses and profit on work completed 
prior to the termination. If the U.S. Government terminates a direct contract with us for default, we may not even recover 
those amounts and instead may be liable for excess costs incurred by the U.S. Government in procuring undelivered items 
and services from another source.

In addition, the U.S. Government is typically required to open all programs to competitive bidding and, therefore, may not 
automatically renew any of its prime contracts. If one or more of our customers’ government prime or subcontracts is 
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terminated or canceled, our failure to replace sales generated from such contracts would result in lower sales and could have 
an adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Further consolidation in the aerospace industry could adversely affect our business and financial results.

The aerospace and defense industry is experiencing significant consolidation, including our customers, competitors and 
suppliers. Consolidation among our customers may result in delays in the awarding of new contracts and losses of existing 
business. Consolidation among our competitors may result in larger competitors with greater resources and market share, 
which could adversely affect our ability to compete successfully. Consolidation among our suppliers may result in fewer 
sources of supply and increased cost to us.

Our growth strategy includes evaluating selected acquisitions, which entails certain risks to our business and financial 
performance. 

We have historically achieved a portion of our growth through acquisitions and expect to evaluate selected future acquisitions 
as part of our strategy for growth. Any acquisition of another business entails risks and it is possible that we may not realize 
the expected benefits from an acquisition or that an acquisition could adversely affect our existing operations. Acquisitions 
entail certain risks, including:

• difficulty in integrating the operations and personnel of the acquired company within our existing operations or 
in maintaining uniform standards;

• loss of key employees or customers of the acquired company; 

• the failure to achieve anticipated synergies;

• unrecorded liabilities of acquired companies that we fail to discover during our due diligence investigations or 
that are not subject to indemnification or reimbursement by the seller; and 

• management and other personnel having their time and resources diverted to evaluate, negotiate and integrate 
acquisitions. 

We may not be successful in achieving expected operating efficiencies and sustaining or improving operating expense 
reductions, and may experience business disruptions associated with restructuring, facility consolidations, 
realignment, cost reduction, and other strategic initiatives.

Over the past year, we have implemented a number of restructuring, realignment, and cost reduction initiatives, including 
facility consolidations, organizational realignments, and reductions in our workforce. While we have realized some 
efficiencies from these actions, we may not realize the benefits of these initiatives to the extent we anticipated. Further, such 
benefits may be realized later than expected, and the ongoing difficulties in implementing these measures may be greater than 
anticipated, which could cause us to incur additional costs or result in business disruptions. In addition, if these measures are 
not successful or sustainable, we may have to undertake additional realignment and cost reduction efforts, which could result 
in significant additional charges. Moreover, if our restructuring and realignment efforts prove ineffective, our ability to 
achieve our other strategic and business plan goals may be adversely affected.

We rely on our suppliers to meet the quality and delivery expectations of our customers.

Our ability to deliver our products and services on schedule and to satisfy specific quality levels is dependent upon a variety 
of factors, including execution of internal performance plans, availability of raw materials, internal and supplier produced 
parts and structures, conversion of raw materials into parts and assemblies, and performance of suppliers and others.

We rely on numerous third-party suppliers for raw materials and a large proportion of the components used in our production 
process. Certain of these raw materials and components are available only from single sources or a limited number of 
suppliers, or similarly, customers’ specifications may require us to obtain raw materials and/or components from a single 
source or certain suppliers. Many of our suppliers are small companies with limited financial resources and manufacturing 
capabilities. We do not currently have the ability to manufacture these components ourselves. These and other factors, 
including import tariffs, the loss of a critical supplier or raw materials and/or component shortages, could cause disruptions or 
cost inefficiencies in our operations. Additionally, our competitors that have greater direct purchasing power, may have 
product cost advantages which could have a material adverse effect on our financial results.
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We use estimates when bidding on fixed-price contracts. Changes in our estimates could adversely affect our financial 
results.

We enter into contracts providing for a firm, fixed-price for the sale of some of our products regardless of the production 
costs incurred by us. In many cases, we make multi-year firm, fixed-price commitments to our customers, without assurance 
that our anticipated production costs will be achieved. Contract bidding and accounting require judgment relative to assessing 
risks, estimating contract net sales and costs, including estimating cost increases over time and efficiencies to be gained, and 
making assumptions for supplier sourcing and quality, manufacturing scheduling and technical issues over the life of the 
contract. Such assumptions can be particularly difficult to estimate for contracts with new customers. Inaccurate estimates of 
these costs could result in reduced profits or incurred losses. Due to the significance of the judgments and estimates involved, 
it is possible that materially different amounts could be obtained if different assumptions were used or if the underlying 
circumstances were to change. Therefore, any changes in our underlying assumptions, circumstances or estimates could have 
a material adverse effect on our financial results. 

As we move up the value chain to become a more value added supplier, enhanced design, product development, 
manufacturing, supply chain project management and other skills will be required.

We may encounter difficulties as we execute our growth strategy to move up the value chain to become a more value added 
supplier of more complex assemblies. Difficulties we may encounter include, but are not limited to, the need for enhanced 
and expanded product design skills, enhanced ability to control and influence our suppliers, enhanced quality control systems 
and infrastructure, enhanced large-scale project management skills, and expanded industry certifications. Assuming 
incremental project design responsibilities would require us to assume additional risk in developing cost estimates and could 
expose us to increased risk of losses. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in obtaining the enhanced skills 
required to move up the value chain or that our customers will outsource such functions to us.

Risks associated with operating and conducting our business outside the United States could adversely impact us.

We have manufacturing facilities in Thailand and Mexico and also derive a portion of our net revenues from direct foreign 
sales. Further, our customers may derive portions of their revenues from non-U.S. customers. As a result, we are subject to 
the risks of conducting and operating our business internationally, including:

• political instability;

• economic and geopolitical developments and conditions;

• compliance with a variety of international laws, as well as U.S. laws affecting the activities of U.S. companies 
conducting business abroad, including, but not limited to, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act;

• imposition of taxes, export controls, tariffs, embargoes and other trade restrictions;

• difficulties repatriating funds or restrictions on cash transfers; and

• potential for new tariffs imposed on imports by the U.S. administration.

While the impact of these factors is difficult to predict, we believe any one or more of these factors could have a material 
adverse effect on our financial results.

Goodwill and/or other assets could be impaired in the future, which could result in substantial charges.

Goodwill is tested for impairment on an annual basis during our fourth quarter or more frequently if events or circumstances 
occur which could indicate potential impairment. In assessing the recoverability of goodwill, management is required to 
make certain critical estimates and assumptions. These estimates and assumptions include projected sales levels, including 
the addition of new customers, programs or platforms and increased content on existing programs or platforms, 
improvements in manufacturing efficiency, and reductions in operating costs. Due to many variables inherent in the 
estimation of a business’s fair value and the relative size of our recorded goodwill, differences in estimates and assumptions 
may have a material effect on the results of our impairment analysis. If any of these or other estimates and assumptions are 
not realized in the future, or if market multiples decline, we may be required to record an impairment charge for goodwill. 

We also test intangible assets with indefinite life periods for potential impairment annually and on an interim basis if there are 
indicators of potential impairment. 
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In addition, we evaluate amortizable intangible assets, fixed assets, and production cost of contracts for impairment if there 
are indicators of a potential impairment. 

Further, impairment charges may be incurred against other intangible assets or long-term assets if asset utilization declines, 
customer demand declines or other circumstances indicate that the asset carrying value may not be recoverable. 

Our production cost of contracts as of December 31, 2018 was $11.7 million or 2% of total assets. Our goodwill and other 
intangible assets as of December 31, 2018 were $248.1 million, or 38% of total assets. See “Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived 
Intangible Assets” and “Production Cost of Contracts” in Note 7 of our consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, 
Item 15(a) of this Form 10-K for further information.

OTHER RISKS

Our operations are subject to numerous extensive, complex, costly and evolving laws, regulations and restrictions, and 
failure to comply with these laws, regulations and restrictions could subject us to penalties and sanctions that could 
harm our business.

Prime contracts with our major customers that have contracts with various agencies of the U.S. Government are subject to 
numerous laws and regulations which affect how we do business with our customers and may impose added costs to our 
business. As a result, our contracts and operations are subject to numerous, extensive, complex, costly and evolving laws, 
regulations and restrictions, principally by the U.S. Government or their agencies. These laws, regulations and restrictions 
govern items including, but not limited to, the formation, administration and performance of U.S. Government contracts, 
disclosure of cost and pricing data, civil penalties for violations of false claims to the U.S. Government for payment, defining 
reimbursable costs, establishing ethical standards for the procurement process and controlling the import and export of 
defense articles and services.

Noncompliance could expose us to liability for penalties, including termination of our contracts and subcontracts, 
disqualification from bidding on future U.S. Government contracts and subcontracts, suspension or debarment from U.S. 
Government contracting and various other fines and penalties. Noncompliance found by any one agency could result in fines, 
penalties, debarment or suspension from receiving additional contracts with all U.S. Government agencies. Given our 
dependence on U.S. Government business, suspension or debarment could have a material adverse effect on our financial 
results.

In addition, the U.S. Government may revise its procurement practices or adopt new contract rules and regulations, at any 
time, including increased usage of fixed-price contracts and procurement reform. Such changes could impair our ability to 
obtain new contracts or subcontracts or renew contracts or subcontracts under which we currently perform when those 
contracts are put up for competitive bidding. Any new contracting methods could be costly or administratively difficult for us 
to implement and could adversely affect our future net revenues.

In addition, our international operations subject us to numerous U.S. and foreign laws and regulations, including, without 
limitation, regulations relating to import-export control, technology transfer restrictions, repatriation of earnings, exchange 
controls, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and the anti-boycott provisions of the U.S. Export Administration Act. Changes in 
regulations or political environments may affect our ability to conduct business in foreign markets including investment, 
procurement and repatriation of earnings. Failure by us or our sales representatives or consultants to comply with these laws 
and regulations could result in certain liabilities and could possibly result in suspension or debarment from government 
contracts or suspension of our export privileges, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial results.

Customer pricing pressures could reduce the demand and/or price for our products and services.

The markets we serve are highly competitive and price sensitive. We compete worldwide with a number of domestic and 
international companies that have substantially greater manufacturing, purchasing, marketing and financial resources than we 
do. Many of our customers have the in-house capability to fulfill their manufacturing requirements. Our larger competitors 
may be able to compete more effectively for very large-scale contracts than we can by providing different or greater 
capabilities or benefits such as technical qualifications, past performance on large-scale contracts, geographic presence, price 
and availability of key professional personnel. If we are unable to successfully compete for new business, our net revenues 
growth and operating margins may decline.

Several of our major customers have completed extensive cost containment efforts and we expect continued pricing pressures 
in 2019 and beyond. Competitive pricing pressures may have an adverse effect on our financial condition and operating 
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results. Further, there can be no assurance that competition from existing or potential competitors in other segments of our 
business will not have a material adverse effect on our financial results. If we do not continue to compete effectively and win 
contracts, our future business, financial condition, results of operations and our ability to meet our financial obligations may 
be materially compromised.

Our products and processes are subject to risk of obsolescence as a result of changes in technology and evolving 
industry and regulatory standards.

The future success of our business depends in large part upon our and our customers’ ability to maintain and enhance 
technological capabilities, develop and market manufacturing services that meet changing customer needs and successfully 
anticipate or respond to technological advances in manufacturing processes on a cost-effective and timely basis, while 
meeting evolving industry and regulatory standards. To address these risks, we invest in product design and development, and 
incur related capital expenditures. There can be no guarantee that our product design and development efforts will be 
successful, or that funds required to be invested in product design and development or incurred as capital expenditures will 
not increase materially in the future.

Environmental liabilities could adversely affect our financial results.

We are subject to various federal, local, and foreign environmental laws and regulations, including those relating to the use, 
storage, transport, discharge and disposal of hazardous and non-hazardous chemicals and materials used and emissions 
generated during our manufacturing process. We do not carry insurance for these potential environmental liabilities. Any 
failure by us to comply with present or future regulations could subject us to future liabilities or the suspension of production, 
which could have a material adverse effect on our financial results. Moreover, some environmental laws relating to 
contaminated sites can impose joint and several liability retroactively regardless of fault or the legality of the activities giving 
rise to the contamination. Compliance with existing or future environmental laws and regulations may require extensive 
capital expenditures, increase our cost or impact our production capabilities. Even if such expenditures are made, there can be 
no assurance that we will be able to comply. We have been directed to investigate and take corrective action for groundwater 
contamination at certain site and our ultimate liability for such matters will depend upon a number of factors. See Note 16 to 
our consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, Item 15(a) of this Form 10-K for further information.

Cyber security attacks, internal system or service failures may adversely impact our business and operations.

Any system or service disruptions, including those caused by projects to improve our information technology systems, if not 
anticipated and appropriately mitigated, could disrupt our business and impair our ability to effectively provide products and 
related services to our customers and could have a material adverse effect on our business. We could also be subject to 
systems failures, including network, software or hardware failures, whether caused by us, third-party service providers, 
intruders or hackers, computer viruses, natural disasters, power shortages or terrorist attacks. Cyber security threats are 
evolving and include, but are not limited to, malicious software, unauthorized attempts to gain access to sensitive, 
confidential or otherwise protected information related to us or our products, our employees, customers or suppliers, or other 
acts that could lead to disruptions in our business. Any such failures could cause loss of data and interruptions or delays in 
our business, cause us to incur remediation costs, subject us to claims and damage our reputation. In addition, the failure or 
disruption of our communications or utilities could cause us to interrupt or suspend our operations or otherwise adversely 
affect our business. Our property and business interruption insurance may be inadequate to compensate us for all losses that 
may occur as a result of any system or operational failure or disruption which would adversely affect our business, results of 
operations and financial condition.

We may not have the ability to renew facilities leases on terms favorable to us and relocation of operations presents 
risks due to business interruption.

Certain of our manufacturing facilities and offices are leased and have lease terms that expire between 2019 and 2025. The 
majority of these leases provide renewal options at the fair market rental rate at the time of renewal, which, if renewed, could 
be significantly higher than our current rental rates. We may be unable to offset these cost increases by charging more for our 
products and services. Furthermore, continued economic conditions may continue to negatively impact and create greater 
pressure in the commercial real estate market, causing higher incidences of landlord default and/or lender foreclosure of 
properties, including properties occupied by us. While we maintain certain non-disturbance rights in most cases, it is not 
certain that such rights will in all cases be upheld and our continued right of occupancy in such instances could be potentially 
jeopardized. An occurrence of any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our financial results.
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Additionally, if we choose to move any of our operations, those operations may be subject to additional relocation costs and 
associated risks of business interruption.

The occurrence of litigation in which we could be named as a defendant is unpredictable.

From time to time, we and our subsidiaries are involved in various legal and other proceedings that are incidental to the 
conduct of our business. While we believe no current proceedings, if adversely determined, could have a material adverse 
effect on our financial results, no assurances can be given. Any such claims may divert financial and management resources 
that would otherwise be used to benefit our operations and could have a material adverse effect on our financial results.

Product liability claims in excess of insurance could adversely affect our financial results and financial condition.

We face potential liability for property damage, personal injury, or death as a result of the failure of products designed or 
manufactured by us. Although we currently maintain product liability insurance (including aircraft product liability 
insurance), any material product liability not covered by insurance could have a material adverse effect on our financial 
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

Damage or destruction of our facilities caused by storms, earthquake, fires or other causes could adversely affect our 
financial results and financial condition.

We have operations located in regions of the U.S. that may be exposed to damaging storms, earthquakes, fires and other 
natural disasters. Although we maintain standard property casualty insurance covering our properties and may be able to 
recover costs associated with certain natural disasters through insurance, we do not carry any earthquake insurance because 
of the cost of such insurance. Many of our properties are located in Southern California, an area subject to earthquake 
activity. Our California facilities generated $211.0 million in net revenues during 2018. Even if covered by insurance, any 
significant damage or destruction of our facilities due to storms, earthquakes or other natural disasters could result in our 
inability to meet customer delivery schedules and may result in the loss of customers and significant additional costs to us. 
Thus, any significant damage or destruction of our properties could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial 
condition or results of operations.

We are dependent upon our ability to attract and retain key personnel.

Our success depends in part upon our ability to attract and retain key engineering, technical and managerial personnel, at both 
the executive and plant level. We face competition for management, engineering and technical personnel from other 
companies and organizations. The loss of members of our senior management group, or key engineering and technical 
personnel, could negatively impact our ability to grow and remain competitive in the future and could have a material adverse 
effect on our financial results.

Labor disruptions by our employees could adversely affect our business.

As of December 31, 2018, we employed 2,600 people. Two of our operating facilities are parties to collective bargaining 
agreements, covering 140 full time hourly employees in one of those facilities and 210 full time hourly employees in the 
other facility, and will expire in June 2021 and April 2022, respectively. Although we have not experienced any material 
labor-related work stoppage and consider our relations with our employees to be good, labor stoppages may occur in the 
future. If the unionized workers were to engage in a strike or other work stoppage, if we are unable to negotiate acceptable 
collective bargaining agreements with the unions or if other employees were to become unionized, we could experience a 
significant disruption of our operations, higher ongoing labor costs and possible loss of customer contracts, which could have 
an adverse effect on our business and results of operations.

Unanticipated changes in our tax provision or exposure to additional income tax liabilities could affect our 
profitability.

Significant judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes. In the ordinary course of our business, there 
are transactions and calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Furthermore, changes in income tax laws 
and regulations, or their interpretation, could result in higher or lower income tax rates assessed or changes in the taxability 
of certain sales or the deductibility of certain expenses, thereby affecting our income tax expense and profitability. For 
example, we recorded provisional estimates of the impact of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “2017 Tax Act”) enacted on 
December 22, 2017 in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 (“SAB 118”) in our 2017 consolidated 
financial statements. During 2018, these estimates were subject to further analysis and review which could have required 
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adjustments, but no adjustments were required to be made in 2018. In addition, we are regularly under audit by tax 
authorities. The final determination of tax audits and any related litigation could be materially different from our historical 
income tax provisions and accruals.

 
ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES 

We occupy 27 owned or leased facilities, totaling 2.0 million square feet of manufacturing area and office space. At 
December 31, 2018, facilities which were in excess of 50,000 square feet each were occupied as follows:
 

Location Segment
Square

Feet
Expiration
of Lease

Carson, California Structural Systems 299,000 Owned
Monrovia, California Structural Systems 274,000 Owned
Parsons, Kansas Structural Systems 176,000 Owned
Coxsackie, New York Structural Systems 151,000 Owned
Carson, California Electronic Systems 117,000 2021
Phoenix, Arizona Electronic Systems 100,000 2022
Joplin, Missouri Electronic Systems 92,000 Owned
Adelanto, California Structural Systems 88,000 Owned
Orange, California Structural Systems 80,000 Owned
Appleton, Wisconsin Electronic Systems 77,000 Owned
Carson, California Structural Systems 77,000 2019
Huntsville, Arkansas Electronic Systems 69,000 2020
Joplin, Missouri Electronic Systems 55,000 2021
Tulsa, Oklahoma Electronic Systems 55,000 Owned
Orange, California Structural Systems 53,000 2019
Berryville, Arkansas Electronic Systems 50,000 Owned

Management believes these properties are adequate to meet our current requirements, are in good condition and are suitable 
for their present use.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

See Note 16 to our consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, Item 15(a) of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for 
a description of our legal proceedings.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 
AND   ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol DCO. As of December 31, 2018, we had 189 
holders of record of our common stock. We have not paid any dividends since the first quarter of 2011 and we do not expect 
to pay dividends for the foreseeable future. The following table sets forth the high and low closing prices per share of our 
common stock as reported on the New York Stock Exchange for the fiscal periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,
2018 2017

High Low High Low

First Quarter $ 30.84 $ 26.30 $ 32.18 $ 24.35
Second Quarter $ 35.43 $ 28.17 $ 34.46 $ 28.12
Third Quarter $ 40.84 $ 31.63 $ 32.55 $ 26.24
Fourth Quarter $ 44.23 $ 33.83 $ 35.02 $ 25.81

See “Part III, Item 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT 
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS” for information relating to shares to be issued under equity 
compensation plans.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

None.
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares the yearly percentage change in our cumulative total shareholder return with the cumulative 
total return of the Russell 2000 Index and the median of our 2019 Proxy Statement peers (“Median of Proxy Peers”) over a 
five year period, assuming the reinvestment of any dividends. A modified version of this graph over a three year period will 
be used in our 2019 Proxy Statement, assuming the reinvestment of any dividends. The graph is not necessarily indicative of 
future price performance:
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with Part II, Item 7 and Part IV, Item 15(a) 
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”):

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Years Ended December 31,

2018(a)(b) 2017(b)(c)(d) 2016(e) 2015(f)(g) 2014

Net Revenues $ 629,307 $ 558,183 $ 550,642 $ 666,011 $ 742,045
Gross Profit as a Percentage of Net Revenues 19.5% 18.5% 19.3% 15.1% 18.9%
Income (Loss) Before Taxes 10,271 7,609 38,113 (106,590) 26,240
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) 1,236 (12,468) 12,852 (31,711) 6,373

Net Income (Loss) $ 9,035 $ 20,077 $ 25,261 $ (74,879) $ 19,867
Per Common Share

Basic earnings (loss) per share $ 0.79 $ 1.78 $ 2.27 $ (6.78) $ 1.82
Diluted earnings (loss) per share $ 0.77 $ 1.74 $ 2.24 $ (6.78) $ 1.79

Working Capital $ 160,855 $ 140,778 $ 139,635 $ 179,655 $ 217,670
Total Assets (h) $ 648,143 $ 566,753 $ 515,429 $ 557,081 $ 747,599
Long-Term Debt, Including Current Portion (h) $ 226,961 $ 216,055 $ 166,899 $ 240,687 $ 290,052
Total Shareholders’ Equity $ 256,825 $ 235,583 $ 212,103 $ 185,734 $ 256,570

(a) The results for 2018 included CTP’s results of operations since the date of acquisition of April 23, 2018.
(b) The results for 2018 and 2017 included restructuring charges of $14.8 million and $8.8 million, respectively. See Note 4 

to our consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, Item 15(a) of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further 
information.

(c) The results for 2017 included LDS’ results of operations since the date of acquisition in September 2017.
(d) The results for 2017 included the adoption of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and as a result, we recorded a provisional 

deferred income tax benefit of $13.0 million related to the re-measurement for the year ended December 31, 2017. See 
Note 15 to our consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, Item 15(a) of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for 
further information.

(e) The results for 2016 included a gain on divestitures, net in our Electronic Systems operating segment of $17.6 million 
related to the divestitures of our Pittsburgh and Miltec operations.

(f) The results for 2015 included a goodwill impairment charge in our Structural Systems operating segment and an 
indefinite-lived trade name intangible asset impairment charge in our Electronic Systems operating segment of $57.2 
million and $32.9 million, respectively, resulting from our annual impairment testing.

(g) The results for 2015 included a loss on extinguishment of debt of $14.7 million related to the retirement of the $200.0 
million senior unsecured notes and existing credit facility.

(h) Total assets and long-term debt for 2014 have not been recasted for the impact of the adoption of Accounting Standards 
Update 2015-03, as amended by Accounting Standards Update 2015-15, which required the reclassification of certain 
debt issuance costs from an asset to a liability. See Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, 
Item 15(a) of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information.
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Item 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF 
OPERATIONS

Overview

Ducommun Incorporated (“Ducommun,” “the Company,” “we,” “us” or “our”) is a leading global provider of engineering 
and manufacturing services for high-performance products and high-cost-of failure applications used primarily in the 
aerospace, defense, industrial, natural resources, medical and other industries. We differentiate ourselves as a full-service 
solution-based provider, offering a wide range of value-added products and services in our primary businesses of electronics, 
structures and integrated solutions. We operate through two primary business segments:  Electronic Systems and Structural 
Systems, each of which is a reportable segment.

Highlights for the year ended December 31, 2018:

• Net revenues of $629.3 million

• Net income of $9.0 million, or $0.77 per diluted share

• Adjusted EBITDA of $70.7 million

• Completed the acquisition of Certified Thermoplastics Co., LLC

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

Adjusted earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, amortization, stock-based compensation expense, restructuring 
charges, inventory purchase accounting adjustments, gain on divestitures, net, and loss on extinguishment of debt (“Adjusted 
EBITDA”) was $70.7 million and $54.1 million for years ended December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, respectively.

When viewed with our financial results prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United 
States of America (“GAAP”) and accompanying reconciliations, we believe Adjusted EBITDA provides additional useful 
information to clarify and enhance the understanding of the factors and trends affecting our past performance and future 
prospects. We define these measures, explain how they are calculated, and provide reconciliations of these measures to the 
most comparable GAAP measure in the table below. Adjusted EBITDA and the related financial ratios, as presented in this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K (“Form 10-K”), are supplemental measures of our performance that are not required by, or 
presented in accordance with, GAAP. They are not a measurement of our financial performance under GAAP and should not 
be considered as alternatives to net income or any other performance measures derived in accordance with GAAP, or as an 
alternative to net cash provided by operating activities as measures of our liquidity. The presentation of these measures 
should not be interpreted to mean that our future results will be unaffected by unusual or nonrecurring items.

We use Adjusted EBITDA non-GAAP operating performance measures internally as complementary financial measures to 
evaluate the performance and trends of our businesses. We present Adjusted EBITDA and the related financial ratios, as 
applicable, because we believe that measures such as these provide useful information with respect to our ability to meet our 
operating commitments.

Adjusted EBITDA has limitations as an analytical tool, and you should not consider it in isolation or as substitutes for 
analysis of our results as reported under GAAP. Some of these limitations are:

• They do not reflect our cash expenditures, future requirements for capital expenditures or contractual 
commitments;

• They do not reflect changes in, or cash requirements for, our working capital needs;

• They do not reflect the significant interest expense or the cash requirements necessary to service interest or 
principal payments on our debt;

• Although depreciation and amortization are non-cash charges, the assets being depreciated and amortized will 
often have to be replaced in the future, and Adjusted EBITDA does not reflect any cash requirements for such 
replacements;

• They are not adjusted for all non-cash income or expense items that are reflected in our statements of cash 
flows;
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• They do not reflect the impact on earnings of charges resulting from matters unrelated to our ongoing 
operations; and

• Other companies in our industry may calculate Adjusted EBITDA differently from us, limiting their usefulness 
as comparative measures.

Because of these limitations, Adjusted EBITDA and the related financial ratios should not be considered as measures of 
discretionary cash available to us to invest in the growth of our business or as a measure of cash that will be available to us to 
meet our obligations. You should compensate for these limitations by relying primarily on our GAAP results and using 
Adjusted EBITDA only as supplemental information. See our consolidated financial statements contained in this Form 10-K.

However, in spite of the above limitations, we believe that Adjusted EBITDA is useful to an investor in evaluating our results 
of operations because these measures:

• Are widely used by investors to measure a company’s operating performance without regard to items excluded 
from the calculation of such terms, which can vary substantially from company to company depending upon 
accounting methods and book value of assets, capital structure and the method by which assets were acquired, 
among other factors;

• Help investors to evaluate and compare the results of our operations from period to period by removing the 
effect of our capital structure from our operating performance; and

• Are used by our management team for various other purposes in presentations to our Board of Directors as a 
basis for strategic planning and forecasting.

The following financial items have been added back to or subtracted from our net income when calculating Adjusted 
EBITDA:

• Interest expense may be useful to investors for determining current cash flow;

• Income tax expense may be useful to investors because it represents the taxes which may be payable for the 
period and the change in deferred taxes during the period, and may reduce cash flow available for use in our 
business;

• Depreciation may be useful to investors because it generally represents the wear and tear on our property and 
equipment used in our operations;

• Amortization expense may be useful to investors because it represents the estimated attrition of our acquired 
customer base and the diminishing value of product rights;

• Stock-based compensation may be useful to our investors for determining current cash flow;

• Restructuring charges may be useful to our investors in evaluating our core operating performance;

• Purchase accounting inventory step-ups may be useful to our investors as they do not necessarily reflect the 
current or on-going cash charges related to our core operating performance;

• Net gain on divestitures may be useful to our investors in evaluating our on-going operating performance; and

• Loss on extinguishment of debt may be useful to our investors for determining current cash flow.
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Reconciliations of net income to Adjusted EBITDA and the presentation of Adjusted EBITDA as a percentage of net 
revenues were as follows:

(In thousands)
Years Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016

Net income $ 9,035 $ 20,077 $ 25,261
Interest expense 13,024 8,870 8,922
Income tax expense (benefit) 1,236 (12,468) 12,852
Depreciation 13,501 13,162 13,326
Amortization 11,795 9,683 9,534
Stock-based compensation expense 5,040 4,675 3,007
Restructuring charges (1) 14,792 8,838 182
Inventory purchase accounting adjustments (2) 622 1,235 —
Gain on divestitures, net (3) — — (17,604)
Loss on extinguishment of debt 926 — —
Other debt refinancing costs 697 — —
Adjusted EBITDA $ 70,668 $ 54,072 $ 55,480

% of net revenues 11.2% 9.7% 10.1%

(1) 2018 and 2017 included $0.1 million and $0.5 million, respectively, of restructuring charges that were recorded as 
cost of goods sold.

(2) 2018 and 2017 included inventory purchase accounting adjustments of inventory that was stepped up as part of our 
purchase price allocation from our acquisitions of Certified Thermoplastics Co., LLC (“CTP”) and Lightning 
Diversion Systems, LLC (“LDS”) on April 23, 2018 and September 2017, respectively, and is part of our Structural 
Systems and Electronic Systems operating segment, respectively.

(3) 2016 included gain on divestitures, net in our Electronic Systems operating segment related to the divestitures of our 
Pittsburgh and Miltec operations.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

2018 Compared to 2017

The following table sets forth net revenues, selected financial data, the effective tax (benefit) rate and diluted earnings per 
share:

(in thousands, except per share data)
Years Ended December 31,

2018
%

of Net Revenues 2017
%

of Net Revenues

Net Revenues $ 629,307 100.0 % $ 558,183 100.0 %
Cost of Sales 506,711 80.5 % 455,050 81.5 %
Gross Profit 122,596 19.5 % 103,133 18.5 %
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 84,007 13.3 % 79,139 14.2 %
Restructuring Charges 14,671 2.3 % 8,360 1.5 %
Operating Income 23,918 3.9 % 15,634 2.8 %
Interest Expense (13,024) (2.1)% (8,870) (1.6)%
Loss on Extinguishment of Debt (926) (0.1)% — — %
Other Income, Net 303 — % 845 0.2 %
Income Before Taxes 10,271 1.7 % 7,609 1.4 %
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) 1,236 nm (12,468) nm
Net Income $ 9,035 1.4 % $ 20,077 3.6 %

Effective Tax (Benefit) Rate 12.0% nm (163.8)% nm
Diluted Earnings Per Share $ 0.77 nm $ 1.74 nm

nm = not meaningful

Net Revenues by End-Use Market and Operating Segment

Net revenues by end-use market and operating segment during 2018 and 2017, respectively, were as follows:

(In thousands)
Years Ended December 31, % of Net Revenues

Change 2018 2017 2018 2017

Consolidated Ducommun
Military and space $ 8,901 $ 276,659 $ 267,758 44.0% 48.0%
Commercial aerospace 68,101 304,455 236,354 48.4% 42.3%
Industrial (5,878) 48,193 54,071 7.6% 9.7%

Total $ 71,124 $ 629,307 $ 558,183 100.0% 100.0%

Electronic Systems
Military and space $ 3,684 $ 214,786 $ 211,102 63.6% 66.6%
Commercial aerospace 23,339 74,889 51,550 22.2% 16.3%
Industrial (5,878) 48,193 54,071 14.2% 17.1%

Total $ 21,145 $ 337,868 $ 316,723 100.0% 100.0%

Structural Systems
Military and space $ 5,217 $ 61,873 $ 56,656 21.2% 23.5%
Commercial aerospace 44,762 229,566 184,804 78.8% 76.5%

Total $ 49,979 $ 291,439 $ 241,460 100.0% 100.0%
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Net revenues for 2018 were $629.3 million compared to $558.2 million for 2017. The year-over-year increase was due to the 
following:

• $68.1 million higher revenues in our commercial aerospace end-use markets due to additional content and 
higher build rates on large aircraft platforms; and

• $8.9 million higher revenues in our military and space end-use markets due to increased shipments on various 
missile platforms; partially offset by

• $5.9 million lower revenues in our industrial end-use markets.

Net Revenues by Major Customers

A significant portion of our net revenues are from our top ten customers as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2018 2017

Boeing Company 17.0% 16.3%
Lockheed Martin Corporation 4.4% 5.5%
Raytheon Company 11.7% 13.5%
Spirit AeroSystems Holdings, Inc. 9.5% 8.2%
Top ten customers (1) 62.9% 62.5%

(1) Includes The Boeing Company (“Boeing”), Lockheed Martin Corporation (“Lockheed Martin”), Raytheon Company 
(“Raytheon”), and Spirit AeroSystems Holdings, Inc. (“Spirit”).

The revenues from Boeing, Lockheed Martin, Raytheon, and Spirit are diversified over a number of commercial, military and 
space programs and were made by both operating segments.

Gross Profit

Gross profit consists of net revenues less cost of sales. Cost of sales includes the cost of production of finished products and 
other expenses related to inventory management, manufacturing quality, and order fulfillment. Gross profit margin increased 
to 19.5% in 2018 compared to 18.5% in 2017 due to favorable product mix and favorable manufacturing volume, partially 
offset by higher other manufacturing costs.

Selling, General and Administrative (“SG&A”) Expenses

SG&A expenses increased $4.9 million in 2018 compared to 2017 due to higher professional services fees of $2.1 million, 
which includes refinancing of our existing credit facilities related costs of $0.7 million and acquisition related costs of $0.6 
million, higher amortization of intangibles of $1.4 million, and higher compensation and benefit costs of $0.9 million.

Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges increased $6.0 million (of which $0.1 million and $0.5 million, respectively, was included in cost of 
sales) in 2018 compared to 2017 due to the restructuring plan that began in 2017 that is expected to increase operating 
efficiencies. See Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, Item 15(a) of this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for further information on restructuring activities.

Interest Expense

Interest expense increased in 2018 compared to 2017 due to a higher outstanding balance on the Revolving Credit Facility, 
reflecting the acquisitions of Certified Thermoplastics Co., LLC (“CTP”) in April 2018 and Lightning Diversion Systems, 
LLC (“LDS”) during September 2017, and higher interest rates. See Note 9 to our consolidated financial statements included 
in Part IV, Item 15(a) of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information on our long-term debt.

Loss on Extinguishment of Debt

Loss on extinguishment of debt for 2018 was related to the refinancing of our existing Credit Facilities in November 2018 
which resulted in writing off the majority of the unamortized debt issuance costs associated with the existing Credit Facilities 
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of $0.9 million. The New Credit Facilities were utilized to pay off the existing Credit Facilities. See Note 9 to our 
consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, Item 15(a) of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information 
on our long-term debt.

Income Tax Expense (Benefit)

We recorded an income tax expense of $1.2 million (an effective tax rate of 12.0%) in 2018, compared to income tax benefit 
of $12.5 million (an effective tax benefit rate of 163.8%) in 2017. The increase in the effective tax rate for 2018 compared to 
2017 was primarily due to $13.0 million of deferred income tax benefit recorded in connection with the Tax Cuts and Jobs 
Act (the “2017 Tax Act”) in 2017. The reduction in the U.S. corporate tax rate from 35.0% to 21.0% required the federal 
portion of our deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2017 to be re-measured at the enacted tax rate expected to 
apply when the temporary differences are to be realized or settled using 21.0%. Also in connection with the 2017 Act, income 
tax expense increased due to the repeal of the qualified domestic production deduction and higher nondeductible expenses 
related to officers compensation. Additional items which increased income tax expense were lower excess tax benefits from 
share-based payments and lower state tax credits.

Our unrecognized tax benefits were $5.3 million in both 2018 and 2017. We record interest and penalty charge, if any, related 
to uncertain tax positions as a component of tax expense and unrecognized tax benefits. The amounts accrued for interest and 
penalty charges as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 were not significant. If recognized, $3.6 million would affect the effective 
tax rate. We do not reasonably expect significant increases or decreases to our unrecognized tax benefits in the next twelve 
months.

We file U.S. Federal and state income tax returns. During the fourth quarter of 2017, the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) 
completed the audit of tax years 2013, 2014, and 2015. Consequently, Federal income tax returns after 2015 are subject to 
examination. California franchise (income) tax returns after 2013 and other state income tax returns after 2013 are subject to 
examination. While we are no longer subject to examination prior to those periods, carryforwards generated prior to those 
periods may still be adjusted upon examination by the IRS or state taxing authority if they either have been or will be used in 
a subsequent period. We believe we have adequately accrued for tax deficiencies or reductions in tax benefits, if any, that 
could result from the examination and all open audit years.

Net Income and Earnings per Diluted Share

Net income and earnings per diluted share for 2018 were $9.0 million, or $0.77, compared to net income and earnings per 
diluted share for 2017 of $20.1 million, or $1.74. The decrease in net income in 2018 compared to 2017 was due to higher 
income tax expense of $13.7 million, higher restructuring charges of $6.0 million, higher interest expense of $4.2 million, 
higher selling, general and administrative expenses of $4.9 million, and loss on extinguishment of debt of $0.9 million. The 
decreases were partially offset by an increase of $19.5 million in gross profit that was due to higher revenues and improved 
operating performance.
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Business Segment Performance

We report our financial performance based upon the two reportable operating segments: Electronic Systems and Structural 
Systems. The results of operations differ between our reportable operating segments due to differences in competitors, 
customers, extent of proprietary deliverables and performance. The following table summarizes our business segment 
performance for 2018 and 2017:  

%
(In thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

%
of Net  

Revenues

%
of Net  

Revenues
Change 2018 2017 2018 2017

Net Revenues
Electronic Systems 6.7% $ 337,868 $ 316,723 53.7 % 56.7 %
Structural Systems 20.7% 291,439 241,460 46.3 % 43.3 %

Total Net Revenues 12.7% $ 629,307 $ 558,183 100.0 % 100.0 %
Segment Operating Income

Electronic Systems $ 30,916 $ 31,236 9.2 % 9.9 %
Structural Systems 19,063 5,790 6.5 % 2.4 %

49,979 37,026
Corporate General and Administrative Expenses (1) (26,061) (21,392) (4.1)% (3.8)%

Total Operating Income $ 23,918 $ 15,634 3.8 % 2.8 %
Adjusted EBITDA

Electronic Systems
Operating Income $ 30,916 $ 31,236
Other Income 119 645
Depreciation and Amortization 14,223 13,888
Restructuring Charges 4,776 1,190
Inventory purchase accounting adjustments — 1,235

50,034 48,194 14.8 % 15.2 %
Structural Systems

Operating Income 19,063 5,790
Other Income 184 200
Depreciation and Amortization 10,525 8,860
Restructuring Charges 7,897 5,866
Inventory purchase accounting adjustments 622 —

38,291 20,716 13.1 % 8.6 %
Corporate General and Administrative Expenses (1)

Operating Loss (26,061) (21,392)
Depreciation and Amortization 548 97
Stock-Based Compensation Expense 5,040 4,675
Restructuring Charges 2,119 1,782
Other Debt Refinancing Costs 697 —

(17,657) (14,838)
Adjusted EBITDA $ 70,668 $ 54,072 11.2 % 9.7 %

Capital Expenditures
Electronic Systems $ 6,719 $ 5,019
Structural Systems 9,104 20,679
Corporate Administration 514 775

Total Capital Expenditures $ 16,337 $ 26,473
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(1) Includes costs not allocated to either the Structural Systems or Electronic Systems operating segments.

Electronic Systems

Electronic Systems’ net revenues in 2018 compared to 2017 increased $21.1 million due to the following:

• $23.3 million higher revenues in our commercial aerospace end-use markets due to additional content and 
higher build rates on large aircraft platforms; and

• $3.7 million higher revenues in our military and space end-use markets due to increased shipments on various 
missile platforms; partially offset by

• $5.9 million lower revenues in our Industrial end-use markets.

Electronic Systems segment operating income in 2018 compared to 2017 decreased $0.3 million due to unfavorable product 
mix and restructuring charges, partially offset by favorable manufacturing volume.

Structural Systems

Structural Systems’ net revenues in 2018 compared to 2017 increased $50.0 million due to the following:

• $44.8 million higher revenues in commercial aerospace end-use markets due to higher build rates on large 
aircraft platforms; and

• $5.2 million higher revenues in military and space end-use markets due to increased shipments on military 
rotary-wing aircraft platforms.

The Structural Systems operating income in 2018 compared to 2017 increased $13.3 million due to favorable product mix, 
favorable manufacturing volume, and improved operating performance, partially offset by higher restructuring charges and 
lack of forward loss reserve release in the current year.

Corporate General and Administrative (“CG&A”) Expenses

CG&A expenses in 2018 compared to 2017 increased $4.7 million due to higher compensation and benefit costs of $1.9 
million and higher professional services fees of $1.8 million, which includes refinancing of our existing credit facilities 
related costs of $0.7 million and acquisition related costs of $0.6 million.

Backlog

We define backlog as customer placed purchase orders (“POs”) and long-term agreements (“LTAs”) with firm fixed price and 
firm delivery dates of 24 months or less. The majority of the LTAs do not meet the definition of a contract under ASC 606 
and thus, the backlog amount disclosed below is greater than the remaining performance obligations amount disclosed in 
Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, Item 15(a) of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Backlog 
is subject to delivery delays or program cancellations, which are beyond our control. Backlog is affected by timing 
differences in the placement of customer orders and tends to be concentrated in several programs to a greater extent than our 
net revenues. Backlog in industrial markets tends to be of a shorter duration and is generally fulfilled within a three month 
period. As a result of these factors, trends in our overall level of backlog may not be indicative of trends in our future net 
revenues.
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The increase in backlog was primarily in the commercial aerospace end-use markets and defense technologies end-use 
markets. The following table summarizes our backlog for 2018 and 2017:

(In thousands)
December 31,

Change 2018 2017

Consolidated Ducommun
Military and space $ 63,784 $ 339,443 $ 275,659
Commercial aerospace 69,159 487,232 418,073
Industrial 5,028 37,774 32,746

Total $ 137,971 $ 864,449 $ 726,478

Electronic Systems
Military and space $ 26,621 $ 241,196 $ 214,575
Commercial aerospace (8,618) 48,032 56,650
Industrial 5,028 37,774 32,746

Total $ 23,031 $ 327,002 $ 303,971

Structural Systems
Military and space $ 37,163 $ 98,247 $ 61,084
Commercial aerospace 77,777 439,200 361,423

Total $ 114,940 $ 537,447 $ 422,507
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2017 Compared to 2016

The following table sets forth net revenues, selected financial data, the effective (benefit) tax rate and diluted earnings per 
share:

(in thousands, except per share data)
Years Ended December 31,

2017

%
of Net Revenues     

2017 2016

%
of Net Revenues                   

2016

Net Revenues $ 558,183 100.0 % $ 550,642 100.0 %
Cost of Sales 455,050 81.5 % 444,102 80.7 %
Gross Profit 103,133 18.5 % 106,540 19.3 %
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 79,139 14.2 % 77,142 14.0 %
Restructuring Charges 8,360 1.5 % 182 — %
Operating Income 15,634 2.8 % 29,216 5.3 %
Interest Expense (8,870) (1.6)% (8,922) (1.6)%
Gain on Divestitures, Net — — % 17,604 3.2 %
Other Income, Net 845 0.2 % 215 — %
Income Before Taxes 7,609 1.4 % 38,113 6.9 %
Income Tax (Benefit) Expense (12,468) nm 12,852 nm
Net Income $ 20,077 3.6 % $ 25,261 4.6 %

Effective (Benefit) Tax Rate (163.8)% nm 33.7% nm
Diluted Earnings Per Share $ 1.74 nm $ 2.24 nm

nm = not meaningful
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Net Revenues by End-Use Market and Operating Segment

Net revenues by end-use market and operating segment during 2017 and 2016, respectively, were as follows:

(In thousands)
Years Ended December 31, % of Net Revenues

Change 2017 2016 2017 2016

Consolidated Ducommun
Military and space $ 38,843 $ 267,758 $ 228,915 48.0% 41.6%
Commercial aerospace (20,280) 236,354 256,634 42.3% 46.6%
Industrial (11,022) 54,071 65,093 9.7% 11.8%

Total $ 7,541 $ 558,183 $ 550,642 100.0% 100.0%

Electronic Systems
Military and space $ 33,917 $ 211,102 $ 177,185 66.6% 58.3%
Commercial aerospace (10,349) 51,550 61,899 16.3% 20.3%
Industrial (11,022) 54,071 65,093 17.1% 21.4%

Total $ 12,546 $ 316,723 $ 304,177 100.0% 100.0%

Structural Systems
Military and space $ 4,926 $ 56,656 $ 51,730 23.5% 21.0%
Commercial aerospace (9,931) 184,804 194,735 76.5% 79.0%

Total $ (5,005) $ 241,460 $ 246,465 100.0% 100.0%

Net revenues for 2017 were $558.2 million compared to $550.6 million for 2016. The year-over-year increase was primarily 
due to the following:

• $38.8 million higher revenues in our military and space end-use markets mainly due to increased demand, 
which favorably impacted our helicopter, missile, and fixed-wing platforms that was partially offset by the 
divestiture of our Miltec operations in March 2016; partially offset by

• $20.3 million lower revenues in our commercial aerospace end-use markets mainly due to the winding down of 
a regional jet program and continued softness in demand within the regional and business jet end-use markets; 
and

• $11.0 million lower revenues in our industrial end-use markets.

Net Revenues by Major Customers

A significant portion of our net revenues are from our top ten customers as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2017 2016

Boeing 16.3% 17.3%
Lockheed Martin 5.5% 5.6%
Raytheon 13.5% 8.4%
Spirit 8.2% 8.2%
United Technologies Corporation 4.7% 5.3%
Top ten customers (1) 62.5% 58.7%

(1) Includes Boeing, Lockheed Martin, Raytheon, Spirit, and United Technologies Corporation (“United Technologies”).

The revenues from Boeing, Lockheed Martin, Raytheon, Spirit, and United Technologies are diversified over a number of 
commercial, military and space programs and were made by both operating segments.
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Gross Profit

Gross profit consists of net revenues less cost of sales. Cost of sales includes the cost of production of finished products and 
other expenses related to inventory management, manufacturing quality, and order fulfillment. Gross profit margin decreased 
to 18.5% in 2017 compared to 19.3% in 2016 primarily due to unfavorable product mix, partially offset by higher volume.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

SG&A expenses increased $2.0 million in 2017 compared to 2016 primarily due to the higher compensation and benefit costs 
of $3.1 million, partially offset by a decrease due to the divestitures of our Pittsburgh and Miltec operations and closure of 
certain facilities of $1.3 million.

Restructuring Charges

Restructuring charges increased $8.7 million (of which $0.5 million was included in cost of sales) in 2017 compared to 2016 
primarily due to the restructuring plan that was implemented in 2017 that is expected to increase operating efficiencies. See 
Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, Item 15(a) of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for 
further information on restructuring activities.

Interest Expense

Interest expense was essentially flat in 2017 compared to 2016 primarily due to a lower outstanding Term Loan balance a 
result of voluntary principal prepayments on our credit facilities, offset by higher utilization of the Revolving Credit Facility, 
including the acquisition of LDS. See Note 9 to our consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, Item 15(a) of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information on our long-term debt.

Income Tax (Benefit) Expense

We recorded an income tax benefit of $12.5 million (an effective tax benefit rate of 163.8%) in 2017, compared to income tax 
expense of $12.9 million (an effective tax rate of 33.7%) in 2016. The decrease in the effective tax rate for 2017 compared to 
2016 was primarily due to $13.0 million of provisional deferred income tax benefit recorded in connection with the Tax Cuts 
and Jobs Act (the “2017 Tax Act”). The reduction in the U.S. corporate tax rate from 35.0% to 21.0% required the federal 
portion of our deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2017 to be re-measured at the enacted tax rate expected to 
apply when the temporary differences are to be realized or settled using 21.0%. In addition, the pre-tax income in 2017 was 
lower compared to 2016 pre-tax income which caused tax incentives such as research and development tax credits and 
discrete items to have a greater impact on our effective tax rate.

Our unrecognized tax benefits were $5.3 million and $3.0 million in 2017 and 2016, respectively. We record interest and 
penalty charge, if any, related to uncertain tax positions as a component of tax expense and unrecognized tax benefits. The 
amounts accrued for interest and penalty charges as of December 31, 2017 and 2016 were not significant. If recognized, $3.4 
million would affect the effective tax rate.

We file U.S. Federal and state income tax returns. During the fourth quarter of 2017, the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) 
completed the audit of tax years 2013, 2014, and 2015. Consequently, Federal income tax returns after 2015 are subject to 
examination. California franchise (income) tax returns after 2012 and other state income tax returns after 2012 are subject to 
examination. While we are no longer subject to examination prior to those periods, carryforwards generated prior to those 
periods may still be adjusted upon examination by the IRS or state taxing authority if they either have been or will be used in 
a subsequent period.

Net Income and Earnings per Diluted Share

Net income and earnings per diluted share for 2017 were $20.1 million, or $1.74 per diluted share, compared to net income 
and earnings per diluted share for 2016 were $25.3 million, or $2.24. The decrease in net income in 2017 compared to 2016 
was primarily due to the following:

• Prior year included a pre-tax gain on divestitures, net of our Pittsburgh and Miltec operations of $17.6 million;

• Higher restructuring charges of $8.7 million (of which $0.5 million is included in cost of sales);

• Lower gross profit of $2.9 million (which excludes $0.5 million of restructuring charges in cost of sales); and

• Higher SG&A expenses of $2.0 million; partially offset by

• Lower income tax expense of $25.3 million.
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Business Segment Performance

We report our financial performance based upon the two reportable operating segments: Electronic Systems and Structural 
Systems. The results of operations differ between our reportable operating segments due to differences in competitors, 
customers, extent of proprietary deliverables and performance. The following table summarizes our business segment 
performance for 2017 and 2016:

%
(In thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

%
of Net  

Revenues

%
of Net  

Revenues
Change 2017 2016 2017 2016

Net Revenues
Electronic Systems 4.1 % $ 316,723 $ 304,177 56.7 % 55.2 %
Structural Systems (2.0)% 241,460 246,465 43.3 % 44.8 %

Total Net Revenues 1.4 % $ 558,183 $ 550,642 100.0 % 100.0 %
Segment Operating Income

Electronic Systems $ 31,236 $ 29,284 9.9 % 9.6 %
Structural Systems 5,790 16,844 2.4 % 6.8 %

37,026 46,128
Corporate General and Administrative Expenses (1) (21,392) (16,912) (3.8)% (3.1)%

Total Operating Income $ 15,634 $ 29,216 2.8 % 5.3 %
Adjusted EBITDA

Electronic Systems
Operating Income $ 31,236 $ 29,284
Other Income 645 —
Depreciation and Amortization 13,888 14,087
Restructuring Charges 1,190 182
Inventory Purchase Accounting Adjustments 1,235 —

48,194 43,553 15.2 % 14.3 %
Structural Systems

Operating Income 5,790 16,844
Other Income 200 141
Depreciation and Amortization 8,860 8,688
Restructuring Charges 5,866 —

20,716 25,673 8.6 % 10.4 %
Corporate General and Administrative Expenses (1)

Operating Loss (21,392) (16,912)
Other Income — 74
Depreciation and Amortization 97 85
Stock-Based Compensation Expense 4,675 3,007
Restructuring Charges 1,782 —

(14,838) (13,746)
Adjusted EBITDA $ 54,072 $ 55,480 9.7 % 10.1 %

Capital Expenditures
Electronic Systems $ 5,019 $ 3,032
Structural Systems 20,679 15,661
Corporate Administration 775 —

Total Capital Expenditures $ 26,473 $ 18,693
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(1) Includes costs not allocated to either the Electronic Systems or Structural Systems operating segments.

Electronic Systems

Electronic Systems’ net revenues in 2017 compared to 2016 increased $12.5 million primarily due to the following:

• $33.9 million higher revenues in our military and space end-use markets mainly due to increased demand, 
which favorably impacted our missile, fixed-wing, and helicopter platforms; partially offset by

• $11.0 million lower revenues in our Industrial end-use markets; and

• $10.3 million lower revenues in our commercial aerospace end-use markets mainly due to continued softness in 
demand in the business jet market.

Electronic Systems segment operating income in 2017 compared to 2016 increased primarily due to higher manufacturing 
volume, partially offset by restructuring charges of $1.2 million and unfavorable product mix.

Structural Systems

Structural Systems’ net revenues in 2017 compared to 2016 decreased $5.0 million primarily due to the following:

• $9.9 million lower revenues in commercial aerospace end-use markets mainly due to the wind down of a 
regional jet program and continued softness in demand within the regional and business jet end-use markets; 
partially offset by

• $4.9 million higher revenues in military and space end-use markets mainly due to increased demand which 
favorably impacted our helicopter platforms.

The Structural Systems operating income in 2017 compared to 2016 decreased primarily due to restructuring charges of $5.9 
million, the impact of new program development on large airframe platforms, and lower manufacturing volume. 

Corporate General and Administrative Expenses

CG&A expenses in 2017 compared to 2016 increased primarily due to higher compensation and benefit costs of $3.1 million 
and restructuring charges of $1.8 million.

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Available Liquidity

Total debt, the weighted-average interest rate, cash and cash equivalents and available credit facilities were as follows:

(In millions)
December 31,

2018 2017

Total debt, including long-term portion $ 233.0 $ 218.1
Weighted-average interest rate on debt 4.71% 3.73%
Term Loan interest rate 4.15% 3.74%
Cash and cash equivalents $ 10.3 $ 2.2
Unused Revolving Credit Facility $ 99.7 $ 141.6

On November 21, 2018, we completed new credit facilities to replace the Existing Credit Facilities. The new credit facilities 
consist of a $240.0 million senior secured term loan, which matures on November 21, 2025 (“New Term Loan”), and a 
$100.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility (“New Revolving Credit Facility”), which matures on November 21, 
2023 (collectively, the “New Credit Facilities”). We are required to make installment payments of 0.25% of the outstanding 
principal balance of the New Term Loan amount on a quarterly basis. In addition, if we meet the annual excess cash flow 
threshold, we will be required to make excess flow payments on an annual basis. Further, the undrawn portion of the 
commitment of the New Revolving Credit Facility is subject to a commitment fee ranging from 0.200% to 0.300%, based 
upon the consolidated total net adjusted leverage ratio. As of December 31, 2018, we were in compliance with all covenants 
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required under the New Credit Facilities. See Note 9 to our consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, Item 15(a) 
of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for further information.

In October 2015, we entered into interest rate cap hedges designated as cash flow hedges with a portion of these interest rate 
cap hedges maturing on a quarterly basis, and a final quarterly maturity date of June 2020, in aggregate, totaling $135.0 
million of our debt. We paid a total of $1.0 million in connection with entering into the interest rate cap hedges.

On April 23, 2018, we acquired Certified Thermoplastics Co., LLC (“CTP”) for a purchase price of $30.7 million, net of cash 
acquired, all payable in cash. We paid an aggregate of $30.8 million in cash by drawing down on the Revolving Credit 
Facility. See Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, Item 15(a) of this Annual Report on Form 
10-K for further information.

In September 2017, we acquired all the outstanding interests of LDS for a purchase price of $60.0 million, net of cash 
acquired, all payable in cash. Upon the closing of the transaction, we paid $61.4 million in cash by drawing down on the 
Revolving Credit Facility. The remaining $0.6 million was paid in October 2017 in cash, also by drawing down on the 
Revolving Credit Facility. See Note 3 to our consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, Item 15(a) of this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for further information.

In November 2017, management approved and commenced a restructuring plan that was intended to increase operating 
efficiencies. On an annualized basis, beginning in 2019, we anticipate these restructuring actions will result in estimated total 
savings of $14.0 million.

We expect to spend a total of $15.0 million to $17.0 million for capital expenditures in 2019 financed by cash generated from 
operations, principally to support new contract awards at Structural Systems and Electronic Systems. As part of our strategic 
plan to become a supplier of higher-level assemblies and win new contract awards, additional up-front investment in tooling 
will be required for newer programs which have higher engineering content and higher levels of complexity in assemblies.

We believe the ongoing aerospace and defense subcontractor consolidation makes acquisitions an increasingly important 
component of our future growth. We will continue to make prudent acquisitions and capital expenditures for manufacturing 
equipment and facilities to support long-term contracts for commercial and military aircraft and defense programs.

We continue to depend on operating cash flow and the availability of our New Credit Facilities to provide short-term 
liquidity. Cash generated from operations and bank borrowing capacity is expected to provide sufficient liquidity to meet our 
obligations during the next twelve months.

Cash Flow Summary

2018 Compared to 2017

Net cash provided by operating activities during 2018 increased to $46.2 million compared to $35.4 million during 2017 due to 
improved working capital management, partially offset by lower net income.

Net cash used in investing activities in 2018 was $47.9 million compared to $86.2 million in 2017 due to lower payments for 
acquisition and lower purchases of property and equipment.

Net cash provided by financing activities during 2018 was $9.8 million compared to $45.5 million during 2017 due to lower 
net borrowings on the credit facilities.

2017 Compared to 2016

Net cash provided by operating activities during 2017 decreased to $35.4 million compared to $43.3 million during 2016 due 
to lower net income as a result of restructuring charges and lower gross margin, and lower accounts payable.

Net cash used in investing activities in 2017 of $86.2 million compared to cash provided by of $34.9 million in 2016 due to the 
payments for the purchase of LDS, net of cash acquired of $59.8 million in the current year. In addition, the prior year included 
proceeds from the divestiture of our Pittsburgh and Miltec operations of $51.9 million. Further, 2017 included higher purchases 
of property and equipment to support the expansion of our Parsons, Kansas facility.

Net cash provided by financing activities during 2017 was $45.5 million compared to cash used of $76.2 million during 2016 
due to net borrowings from the Existing Revolving Credit Facility that was used for the purchase of LDS, partially offset by 
repayments on the credit facilities.
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Contractual Obligations

A summary of our contractual obligations at December 31, 2018 was as follows (in thousands): 

Payments Due by Period

Total
Less Than

1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years
More Than

5 Years

Long-term debt, including current portion $ 233,000 $ 2,330 $ 4,660 $ 4,660 $ 221,350
Future interest on long-term debt 71,910 16,200 26,310 18,860 10,540
Operating leases 12,838 3,680 6,194 2,384 580
Pension liability 20,274 1,787 3,759 3,996 10,732

Total(1) $ 338,022 $ 23,997 $ 40,923 $ 29,900 $ 243,202

(1) As of December 31, 2018, we have recorded $5.3 million in long-term liabilities related to uncertain tax positions. We 
are not able to reasonably estimate the timing of the long-term payments, or the amount by which our liability may 
increase or decrease over time, therefore, the liability or uncertain tax positions has not been included in the contractual 
obligations table.

We have estimated that the fair value of our indemnification obligations as insignificant based upon our history with such 
obligations and insurance coverage and have included no such obligation in the table above.

Our ultimate liability with respect to groundwater contamination at certain Structural Systems facilities will depend upon a 
number of factors, including changes in existing laws and regulations, the design and cost of construction, operation and 
maintenance activities, and the allocation of liability among potentially responsible parties. The above table does not include 
obligations related to these matters. See Note 16 to our consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, Item 15(a) of 
this Annual Report on Form 10-K for discussion of our environmental liabilities.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

Our off-balance sheet arrangements consist of operating leases and indemnities.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Critical accounting policies are those accounting policies that can have a significant impact on the presentation of our 
financial condition and results of operations and that require the use of subjective estimates based upon past experience and 
management’s judgment. Because of the uncertainty inherent in such estimates, actual results may differ from these 
estimates. Below are those policies applied in preparing our financial statements that management believes are the most 
dependent on the application of estimates and assumptions. See Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements included in 
Part IV, Item 15(a) of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for additional accounting policies.

Revenue Recognition

Our customers typically engage us to manufacture products based on designs and specifications provided by the end-use 
customer. This will require the building of tooling and manufacturing first article inspection products (prototypes) before 
volume manufacturing. Contracts with our customers generally include a termination for convenience clause.

We have a significant number of contracts that are derived from long-term agreements and programs that can span several 
years, as well as contracts that are started and completed within the same year. We recognize revenue under ASC 606, which 
utilizes a five-step model. Further, we utilized the modified retrospective method (also known as the cumulative effect 
method) of adoption of ASC 606. See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, Item 15(a) of this 
Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The definition of a contract under ASC 606 for us is typically defined as a customer purchase order as this is when we 
achieve enforceable right to payment. The majority of our contracts are firm fixed-price contracts. The deliverables within a 
customer purchase order are analyzed to determine the number of performance obligations. In addition, at times, in order to 
achieve economies of scale and based on our customer’s forecasted demand, we may build in advance of receiving a 
purchase order from our customers and in which case, we would not recognize revenue until we have received the customer 
purchase order.
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A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer, and is the unit of 
account under ASC 606. A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as 
revenue when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied. The majority of our contracts have a single performance 
obligation as the promise to transfer the individual goods or services is highly interrelated or met the Series guidance. For 
contracts with multiple performance obligations, we allocate the contract transaction price to each performance obligation 
using our best estimate of the standalone selling price of each distinct good or service in the contract. The primary method 
used to estimate the standalone selling price is the expected cost plus a margin approach, under which we forecast our 
expected costs of satisfying a performance obligation and then add an appropriate margin for that distinct good or service.

The majority of our performance obligations are satisfied over time as work progresses. Typically, revenue is recognized over 
time using an input measure (i.e., costs incurred to date relative to total estimated costs at completion, also known as cost-to-
cost plus reasonable profit) to measure progress. Our typical revenue contract is a firm fixed price contract, and the cost of 
raw materials could make up a significant amount of the total costs incurred. As such, we believe using the total costs 
incurred input method would be the most appropriate method. While the cost of raw materials could make up a significant 
amount of the total costs incurred, there is a direct relationship between our inputs and the transfer of control of goods or 
services to the customer as in the event the customer invokes the termination for convenience clause, we would be entitled to 
costs incurred to date plus a reasonable profit. The majority of our revenues are recognized over time. Contract costs typically 
include labor, materials, and overhead.

Contract estimates are based on various assumptions to project the outcome of future events that can span multiple months or 
years. These assumptions include labor productivity and availability; the complexity of the work to be performed; the cost 
and availability of materials; and the performance of subcontractors.

As a significant change in one or more of these estimates could affect the profitability of our contracts, we review and update 
our contract-related estimates on a regular basis. We recognize adjustments in estimated profit on contracts under the 
cumulative catch-up method. Under this method, the impact of the adjustment on profit recorded to date is recognized in the 
period the adjustment is identified. Revenue and profit in future periods of contract performance is recognized using the 
adjusted estimate. If at any time the estimate of contract profitability indicates an anticipated loss on the contract, we 
recognize the total loss in the quarter it is identified.

The impact of adjustments in contract estimates on our operating earnings can be reflected in either operating costs and 
expenses or revenue. See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, Item 15(a) of this Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the net impact of these adjustments to our consolidated financial statements for 2018.

Provision for Estimated Losses on Contracts

We record provisions for the total anticipated losses on contracts, considering total estimated costs to complete the contract 
compared to total anticipated revenues, in the period in which such losses are identified. The provisions for estimated losses 
on contracts require us to make certain estimates and assumptions, including those with respect to the future revenue under a 
contract and the future cost to complete the contract. Our estimate of the future cost to complete a contract may include 
assumptions as to changes in manufacturing efficiency, operating and material costs, and our ability to resolve claims and 
assertions with our customers. If any of these or other assumptions and estimates do not materialize in the future, we may be 
required to adjust the provisions for estimated losses on contracts. As a result of the adoption of ASC 606 on January 1, 2018, 
the definition of a revenue contract with a customer for us now has changed and is typically defined as a customer purchase 
order. As such, in certain scenarios such as at the inception of a long-term agreement where our customer may be issuing 
purchase orders over the duration of the long-term agreement, we may be required to recognize anticipated losses on 
contracts that would not have occurred under ASC 605. In addition, provision for estimated losses on contracts are now 
included as part of contract liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

Production Cost of Contracts 

Production cost of contracts includes non-recurring production costs, such as design and engineering costs, and tooling and 
other special-purpose machinery necessary to build parts as specified in a contract. Production costs of contracts are recorded 
to cost of sales using the over time revenue recognition model. We review the value of the production cost of contracts on a 
quarterly basis to ensure when added to the estimated cost to complete, the value is not greater than the estimated realizable 
value of the related contracts.
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Goodwill

Our business acquisitions have resulted in the recognition of goodwill. Goodwill is not amortized but is subject to annual 
evaluation for impairment (which we perform based on the first day of the fourth fiscal quarter). If certain factors occur, 
including significant under performance of our business relative to expected operating results, significant adverse economic 
and industry trends, significant decline in our market capitalization for an extended period of time relative to net book value, 
a decision to divest individual businesses within a reporting unit, or a decision to group individual businesses differently, we 
may perform an impairment test prior to the fourth quarter.

In the fourth quarter of 2018, the carrying amount of goodwill at the date of the most recent annual impairment evaluation for 
Electronic Systems and Structural Systems was $117.5 million and $18.6 million, respectively. As of the date of our 2018 
annual evaluation for goodwill impairment, we used a qualitative assessment including 1) margin of passing most recent step 
1 analysis, 2) earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization, 3) long-term growth rate, 4) analyzing material 
adverse factors/changes between valuation dates, 5) general macroeconomic factors, and 6) industry and market conditions, 
noting it was not more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount and thus, goodwill 
was not deemed impaired. 

Other Intangible Assets

We amortize acquired other intangible assets with finite lives over the estimated economic lives of the assets, ranging from 
10 years to 18 years generally using the straight-line method. The value of other intangibles acquired through business 
combinations has been estimated using present value techniques which involve estimates of future cash flows. We evaluate 
other intangible assets for recoverability utilizing undiscounted cash flows or when significant changes in conditions occur, 
and recognize impairment losses, if any, based upon the estimated fair value of the assets.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

We measure and recognize compensation expense for share-based payment transactions to our employees and non-employees 
at their estimated fair value. The expense is measured at the grant date, based on the calculated fair value of the share-based 
award, and is recognized over the requisite service period (generally the vesting period of the equity award). The fair value of 
stock options are determined using the Black-Scholes-Merton (“Black-Scholes”) valuation model, which requires 
assumptions and judgments regarding stock price volatility, risk-free interest rates, and expected options terms. 
Management’s estimates could differ from actual results. The fair value of unvested stock awards is determined based on the 
closing price of the underlying common stock on the date of grant except for market condition awards for which the fair 
value was based on a Monte Carlo simulation model. 

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value with cost being determined using a moving average cost 
basis for raw materials and actual cost for work-in-process and finished goods. The majority of our inventory is charged to 
cost of sales as raw materials are placed into production and the related revenue is recognized. Inventoried costs include raw 
materials, outside processing, direct labor and allocated overhead, adjusted for any abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, 
freight, handling costs, and wasted materials (spoilage) incurred. We assess the inventory carrying value and reduce it, if 
necessary, to its net realizable value based on customer orders on hand, and internal demand forecasts using management’s 
best estimates given information currently available. As a result of adopting ASC 606 on January 1, 2018, where we utilized 
the modified retrospective method of adoption and we changed our revenue recognition for the majority of our revenue from 
point in time to over time, our inventory balance decreased significantly. For revenue contracts where revenue is recognized 
using the point in time method, inventory is not reduced until it is shipped or transfer of control to the customer has occurred. 
Our ending inventory consists of raw materials, work-in-process, and finished goods. See Note 2 to our consolidated financial 
statements included in Part IV, Item 15(a) of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes is determined using an estimated annual effective tax rate, which is generally less than the 
United States (“U.S.”) federal statutory rate, primarily as a result of research and development (“R&D”) tax credits available 
in the United States. Our effective tax rate may be subject to fluctuations during the year as new information is obtained, 
which may affect the assumptions used to estimate the annual effective tax rate, including factors such as valuation 
allowances against deferred tax assets, the recognition or derecognition of tax benefits related to uncertain tax positions, 
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expected utilization of R&D tax credits and changes in or the interpretation of tax laws in jurisdictions where we conduct 
business.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized, using enacted tax rates, for the expected future tax consequences of 
temporary differences between the book and tax bases of recorded assets and liabilities, operating losses, and tax credit 
carryforwards. Deferred tax assets are evaluated quarterly and are reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than 
not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return are recognized when it is more-likely-than-not, based on technical 
merits, to be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities. The amount recognized is measured as the largest amount of 
benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement, including resolution of related appeals and/
or litigation process, if any.

On December 22, 2017, the U.S. enacted the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “2017 Tax Act”). The 2017 Tax Act represented 
major tax reform legislation that, among other provisions, reduced the U.S. corporate tax rate from 35.0% to 21.0% effective 
January 1, 2018. In our consolidated financial statements included in our 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K, we recognized 
provisional amounts for the income tax effects of the 2017 Tax Act which included $13.0 million of deferred income tax 
benefit recorded principally due to the re-measurement of the federal portion of our deferred tax assets and liabilities in 
accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 (“SAB 118”). SAB 118 provided SEC staff guidance regarding the 
application of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 740, “Income Taxes,” in the reporting period in which the 
2017 Tax Act became law and allowed a measurement period to make refinements and finalize the tax effects not exceed one 
year from the enactment date. During the fourth quarter of 2018, we finalized our accounting for the tax effects of the 2017 
Tax Act. See Note 15 to our consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, Item 15(a) of this Annual Report on Form 
10-K for further information.

Environmental Liabilities

Environmental liabilities are recorded when environmental assessments and/or remedial efforts are probable and costs can be 
reasonably estimated. Generally, the timing of these accruals coincides with the completion of a feasibility study or our 
commitment to a formal plan of action. Further, we review and update our environmental accruals as circumstances change 
and/or additional information is obtained that reasonably could be expected to have a meaningful effect on the outcome of a 
matter or the estimated cost thereof.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 1 to our consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, Item 15(a) of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for a 
description of recent accounting pronouncements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

Our main market risk exposure relates to changes in U.S. and U.K. interest rates on our outstanding long-term debt. At 
December 31, 2018, we had borrowings of $233.0 million under our New Credit Facilities. 

The New Term Loan bears interest, at our option, at a rate equal to either (i) the Eurodollar Rate (defined as the London 
Interbank Offered Rate [“LIBOR”]) plus an applicable margin ranging from 3.75% to 4.00% per year or (ii) the Base Rate 
(defined as the highest of [a] Federal Funds Rate plus 0.50%, [b] Bank of America’s prime rate, and [c] the Eurodollar Rate 
plus 1.00%) plus an applicable margin ranging from 3.75% to 4.00% per year, in each case based upon the consolidated total 
net adjusted leverage ratio.

The New Revolving Credit Facility bears interest, at our option, at a rate equal to either (i) the Eurodollar Rate (defined as 
LIBOR) plus an applicable margin ranging from 1.75% to 2.75% per year or (ii) the Base Rate (defined as the highest of [a] 
Federal Funds Rate plus 0.50%, [b] Bank of America’s prime rate, and [c] the Eurodollar Rate plus 1.00%) plus an applicable 
margin ranging from 0.75% to 1.75% per year, in each case based upon the consolidated total net adjusted leverage ratio.

A hypothetical 10% increase or decrease in the interest rate would have an immaterial impact on our financial condition and 
results of operations.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The financial statements and supplementary data together with the report thereon of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP included 
in Part IV, Item 15(a) 1 and 2 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are included herein by reference.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL 
DISCLOSURE

None.

 
ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended (“Exchange Act”)) are designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to be disclosed in 
reports we file or submit under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods 
specified in the rules and forms of the SEC and that such information is accumulated and communicated to our management, 
including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required 
disclosures.

Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief 
Financial Officer, we carried out an evaluation of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and 
procedures as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on this evaluation, the Company’s 
Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at 
the reasonable assurance level as of December 31, 2018.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process 
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). The Company’s 
internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records 
that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the Company; (ii) 
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with 
authorizations of management and directors of the Company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or 
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets that could have a material effect on 
our financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management of the Company has assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2018. In making this assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring 
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013). Based on our 
assessment and those criteria, management concluded that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2018.

The effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018 has been audited by 
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is included in 
Item 15 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the 
Exchange Act) that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial 
reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2018.
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None.
PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Directors of the Registrant

The information under the caption “Election of Directors” in the 2019 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

On October 18, 2018, we appointed Shirley G. Drazba as a Class III Director, effectively immediately, to serve for a term 
expiring at the annual meeting of stockholders in 2021 and until her successor is elected and qualified.

Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information under the caption “Executive Officers of the Registrant” in the 2019 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein 
by reference.

Audit Committee and Audit Committee Financial Expert

The information under the caption “Committees of the Board of Directors” relating to the Audit Committee of the Board of 
Directors in the 2019 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act

The information under the caption “Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the 2019 Proxy Statement 
is incorporated herein by reference.

Code of Business Conduct and Ethics

The information under the caption “Code of Business Conduct and Ethics” in the 2019 Proxy Statement is incorporated 
herein by reference.

Changes to Procedures to Recommend Nominees

There have been no material changes to the procedures by which security holders may recommend nominees to the 
Company’s Board of Directors since the date of the Company’s last proxy statement.

 
ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information under the captions “Compensation of Executive Officers,” “Compensation of Directors,” “Compensation 
Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” and “Compensation Committee Report” in the 2019 Proxy Statement is 
incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND 
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information under the caption “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in the 2019 Proxy 
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans 

The following table provides information about our compensation plans under which equity securities are authorized for 
issuance:
 

Number of Securities
to be Issued Upon

Exercise of
Outstanding

Options,
Warrants and Rights

(a)

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price of

Outstanding
Options,

Warrants and Rights
(b)

Number of  Securities
Remaining

Available for
Future Issuance
Under Equity

Compensation Plans
(Excluding Securities

Reflected
in Column
(a))(c)(3)

Equity Compensation Plans approved by 
security holders(1) 757,862 $ 28.33 490,930
Employee stock purchase plan approved by 
security holders(2) — — 750,000
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders — — —

Total 757,862 1,240,930
 

(1) Consists of the 2007 Stock Incentive Plan and the 2013 Stock Incentive Plan. The number of securities to be issued 
consists of 363,225 for stock options, 157,937 for restricted stock units and 236,700 for performance stock units at 
target. The weighted average exercise price applies only to the stock options.

(2) The 2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan enables employees to purchase our common stock at a 15% discount to the 
lower of the market value at the beginning or end of each six month offering period. As such, the number of share that 
may be issued during a given six month period and the purchase price of such shares cannot be determined in 
advance. See Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements included in Part IV, Item 15(a) of this Annual Report on 
Form 10-K.

(3) Awards are not restricted to any specified form or structure and may include, without limitation, sales or bonuses of 
stock, restricted stock, stock options, reload stock options, stock purchase warrants, other rights to acquire stock, 
securities convertible into or redeemable for stock, stock appreciation rights, limited stock appreciation rights, 
phantom stock, dividend equivalents, performance units or performance shares, and an award may consist of one such 
security or benefit, or two or more of them in tandem or in alternative.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information under the caption “Election of Directors” in the 2019 Proxy Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

 
ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information under the caption “Principal Accountant Fees and Services” contained in the 2019 Proxy Statement is 
incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
 
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) 1.      Financial Statements

The following consolidated financial statements of Ducommun Incorporated and subsidiaries, are incorporated by
reference in Item 8 of this report.

  Page

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets - December 31, 2018 and 2017

Consolidated Statements of Income - Years Ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income - Years Ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 
2016

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity - Years Ended December  31, 2018, 
2017, and 2016

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - Years Ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Supplemental Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

2.      Financial Statement Schedule

The following schedule for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 is filed herewith:

Schedule II - Consolidated Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other schedules have been omitted because they are not applicable, not required, or the
information has been otherwise supplied in the financial statements or notes thereto.

3.      Exhibits

See Item 15(b) for a list of exhibits. —
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Ducommun Incorporated

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Ducommun Incorporated and its subsidiaries (the 
“Company”) as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, 
changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018, including 
the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the index appearing under Item 15(a)2 (collectively referred to as 
the “consolidated financial statements”). We also have audited the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the 
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as of December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of 
the three years in the period ended December 31, 2018 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the 
United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control 
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2018, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework 
(2013) issued by the COSO.

Change in Accounting Principle
As discussed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for 
revenues from contracts with customers in 2018.

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining effective internal 
control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, 
included in Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility 
is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and on the Company's internal control over 
financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance 
with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and 
the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material 
misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in 
all material respects. 

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond 
to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. Our 
audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial 
reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness 
of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered 
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures 
that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 
dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to 
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
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expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the 
company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate 
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Irvine, California
February 28, 2019 

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1989.
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Ducommun Incorporated and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

(In thousands, except share and per share data)

 December 31,
 2018 2017

Assets
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 10,263 $ 2,150
Accounts receivable (less allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,135 and $868
at December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively) 67,819 74,064
Contract assets 86,665 —
Inventories 101,125 122,161
Production cost of contracts 11,679 11,204
Other current assets 9,839 11,435

Total Current Assets 287,390 221,014
Property and Equipment, Net 107,045 110,252
Goodwill 136,057 117,435
Intangibles, Net 112,092 114,693
Non-Current Deferred Income Taxes 308 261
Other Assets 5,251 3,098
Total Assets $ 648,143 $ 566,753
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable $ 69,274 $ 51,907
Contract liabilities 17,145 —
Accrued liabilities 37,786 28,329
Current portion of long-term debt 2,330 —

Total Current Liabilities 126,535 80,236
Long-Term Debt, Less Current Portion 226,961 216,055
Non-Current Deferred Income Taxes 18,070 15,981
Other Long-Term Liabilities 19,752 18,898

Total Liabilities 391,318 331,170
Commitments and Contingencies (Notes 13, 16)
Shareholders’ Equity

Common stock - $0.01 par value; 35,000,000 shares authorized; 11,417,863 and
11,332,841 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017,
respectively 114 113
Additional paid-in capital 83,712 80,223
Retained earnings 180,356 161,364
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (7,357) (6,117)

Total Shareholders’ Equity 256,825 235,583
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 648,143 $ 566,753

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Ducommun Incorporated and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income

(In thousands, except per share amounts)

 Years Ended December 31,
 2018 2017 2016

Net Revenues $ 629,307 $ 558,183 $ 550,642
Cost of Sales 506,711 455,050 444,102

Gross Profit 122,596 103,133 106,540
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 84,007 79,139 77,142
Restructuring Charges 14,671 8,360 182
Operating Income 23,918 15,634 29,216
Interest Expense (13,024) (8,870) (8,922)
Gain on Divestitures, Net — — 17,604
Loss on Extinguishment of Debt (926) — —
Other Income, Net 303 845 215
Income Before Taxes 10,271 7,609 38,113
Income Tax Expense (Benefit) 1,236 (12,468) 12,852
Net Income $ 9,035 $ 20,077 $ 25,261
Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share $ 0.79 $ 1.78 $ 2.27
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.77 $ 1.74 $ 2.24

Weighted-Average Number of Shares Outstanding
Basic 11,390 11,290 11,151
Diluted 11,659 11,558 11,299

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Ducommun Incorporated and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income

(In thousands)
 

Years Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Net Income $ 9,035 $ 20,077 $ 25,261
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Tax:

Pension Adjustments:
Amortization of actuarial losses included in net income, net of
tax benefit of $173, $302, and $283 for 2018, 2017, and 2016,
respectively 570 508 479
Actuarial losses arising during the period, net of tax benefit of
$302, $194, and $413 for 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively

(899) (304) (650)
Change in net unrealized gains (losses) on cash flow hedges, net of
tax expense (benefit) of $121, $(145), and $(180) for 2018, 2017,
and 2016, respectively 407 (242) (305)

Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income, Net of Tax 78 (38) (476)
Comprehensive Income, Net of Tax $ 9,113 $ 20,039 $ 24,785

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



Table of Contents

51

Ducommun Incorporated and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity

(In thousands, except share data)
 

Shares
Outstanding

Common
Stock

Treasury
Stock

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss

Total
Shareholders’

Equity

Balance at December 31,
2015 11,084,318 $ 111 $ — $ 75,200 $ 116,026 $ (5,603) $ 185,734
Net income — — — — 25,261 — 25,261
Other comprehensive loss,
net of tax — — — — — (476) (476)
Stock options exercised 132,325 1 — 2,121 — — 2,122
Stock repurchased related
to the exercise of stock
options (151,916) (1) — (3,464) — — (3,465)
Stock awards vested 129,086 1 — (1) — — —
Stock-based compensation — — — 3,007 — — 3,007
Tax shortfall from share-
based compensation — — — (80) — — (80)
Balance at December 31,
2016 11,193,813 $ 112 $ — $ 76,783 $ 141,287 $ (6,079) $ 212,103
Net income — — — — 20,077 — 20,077
Other comprehensive loss,
net of tax — — — — — (38) (38)
Stock options exercised 212,775 2 — 4,334 — — 4,336
Stock repurchased related
to the exercise of stock
options (219,164) (2) — (6,902) — — (6,904)
Stock awards vested 145,417 1 — (1) — — —
Stock-based compensation — — — 6,009 — — 6,009
Balance at December 31,
2017 11,332,841 $ 113 $ — $ 80,223 $ 161,364 $ (6,117) $ 235,583
Net income — — — — 9,035 — 9,035
Other comprehensive loss,
net of tax — — — — — 78 78
Adoption of ASC 606
adjustment — — — — 8,665 — 8,665
Adoption of ASU 2018-02
adjustment — — — — 1,292 (1,318) (26)
Stock options exercised 84,800 1 — 1,821 — — 1,822
Stock repurchased related
to the exercise of stock
options (98,438) (1) — (6,344) — — (6,345)
Stock awards vested 98,660 1 — 2,972 — — 2,973
Stock-based compensation — — — 5,040 — — 5,040
Balance at December 31,
2018 11,417,863 $ 114 $ — $ 83,712 $ 180,356 $ (7,357) $ 256,825

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.



Table of Contents

52

Ducommun Incorporated and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(In thousands)

Years Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net Income $ 9,035 $ 20,077 $ 25,261
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:
Depreciation and amortization 25,296 22,845 22,860
Gain on divestitures, net — — (17,604)
Property and equipment impairment due to restructuring 6,207 3,607 —
Stock-based compensation expense 5,040 4,675 3,007
Deferred income taxes 2,042 (15,411) 3,519
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation — — (248)
Provision for doubtful accounts 267 373 112
Noncash loss on extinguishment of debt 926 — —
Other 11,659 (1,182) (7,204)

Changes in Assets and Liabilities:
Accounts receivable 7,495 2,720 3,220
Contract assets (86,665) — —
Inventories 23,243 (533) (5,182)
Production cost of contracts (1,569) (267) (1,536)
Other assets 1,881 40 2,974
Accounts payable 18,496 (4,015) 15,055
Contract liabilities 17,145 — —
Accrued and other liabilities 5,739 2,505 (966)

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 46,237 35,434 43,268
Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Purchases of property and equipment (17,617) (27,610) (17,001)
Proceeds from sale of assets 396 913 16
Insurance recoveries related to property and equipment — 288 —
Proceeds from divestitures — — 51,893
Payments for acquisition of Lightning Diversion Systems,
LLC, net of cash acquired — (59,798) —
Payments for acquisition of Certified Thermoplastics Co.,
LLC, net of cash acquired (30,712) — —

Net Cash (Used in) Provided by Investing Activities (47,933) (86,207) 34,908
Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Borrowings from senior secured revolving credit facility 296,400 395,900 71,800
Repayment of senior secured revolving credit facility (354,500) (337,800) (71,800)
Borrowings from term loan 240,000 — —
Repayments of term loan (167,000) (10,000) (75,000)
Repayments of other debt — (3) (23)
Debt issuance costs (3,541) — —
Excess tax benefits from stock-based compensation — — 248
Net cash paid from issuance of common stock under stock
plans (1,550) (2,606) (1,423)

Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Financing Activities 9,809 45,491 (76,198)
Net (Decrease) Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 8,113 (5,282) 1,978
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Year 2,150 7,432 5,454
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year $ 10,263 $ 2,150 $ 7,432

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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DUCOMMUN INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business

We are a leading global provider of engineering and manufacturing services for high-performance products and high-cost-of 
failure applications used primarily in the aerospace and defense (“A&D”), industrial, medical, and other industries 
(collectively, “Industrial”). Our operations are organized into two primary businesses:  Electronic Systems segment and 
Structural Systems segment, each of which is a reportable operating segment. Electronic Systems designs, engineers and 
manufactures high-reliability electronic and electromechanical products used in worldwide technology-driven markets 
including A&D and Industrial end-use markets. Electronic Systems’ product offerings primarily range from prototype 
development to complex assemblies. Structural Systems designs, engineers and manufactures large, complex contoured 
aerostructure components and assemblies and supplies composite and metal bonded structures and assemblies. Structural 
Systems’ products are primarily used on commercial aircraft, military fixed-wing aircraft and military and commercial rotary-
wing aircraft. All reportable operating segments follow the same accounting principles. 

Basis of Presentation

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Ducommun Incorporated and its subsidiaries (“Ducommun,” 
the “Company,” “we,” “us” or “our”), after eliminating intercompany balances and transactions.

In the opinion of management, all adjustments, consisting of recurring accruals, have been made that are necessary to fairly 
state our consolidated financial position, statements of income, comprehensive income, and cash flows in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”).

Our fiscal quarters typically end on the Saturday closest to the end of March, June and September for the first three fiscal 
quarters of each year, and ends on December 31 for our fourth fiscal quarter. As a result of using fiscal quarters for the first 
three quarters combined with leap years, our first and fourth fiscal quarters can range between 12 1/2 weeks to 13 1/2 weeks 
while the second and third fiscal quarters remain at a constant 13 weeks per fiscal quarter.

Changes in Accounting Policies

We adopted ASC 606, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (“ASC 606”), on January 1, 2018. As a result, we changed 
our accounting policy for revenue recognition as detailed below and in Note 2, as well as other accounting policies as noted 
below.

We applied ASC 606 using the modified retrospective method (also known as the cumulative effect method) and therefore, 
recognized the cumulative effect of initially applying ASC 606 as an adjustment to the opening consolidated balance sheet at 
January 1, 2018. Therefore, the comparative information has not been adjusted and continues to be reported under the 
previous revenue recognition accounting standard, ASC 605, “Revenue Recognition” (“ASC 605”). The details of the 
significant changes and quantitative impact of the changes are described below and in Note 2.

Use of Estimates

Certain amounts and disclosures included in the consolidated financial statements required management to make estimates 
and judgments that affect the amount of assets, liabilities (including forward loss reserves), revenues and expenses, and 
related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. These estimates are based on historical experience and on various other 
assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making 
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results 
could differ from these estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform to current year’s presentation.
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Supplemental Cash Flow Information

(In thousands)
Years Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016

Interest paid $ 11,573 $ 7,307 $ 6,877
Taxes paid $ 316 $ 3,125 $ 9,778
Non-cash activities:

     Purchases of property and equipment not paid $ 824 $ 2,104 $ 3,241

Fair Value

Assets and liabilities that are measured, recorded or disclosed at fair value on a recurring basis are categorized using the fair 
value hierarchy. The fair value hierarchy has three levels based on the reliability of the inputs used to determine the fair 
value. Level 1, the highest level, refers to the values determined based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. 
Level 2 refers to fair values estimated using significant observable inputs. Level 3, the lowest level, includes fair values 
estimated using significant unobservable inputs.

We have money market funds and they are included as cash and cash equivalents. We also have interest rate cap hedge 
agreements and the fair value of the interest rate cap hedge agreements were determined using pricing models that use 
observable market inputs as of the balance sheet date, a Level 2 measurement. The interest rate cap hedge premium of $0.3 
million is included as other current assets and other assets.

There were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2, or Level 3 financial instruments in either 2018 or 2017.

Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents consist of highly liquid instruments purchased with original maturities of three months or less. These assets 
are valued at cost, which approximates fair value, which we classify as Level 1. See Fair Value above.

Derivative Instruments

We recognize derivative instruments on our consolidated balance sheets at their fair value. On the date that we enter into a 
derivative contract, we designate the derivative instrument as a fair value hedge, a cash flow hedge, a hedge of a net 
investment in a foreign operation, or a derivative instrument that will not be accounted for using hedge accounting methods. 
As of December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2017, all of our derivative instruments were designated as cash flow hedges.

We record changes in the fair value of a derivative instrument that is highly effective and that is designated and qualifies as a 
cash flow hedge in other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax until our earnings are affected by the variability of cash 
flows of the underlying hedge. We record any hedge ineffectiveness and amounts excluded from effectiveness testing in 
current period earnings within interest expense. We report changes in the fair values of derivative instruments that are not 
designated or do not qualify for hedge accounting in current period earnings. We classify cash flows from derivative 
instruments in the consolidated statements of cash flows in the same category as the item being hedged or on a basis 
consistent with the nature of the instrument. In 2018, we recorded the changes in the fair value of the derivative instruments 
that were highly effective and that was designated and qualified as cash flow hedges in other comprehensive income (loss), 
net of tax, of $0.4 million. Since a portion of our cash flow hedges mature on a quarterly basis, $0.3 million of realized loss 
was recorded in the consolidated statements of income in 2018.

When we determine that a derivative instrument is not highly effective as a hedge, we discontinue hedge accounting 
prospectively. In all situations in which we discontinue hedge accounting and the derivative instrument remains outstanding, 
we will carry the derivative instrument at its fair value on our consolidated balance sheets and recognize subsequent changes 
in its fair value in our current period earnings.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses from the inability of customers to make required 
payments. The allowance for doubtful accounts is evaluated periodically based on the aging of accounts receivable, the 
financial condition of customers and their payment history, historical write-off experience and other assumptions, such as 
current assessment of economic conditions.
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Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value with cost being determined using a moving average cost 
basis for raw materials and actual cost for work-in-process and finished goods. The majority of our inventory is charged to 
cost of sales as raw materials are placed into production and the related revenue is recognized. Inventoried costs include raw 
materials, outside processing, direct labor and allocated overhead, adjusted for any abnormal amounts of idle facility expense, 
freight, handling costs, and wasted materials (spoilage) incurred. We assess the inventory carrying value and reduce it, if 
necessary, to its net realizable value based on customer orders on hand, and internal demand forecasts using management’s 
best estimates given information currently available. As a result of adopting ASC 606 on January 1, 2018, where we utilized 
the modified retrospective method of adoption and we changed our revenue recognition for the majority of our revenue from 
point in time to over time, our inventory balance decreased significantly. For revenue contracts where revenue is recognized 
using the point in time method, inventory is not reduced until it is shipped or transfer of control to the customer has occurred. 
Our ending inventory consists of raw materials, work-in-process, and finished goods. See Note 2.

Production Cost of Contracts

Production cost of contracts includes non-recurring production costs, such as design and engineering costs, and tooling and 
other special-purpose machinery necessary to build parts as specified in a contract. Production costs of contracts are recorded 
to cost of sales using the over time revenue recognition model. We review the value of the production cost of contracts on a 
quarterly basis to ensure when added to the estimated cost to complete, the value is not greater than the estimated realizable 
value of the related contracts. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, production costs of contracts were $11.7 million and $11.2 
million, respectively.

Property and Equipment and Depreciation

Property and equipment, including assets recorded under capital leases, are recorded at cost. Depreciation and amortization 
are computed using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the related assets, or the lease term if shorter 
for leasehold improvements. Repairs and maintenance are charged to expense as incurred. We evaluate long-lived assets for 
recoverability considering undiscounted cash flows, when significant changes in conditions occur, and recognize impairment 
losses if any, based upon the fair value of the assets.

Goodwill

Goodwill is evaluated for impairment on an annual basis on the first day of the fourth fiscal quarter. If certain factors occur, 
including significant under performance of our business relative to expected operating results, significant adverse economic 
and industry trends, significant decline in our market capitalization for an extended period of time relative to net book value, 
a decision to divest individual businesses within a reporting unit, or a decision to group individual businesses differently, we 
may perform an impairment test prior to the fourth quarter. 

In the fourth quarter of 2018, the carrying amount of goodwill at the date of the most recent annual impairment evaluation for 
Electronic Systems and Structural Systems was $117.5 million and $18.6 million, respectively. As of the date of our 2018 
annual evaluation for goodwill impairment, we used a qualitative assessment including 1) margin of passing most recent step 
1 analysis, 2) earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization, 3) long-term growth rate, 4) analyzing material 
adverse factors/changes between valuation dates, 5) general macroeconomic factors, and 6) industry and market conditions, 
noting it was not more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount and thus, goodwill 
was not deemed impaired. 

Other Intangible Assets

We amortize acquired other intangible assets with finite lives over the estimated economic lives of the assets, ranging from 
10 to 18 years generally using the straight-line method. The value of other intangibles acquired through business 
combinations has been estimated using present value techniques which involve estimates of future cash flows. We evaluate 
other intangible assets for recoverability considering undiscounted cash flows, when significant changes in conditions occur, 
and recognize impairment losses, if any, based upon the estimated fair value of the assets.



Table of Contents

56

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, as reflected on the consolidated balance sheets under the equity section, was 
comprised of cumulative pension and retirement liability adjustments, net of tax, and change in net unrealized gains and 
losses on cash flow hedges, net of tax.

Revenue Recognition

Our customers typically engage us to manufacture products based on designs and specifications provided by the end-use 
customer. This will require the building of tooling and manufacturing first article inspection products (prototypes) before 
volume manufacturing. Contracts with our customers generally include a termination for convenience clause.

We have a significant number of contracts that are started and completed within the same year, as well as contracts derived 
from long-term agreements and programs that can span several years. We recognize revenue under ASC 606, which utilizes a 
five-step model. Further, we utilized the modified retrospective method (also known as the cumulative effect method) of 
adoption of ASC 606. See Note 2.

The definition of a contract under ASC 606 for us is typically defined as a customer purchase order as this is when we 
achieve enforceable right to payment. The majority of our contracts are firm fixed-price contracts. The deliverables within a 
customer purchase order are analyzed to determine the number of performance obligations. In addition, at times, in order to 
achieve economies of scale and based on our customer’s forecasted demand, we may build in advance of receiving a 
purchase order from our customers and in which case, we would not recognize revenue until we have received the customer 
purchase order.

A performance obligation is a promise in a contract to transfer a distinct good or service to the customer, and is the unit of 
account under ASC 606. A contract’s transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as 
revenue when, or as, the performance obligation is satisfied. The majority of our contracts have a single performance 
obligation as the promise to transfer the individual goods or services are highly interrelated or met the Series guidance. For 
contracts with multiple performance obligations, we allocate the contract transaction price to each performance obligation 
using our best estimate of the standalone selling price of each distinct good or service in the contract. The primary method 
used to estimate the standalone selling price is the expected cost plus a margin approach, under which we forecast our 
expected costs of satisfying a performance obligation and then add an appropriate margin for that distinct good or service.

The majority of our performance obligations are satisfied over time as work progresses. Typically, revenue is recognized over 
time using an input measure (i.e., costs incurred to date relative to total estimated costs at completion, also known as cost-to-
cost plus reasonable profit) to measure progress. Our typical revenue contract is a firm fixed price contract, and the cost of 
raw materials could make up a significant amount of the total costs incurred. As such, we believe using the total costs 
incurred input method would be the most appropriate method. While the cost of raw materials could make up a significant 
amount of the total costs incurred, there is a direct relationship between our inputs and the transfer of control of goods or 
services to the customer as in the event the customer invokes the termination for convenience clause, we would be entitled to 
costs incurred to date plus a reasonable profit. The majority of our revenues are recognized over time. Contract costs typically 
include labor, materials, and overhead.

Contract estimates are based on various assumptions to project the outcome of future events that can span multiple months or 
years. These assumptions include labor productivity and availability; the complexity of the work to be performed; the cost 
and availability of materials; and the performance of subcontractors.

As a significant change in one or more of these estimates could affect the profitability of our contracts, we review and update 
our contract-related estimates on a regular basis. We recognize adjustments in estimated profit on contracts under the 
cumulative catch-up method. Under this method, the impact of the adjustment on profit recorded to date is recognized in the 
period the adjustment is identified. Revenue and profit in future periods of contract performance is recognized using the 
adjusted estimate. If at any time the estimate of contract profitability indicates an anticipated loss on the contract, we 
recognize the total loss in the quarter it is identified.

The impact of adjustments in contract estimates on our operating earnings can be reflected in either operating costs and 
expenses or revenue. 

Net cumulative catch-up adjustments on profit recorded to date were not material for the year ended December 31, 2018.

Payments under long-term contracts may be received before or after revenue is recognized. When revenue is recognized 
before we bill our customer, a contract asset is created for the work performed but not yet billed. Similarly, when we receive 
payment before we ship our products to our customer, a contract liability is created for the advance or progress payment.
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Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities

Contract assets consist of our right to payment for work performed but not yet billed. Contract assets are transferred to 
accounts receivable when we ship the products to our customers and meet the shipping terms within the revenue contract. 
Contract liabilities consist of advance or progress payments received from our customers prior to the time transfer of control 
occurs plus the estimated losses on contracts.

Contract assets and contract liabilities from revenue contracts with customers are as follows:

(In thousands)
December 31,

2018
December 31,

2017

Contract assets $ 86,665 $ —
Contract liabilities $ 17,145 $ —

Remaining performance obligations is defined as customer placed purchase orders (“POs”) with firm fixed price and firm 
delivery dates. Our remaining performance obligations as of December 31, 2018 totaled $722.8 million. We anticipate 
recognizing an estimated 70% of our remaining performance obligations as revenue during the next 12 months with the 
remaining performance obligations being recognized in 2020 and beyond.

Revenue by Category

In addition to the revenue categories disclosed above, the following table reflects our revenue disaggregated by major end-
use market:

(In thousands)
Years Ended December 31, % of Net Revenues

Change 2018 2017 2018 2017

Consolidated Ducommun
Military and space $ 8,901 $ 276,659 $ 267,758 44.0% 48.0%
Commercial aerospace 68,101 304,455 236,354 48.4% 42.3%
Industrial (5,878) 48,193 54,071 7.6% 9.7%

Total $ 71,124 $ 629,307 $ 558,183 100.0% 100.0%

Electronic Systems
Military and space $ 3,684 $ 214,786 $ 211,102 63.6% 66.6%
Commercial aerospace 23,339 74,889 51,550 22.2% 16.3%
Industrial (5,878) 48,193 54,071 14.2% 17.1%

Total $ 21,145 $ 337,868 $ 316,723 100.0% 100.0%

Structural Systems
Military and space $ 5,217 $ 61,873 $ 56,656 21.2% 23.5%
Commercial aerospace 44,762 229,566 184,804 78.8% 76.5%

Total $ 49,979 $ 291,439 $ 241,460 100.0% 100.0%

Provision for Estimated Losses on Contracts

We record provisions for the total anticipated losses on contracts, considering total estimated costs to complete the contract 
compared to total anticipated revenues, in the period in which such losses are identified. The provisions for estimated losses 
on contracts require us to make certain estimates and assumptions, including those with respect to the future revenue under a 
contract and the future cost to complete the contract. Our estimate of the future cost to complete a contract may include 
assumptions as to changes in manufacturing efficiency, operating and material costs, and our ability to resolve claims and 
assertions with our customers. If any of these or other assumptions and estimates do not materialize in the future, we may be 
required to adjust the provisions for estimated losses on contracts. As a result of the adoption of ASC 606 on January 1, 2018, 
the definition of a revenue contract with a customer for us now has changed and is typically defined as a customer purchase 
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order. As such, in certain scenarios such as at the inception of a long-term agreement where our customer may be issuing 
purchase orders over the duration of the long-term agreement, we may be required to recognize anticipated losses on some of 
these contracts that would not have occurred under ASC 605. In addition, provision for estimated losses on contracts are now 
included as part of contract liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes is determined using an estimated annual effective tax rate, which is generally less than the 
U.S. federal statutory rate, primarily as a result of research and development (“R&D”) tax credits. Our effective tax rate may 
be subject to fluctuations during the year as new information is obtained, which may affect the assumptions used to estimate 
the annual effective tax rate, including factors such as valuation allowances against deferred tax assets, the recognition or 
derecognition of tax benefits related to uncertain tax positions, expected utilization of R&D tax credits and changes in or the 
interpretation of tax laws in jurisdictions where we conduct business.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized, using enacted tax rates, for the expected future tax consequences of 
temporary differences between the book and tax bases of recorded assets and liabilities, operating losses, and tax credit 
carryforwards. Deferred tax assets are evaluated quarterly and are reduced by a valuation allowance if it is more likely than 
not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized.

Tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return are recognized when it is more-likely-than-not, based on technical 
merits, to be sustained upon examination by taxing authorities. The amount recognized is measured as the largest amount of 
benefit that is greater than 50% likely of being realized upon ultimate settlement, including resolution of related appeals and/
or litigation process, if any.

On December 22, 2017, the United States (“U.S.”) enacted the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “2017 Tax Act”). The 2017 Tax 
Act represented major tax reform legislation that, among other provisions, reduced the U.S. corporate tax rate from 35.0% to 
21.0% effective January 1, 2018. In our consolidated financial statements included in our 2017 Annual Report on Form 10-K, 
we recognized provisional amounts for the income tax effects of the 2017 Tax Act which included $13.0 million of deferred 
income tax benefit recorded principally due to the re-measurement of the federal portion of our deferred tax assets and 
liabilities in accordance with SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 (“SAB 118”). SAB 118 provided SEC staff guidance 
regarding the application of Accounting Standards Codification (“ASC”) Topic 740, “Income Taxes,” in the reporting period 
in which the 2017 Tax Act became law and allowed a measurement period to make refinements and finalize the tax effects 
not exceed one year from the enactment date. During the fourth quarter of 2018, we finalized our accounting for the tax 
effects of the 2017 Tax Act. See Note 15 for further information.

Litigation and Commitments

In the normal course of business, we are defendants in certain litigation, claims and inquiries, including matters relating to 
environmental laws. In addition, we make various commitments and incur contingent liabilities. Management’s estimates 
regarding contingent liabilities could differ from actual results.

Environmental Liabilities

Environmental liabilities are recorded when environmental assessments and/or remedial efforts are probable and costs can be 
reasonably estimated. Generally, the timing of these accruals coincides with the completion of a feasibility study or our 
commitment to a formal plan of action. Further, we review and update our environmental accruals as circumstances change 
and/or additional information is obtained that reasonably could be expected to have a meaningful effect on the outcome of a 
matter or the estimated cost thereof.

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation

We measure and recognize compensation expense for share-based payment transactions to our employees and non-employees 
at their estimated fair value. The expense is measured at the grant date, based on the calculated fair value of the share-based 
award, and is recognized over the requisite service period (generally the vesting period of the equity award). The fair value of 
stock options are determined using the Black-Scholes-Merton (“Black-Scholes”) valuation model, which requires 
assumptions and judgments regarding stock price volatility, risk-free interest rates, and expected options terms. 
Management’s estimates could differ from actual results. The fair value of unvested stock awards is determined based on the 
closing price of the underlying common stock on the date of grant except for market condition awards for which the fair 
value was based on a Monte Carlo simulation model. 
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Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share are computed by dividing income available to common shareholders by the weighted-average 
number of common shares outstanding in each period. Diluted earnings per share are computed by dividing income available 
to common shareholders plus income associated with dilutive securities by the weighted-average number of common shares 
outstanding, plus any potential dilutive shares that could be issued if exercised or converted into common stock in each 
period.

The net earnings and weighted-average number of common shares outstanding used to compute earnings per share were as 
follows:
 

(In thousands, except per share data)
Years Ended December 31,

 2018 2017 2016

Net income $ 9,035 $ 20,077 $ 25,261
Weighted-average number of common shares outstanding

Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding 11,390 11,290 11,151
Dilutive potential common shares 269 268 148
Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding 11,659 11,558 11,299

Earnings per share
Basic $ 0.79 $ 1.78 $ 2.27
Diluted $ 0.77 $ 1.74 $ 2.24

Potentially dilutive stock options and stock units to purchase common stock, as shown below, were excluded from the 
computation of diluted earnings per share because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive. However, these shares may 
be potentially dilutive common shares in the future.

(In thousands)
Years Ended December 31,

 2018 2017 2016

Stock options and stock units 208 126 553

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

New Accounting Guidance Adopted in 2018

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-15, “Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Internal-Use Software (Topic 350-40):  
Customer's Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement that is a Service 
Contract” (“ASU 2018-15”), which align the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting 
arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred to develop or 
obtain internal-use software (and hosting arrangements that include an internal-use software license). Accordingly, the 
amendments require an entity (customer) in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract to follow the guidance in 
Subtopic 350-40 to determine which implementation costs to capitalize as an asset related to the service contract and which 
costs to expense. In addition, the amendments also require the entity (customer) to expense the capitalized implementation 
costs of a hosting arrangement that is a service contract over the term of the hosting arrangement, which includes reasonably 
certain renewals. The new guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods 
within those fiscal years, which will be our interim period beginning January 1, 2020. Early adoption is permitted, including 
adoption in any interim period, and thus, we have chosen to early adopt ASU 2018-15 beginning July 1, 2018. We utilized the 
prospective transition method of adoption which allows us to capitalize software implementation projects currently in 
process. The adoption of ASU 2018-15 resulted in capitalizing $0.2 million of implementation costs and included as other 
current assets on our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2018.

In February 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-02, “Income Statement - Reporting Comprehensive Income (Topic 220):  
Reclassification of Certain Tax Effects from Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (“AOCI”)” (“ASU 2018-02”), 
which provides financial statement preparers with an option to reclassify stranded income tax effects within AOCI to retained 
earnings in each period in which the effect of the change in U.S. federal corporate income tax rate in the Tax Cuts and Jobs 
Act (or portion thereof) is recorded. The new guidance was effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, and 
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interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption is permitted and we have chosen to early adopt ASU 2018-02 
beginning January 1, 2018. Further, in March 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-05, “Income Taxes (Topic 740):  
Amendments to SEC Paragraphs Pursuant to Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118” (“ASU 2018-05”), which amends certain 
SEC material in Topic 740 for the income tax accounting implications of the recently issued Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (“Tax 
Cuts and Jobs Act”). The new guidance was effective upon inclusion in the FASB Codification. The adoption of these 
standards resulted in reclassifying $1.3 million of income tax effects from AOCI to retained earnings during 2018 on our 
consolidated balance sheets. The income tax effects remaining in AOCI will be released into earnings as the related pre-tax 
AOCI amounts are reclassified to earnings.

In May 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-09, “Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718):  Scope of Modification 
Accounting” (“ASU 2017-09”), which provides clarity on determining which changes to the terms and conditions of share-
based payment awards require an entity to apply modification accounting under Topic 718. The new guidance was effective 
for us beginning January 1, 2018. The adoption of this standard did not have a significant impact on our consolidated 
financial statements.

In March 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-07, “Compensation - Retirement Benefits (Topic 715):  Improving the 
Presentation of Net Periodic Pension Cost and Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Costs” (“ASU 2017-07”), which requires 
an employer to report the service cost component in the same line item or items as other compensation costs arising from 
services rendered by the pertinent employees during the period. The other components of net benefit cost are required to be 
presented in the income statement separately from the service cost component and outside a subtotal of income from 
operations, if one is presented. If a separate line item or items are used to present the other components of net benefit cost, 
that line item or items must be appropriately described. If a separate line item or items are not used, the line item or items 
used in the income statement to present the other components of net benefit cost must be disclosed. The amendments also 
allow only the service cost component to be eligible for capitalization when applicable. The new guidance was effective for 
us beginning January 1, 2018. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial 
statements. See Note 12.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-01, “Business Combinations (Topic 805):  Clarifying the Definition of a 
Business” (“ASU 2017-01”), which clarifies the definition of a business with the objective of adding guidance to assist 
entities with evaluating whether transactions should be accounted for as acquisitions (or disposals) of businesses. The new 
guidance was effective for us beginning January 1, 2018. The adoption of this standard did not have a significant impact on 
our consolidated financial statements.

In August 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-15, “Statement of Cash Flows (Topic 230):  Classification of Certain Cash 
Receipts and Cash Payments” (“ASU 2016-15”), which addresses the following eight specific cash flow issues:  Debt 
prepayment or debt extinguishment costs; settlement of zero-coupon debt instruments or other debt instruments with coupon 
interest rates that are insignificant in relation to the effective interest rate of the borrowing; contingent consideration 
payments made after a business combination; proceeds from the settlement of insurance claims; proceeds from the settlement 
of corporate-owned life insurance policies (“COLIs”) (including bank-owned life insurance policies [“BOLIs”]); distributions 
received from equity method investees; beneficial interests in securitization transactions; and separately identifiable cash 
flows and application of the predominance principle. The new guidance was effective for us beginning January 1, 2018. The 
adoption of this standard did not have a significant impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606)” (“ASU 2014-09”), 
which outlines a new, single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with 
customers and supersedes most current revenue recognition guidance, including industry-specific guidance. This new revenue 
recognition model provides a five-step analysis in determining when and how revenue is recognized. It depicts the transfer of 
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration an entity expects to receive in exchange 
for those goods or services. Companies have the option of applying the provisions of ASU 2014-09 either retrospectively to 
each prior reporting period presented or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying this guidance 
recognized at the date of initial application. Additional guidance was issued subsequently as follows:

• December 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-20, “Technical Corrections and Improvements to Topic 606, Revenue 
from Contracts with Customers” (“ASU 2016-20”);

• May 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-12, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Narrow-Scope 
Improvements and Practical Expedients” (“ASU 2016-12”);

• May 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-11, “Revenue Recognition (Topic 605) and Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 
815): Rescission of SEC Guidance Because of Accounting Standards Updates 2014-09 and 2014-06 Pursuant to 
Staff Announcements at the March 3, 2016 EITF Meeting” (“ASU 2016-11”);
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• April 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-10, “Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606): Identifying 
Performance Obligations and Licensing” (“ASU 2016-10”); and

• August 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-14, “Revenue From Contracts With Customers (Topic 606)” (“ASU 
2015-14”).

All of this new guidance was effective for us beginning January 1, 2018. The cumulative impact to our retained earnings at 
January 1, 2018 was a net increase of $8.7 million. See Note 2.

Recently Issued Accounting Standards

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-14, “Compensation - Retirement Benefits - Defined Benefit Plans - General 
(Topic 715-20):  Disclosure Framework - Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Defined Benefit Plans” (“ASU 
2018-14”), which will remove disclosures that no longer are considered cost-beneficial, clarify the specific requirements of 
disclosures, and add disclosure requirements identified as relevant. The new guidance is effective for fiscal years ending after 
December 15, 2020 and no amendments are made to the interim disclosure requirements. Early adoption is permitted. We are 
evaluating the impact of this standard.

In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-13, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820):  Disclosure Framework - Changes to 
the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement” (“ASU 2018-13”), which should improve the effectiveness of fair 
value measurement disclosures by removing certain requirements, modifying certain requirements, and adding certain new 
requirements. The new guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods 
within those fiscal years, which will be our interim period beginning January 1, 2020. Early adoption is permitted. We are 
evaluating the impact of this standard.

In August 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-12, “Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815):  Targeted Improvements to 
Accounting for Hedging” (“ASU 2017-12”), which intends to improve and simplify accounting rules around hedge 
accounting. ASU 2017-12 refines and expands hedge accounting for both financial (i.e., interest rate) and commodity risks. In 
addition, it creates more transparency around how economic results are presented, both on the face of the financial statements 
and in the footnotes. The new guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim 
periods within those annual periods, which will be our interim period beginning January 1, 2019. Early adoption is permitted, 
including adoption in any interim period after the issuance of ASU 2017-12. We are evaluating the impact of this standard.

In January 2017, the FASB issued ASU 2017-04, “Intangibles - Goodwill and Other (Topic 350):  Simplifying the Test for 
Goodwill Impairment” (“ASU 2017-04”), which simplifies the subsequent measurement of goodwill, the amendments 
eliminate Step Two from the goodwill impairment test. The annual, or interim, goodwill impairment test is performed by 
comparing the fair value of a reporting unit with its carrying amount. An impairment charge should be recognized for the 
amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value; however, the loss recognized should not exceed 
the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. In addition, income tax effects from any tax deductible goodwill 
on the carrying amount of the reporting unit should be considered when measuring the goodwill impairment loss, if 
applicable. The amendments also eliminate the requirements for any reporting unit with a zero or negative carrying amount to 
perform a qualitative assessment and, if it fails that qualitative test, to perform Step Two of the goodwill impairment test. An 
entity still has the option to perform the qualitative assessment for a reporting unit to determine if the quantitative impairment 
test is necessary. The new guidance is effective for annual or interim goodwill impairment tests in fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted for interim or annual goodwill impairment tests performed on testing dates 
after January 1, 2017. We are evaluating the impact of this standard.

In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-13, “Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326):  Measurement of Credit 
Losses on Financial Instruments” (“ASU 2016-13”), which is intended to improve financial reporting by requiring timelier 
recording of credit losses on loans and other financial instruments held by financial institutions and other organizations. ASU 
2016-13 requires the measurement of all expected credit losses for financial assets held at the reporting date based on 
historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. Financial institutions and other 
organizations will now use forward-looking information to better inform their credit loss estimates. Many of the loss 
estimation techniques applied today will still be permitted, although the inputs to those techniques will change to reflect the 
full amount of expected credit losses. Organizations will continue to use judgment to determine which loss estimation method 
is appropriate for their circumstances. ASU 2016-13 requires enhanced disclosures to help investors and other financial 
statement users better understand significant estimates and judgments used in estimating credit losses, as well as the credit 
quality and underwriting standards of an organization’s portfolio. These disclosures include qualitative and quantitative 
requirements that provide additional information about the amounts recorded in the financial statements. The new guidance is 
effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2019, including interim periods within those fiscal years, which will 
be our interim period beginning January 1, 2020. We are evaluating the impact of this standard.
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In February 2016, the FASB issued ASU 2016-02, “Leases (Topic 842)” (“ASU 2016-02”), which requires lessees to present 
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet. Lessees are required to apply a modified retrospective transition 
approach for leases existing at, or entered into after, the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented in the 
financial statements. The new guidance is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim 
periods within those fiscal years, which will be our interim period beginning January 1, 2019. We have completed the 
assessment and gap identification phase and are nearing the completion of the implementation of a new lease accounting 
software package. The assessment and gap identification phase included gathering and analyzing our leases, and identifying 
potential gaps in our internal controls as a result of adopting ASU 2016-02. The new accounting standard will be adopted 
using the additional transition method. Under this method, the cumulative effect of applying the new guidance is recognized 
as an adjustment to certain captions on the balance sheet, including the opening balance of retained earnings in the first 
quarter of 2019, and the prior years’ financial information will be presented under the prior accounting standard, ASC 840, 
“Leases,” (“ASC 840”). In addition, we will be utilizing the various practical expedients available under the new accounting 
standard as follows:

• Short term (12 months or less) leases practical expedient;

• Package of three practical expedients;

• Existing or expired land easements assessment practical expedient;

• Separate lease and non-lease components practical expedient; and

• Sale and leaseback transactions before the effective date practical expedient.

We have periodically briefed our Audit Committee of the Board of Directors on the progress made towards the adoption of 
this lease accounting standard. Since we have not completed the implementation of the software solution, we currently are 
unable to determine the exact impact to our consolidated financial statements. As a result of electing to utilize the various 
practical expedients available under this new accounting standard, we anticipate the number of our leases that will be 
recorded onto our consolidated balance sheets will not be significant, however, the amounts that will be recorded will have a 
significant impact on various line items on our consolidated balance sheets and we are evaluating the impact on our income 
statements and cash flow statements. Additional guidance was issued subsequently as follows:

• July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-11, “Leases (Topic 842):  Targeted Improvements” (“ASU 2018-11”);

• July 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-10, “Codification Improvements to Topic 842, Leases” (“ASU 2018-10”); 
and

• January 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-01, “Leases (Topic 842):  Land Easement Practical Expedient for 
Transition to Topic 842” (“ASU 2018-01”).

All of this new guidance is effective for us beginning January 1, 2019.
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Note 2. Adoption of Accounting Standards Codification 606

We adopted ASC 606 with an initial application as of January 1, 2018. We utilized the modified retrospective method, under 
which the cumulative effect of initially applying the new guidance is recognized as an adjustment to certain captions on the 
consolidated balance sheet, including the opening balance of retained earnings in the year ended December 31, 2018.

The net impact to the various captions on our January 1, 2018 opening consolidated balance sheets was as follows:

(In thousands)
December 31,

2017
January 1,

2018

Unaudited Consolidated Balance Sheets

Balances
Without

Adoption of
ASC 606

Effect of
Adoption

Balances With
Adoption of

ASC 606

Assets
Contract assets $ — $ 68,739 $ 68,739
Inventories $ 122,161 $ (39,002) $ 83,159
Non-current deferred income taxes $ 261 $ (95) $ 166
Liabilities
Contract liabilities $ — $ 24,460 $ 24,460
Accrued liabilities $ 28,329 $ (6,091) $ 22,238
Non-current deferred income taxes $ 15,981 $ 2,608 $ 18,589
Shareholders’ Equity
Retained earnings $ 161,364 $ 8,665 $ 170,029

Under ASC 606, we no longer net progress payments from customers related to inventory purchases against inventories but 
instead, they are included in contract liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. See Note 5.

The net impact to retained earnings as a result of adopting ASC 606 on the January 1, 2018 opening balance sheet was shown 
as a change in “other” on the consolidated statements of cash flows.
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The following tables summarize the impact of adopting ASC 606 on our consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2018 (in thousands, except per share data):

December 31, 2018

Consolidated Balance Sheets As Reported
Effect of
Adoption

Balances
Without

Adoption of
ASC 606

Assets
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 10,263 $ — $ 10,263
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $1,135 at
December 31, 2018 67,819 — 67,819
Contract assets 86,665 (86,665) —
Inventories 101,125 57,527 158,652
Production cost of contracts 11,679 — 11,679
Other current assets 9,839 1,085 10,924

Total Current Assets 287,390 (28,053) 259,337
Property and equipment, net 107,045 — 107,045
Goodwill 136,057 — 136,057
Intangibles, net 112,092 — 112,092
Non-current deferred income taxes 308 8 316
Other assets 5,251 — 5,251
Total Assets $ 648,143 $ (28,045) $ 620,098
Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable $ 69,274 $ — $ 69,274
Contract liabilities 17,145 (17,145) —
Accrued liabilities 37,786 4,994 42,780
Current portion of long-term debt 2,330 — 2,330

Total Current Liabilities 126,535 (12,151) 114,384
Long-term debt, less current portion 226,961 — 226,961
Non-current deferred income taxes 18,070 (2,570) 15,500
Other long-term liabilities 19,752 — 19,752

Total Liabilities 391,318 (14,721) 376,597
Commitments and contingencies (Notes 13, 16)
Shareholders’ Equity

Common stock - $0.01 par value; 35,000,000 shares authorized;
11,417,863 shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2018 114 — 114
Additional paid-in capital 83,712 — 83,712
Retained earnings 180,356 (13,324) 167,032
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (7,357) — (7,357)

Total Shareholders’ Equity 256,825 (13,324) 243,501
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 648,143 $ (28,045) $ 620,098
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Year Ended December 31, 2018

Consolidated Statements of Income
As

Reported
Effect of
Adoption

Balances
Without

Adoption of
ASC 606

Net Revenues $629,307 $ (15,712) $613,595
Cost of Sales 506,711 (11,458) 495,253
Gross Profit 122,596 (4,254) 118,342
Selling, General and Administrative Expenses 84,007 — 84,007
Restructuring Charges 14,671 — 14,671
Operating Income 23,918 (4,254) 19,664
Interest Expense (13,024) (1,526) (14,550)
Loss on Extinguishment of Debt (926) — (926)
Other Income 303 — 303
Income Before Taxes 10,271 (5,780) 4,491
Income Tax Expense 1,236 (1,120) 116
Net Income $ 9,035 $ (4,660) $ 4,375
Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share $ 0.79 $ 0.38
Diluted earnings per share $ 0.77 $ 0.38

Weighted-Average Number of Common Shares Outstanding

Basic 11,390 11,390
Diluted 11,659 11,659

Year Ended December 31, 2018

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
As

Reported
Effect of
Adoption

Balances
Without

Adoption of
ASC 606

Net Income $ 9,035 $ (4,660) $ 4,375
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Tax:

Amortization of actuarial losses included in net income, net of tax benefit of $173,
for the year ended December 31, 2018 570 — 570
Actuarial loss arising during the period, net of tax benefit of $302, for the year ended
December 31, 2018 (899) — (899)
Change in unrealized gains on cash flow hedges, net of tax of $121 for the year
ended December 31, 2018 407 — 407
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss), Net of Tax 78 — 78

Comprehensive Income $ 9,113 $ (4,660) $ 4,453
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Year Ended December 31, 2018

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows As Reported
Effect of
Adoption

Balances
Without

Adoption of
ASC 606

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net Income $ 9,035 $ (4,660) $ 4,375
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:
Depreciation and amortization 25,296 — 25,296
Property and equipment impairment due to restructuring 6,207 — 6,207
Stock-based compensation expense 5,040 — 5,040
Deferred income taxes 2,042 (2,578) (536)
Provision for doubtful accounts 267 — 267
Noncash loss on extinguishment of debt 926 — 926
Other 11,659 (8,364) 3,295
Changes in Assets and Liabilities:

Accounts receivable 7,495 — 7,495
Contract assets (86,665) 86,665 —
Inventories 23,243 (57,527) (34,284)
Production cost of contracts (1,569) — (1,569)
Other assets 1,881 (1,084) 797
Accounts payable 18,496 — 18,496
Contract liabilities 17,145 (17,145) —
Accrued and other liabilities 5,739 4,693 10,432

Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 46,237 — 46,237
Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Purchases of property and equipment (17,617) — (17,617)
Proceeds from sale of assets 396 — 396
Payments for purchase of Certified Thermoplastics Co., LLC, net of
cash acquired (30,712) — (30,712)

Net Cash Used in Investing Activities (47,933) — (47,933)
Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Borrowings from senior secured revolving credit facility 296,400 — 296,400
Repayments of senior secured revolving credit facility (354,500) — (354,500)
Borrowings from term loan 240,000 — 240,000
Repayments of term loan (167,000) — (167,000)
Debt issuance costs (3,541) — (3,541)
Net cash paid upon issuance of common stock under stock plans (1,550) — (1,550)

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities 9,809 — 9,809
Net Increase in Cash and Cash Equivalents 8,113 — 8,113
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period 2,150 — 2,150
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period $ 10,263 $ — $ 10,263



Table of Contents

67

Year Ended December 31, 2018

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity As Reported
Effect of
Adoption

Balances
Without

Adoption of
ASC 606

Net Income $ 9,035 $ (4,660) $ 4,375
Other Comprehensive Loss, Net of Tax $ 78 $ — $ 78
Adoption of ASC 606 Adjustment $ 8,665 $ (8,665) $ —
Adoption of ASU 2018-02 adjustment $ (26) $ — $ (26)
Stock Options Exercised $ 1,822 $ — $ 1,822
Stock Repurchased Related to the Exercise of Stock Options $ (6,345) $ — $ (6,345)
Stock Awards Vested $ 2,973 $ — $ 2,973
Stock-Based Compensation $ 5,040 $ — $ 5,040

Note 3. Business Combinations

Certified Thermoplastics Co., LLC

On April 23, 2018, we acquired 100.0% of the outstanding equity interests of Certified Thermoplastics Co., LLC (“CTP”), a 
privately-held leader in precision profile extrusions and extruded assemblies of engineered thermoplastic resins, compounds, 
and alloys for a wide range of commercial aerospace, defense, medical, and industrial applications. CTP is located in Santa 
Clarita, California. The acquisition of CTP was part of our strategy to diversify towards more customized, higher value, 
engineered products with greater aftermarket potential.

The purchase price for CTP was $30.7 million, net of cash acquired, all payable in cash. We allocated the gross purchase 
price of $30.8 million to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at estimated fair values. The excess of the purchase price 
over the aggregate fair values of the net assets was recorded as goodwill.

The following table summarizes the estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of 
acquisition (in thousands):

Estimated
Fair Value

Cash $ 98
Accounts receivable 1,517
Inventories 2,207
Other current assets 27
Property and equipment 603
Intangible assets 8,100
Goodwill 18,622
Total assets acquired 31,174
Current liabilities (364)
Total liabilities assumed (364)

Total purchase price allocation $ 30,810

Useful Life
(In years)

Estimated
Fair Value

(In thousands)

Intangible assets:
Customer relationships 10 $ 6,900
Trade names and trademarks 10 1,200

$ 8,100

The intangible assets acquired of $8.1 million were determined based on the estimated fair values using valuation techniques 
consistent with the income approach to measure fair value. The useful lives were estimated based on the underlying 
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agreements or the future economic benefit expected to be received from the assets. The fair values of the identifiable 
intangible assets were estimated using several valuation methodologies, which represented Level 3 fair value measurements. 
The value for customer relationships was estimated based on a multi-period excess earnings approach, while the value for 
trade names and trademarks was assessed using the relief from royalty methodology.

The goodwill of $18.6 million arising from the acquisition is attributable to the benefits we expect to derive from expected 
synergies from the transaction, including complementary products that will enhance our overall product portfolio, 
opportunities within new markets, and an acquired assembled workforce. All the goodwill was assigned to the Structural 
Systems segment. Since the CTP acquisition, for tax purposes, was deemed an asset acquisition, the goodwill recognized is 
deductible for income tax purposes.

Acquisition related transaction costs are not included as components of consideration transferred but have been expensed as 
incurred. Total acquisition-related transaction costs incurred by us were $0.6 million during 2018 and charged to selling, 
general and administrative expenses. 

CTP’s results of operations have been included in our consolidated statements of income since the date of acquisition as part 
of the Structural Systems segment. Pro forma results of operations of the CTP acquisition have not been presented as the 
effect of the CTP acquisition was not material to our financial results.

Lightning Diversion Systems, LLC

In September 2017, we acquired 100.0% of the outstanding equity interests of Lightning Diversion Systems, LLC (“LDS”), a 
privately-held, worldwide leader in lightning protection systems serving the aerospace and defense industries, located in 
Huntington Beach, California. The acquisition of LDS was part of our strategy to enhance revenue growth by focusing on 
advanced proprietary technology on various aerospace and defense platforms. 

The purchase price for LDS was $60.0 million, net of cash acquired, all payable in cash. We allocated the gross purchase 
price of $62.0 million to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at estimated fair values. The estimated fair value of the 
assets acquired included $22.4 million of intangible assets, $2.2 million of cash, $1.7 million of inventories, $0.9 million of 
accounts receivable, $0.1 million of property and equipment, $0.1 million of other current assets, and $0.3 million of 
liabilities assumed. The excess of the purchase price over the aggregate fair values of $34.9 million was recorded as 
goodwill. The intangible assets acquired were comprised of $21.1 million for customer relationships and $1.3 million for 
trade name, both of which were assigned an estimated useful life of 15 years. All the goodwill was assigned to the Electronic 
Systems segment. Since the LDS acquisition, for tax purposes, was deemed an asset acquisition, the goodwill recognized was 
deductible for income tax purposes.

LDS’ results of operations have been included in our consolidated statements of income since the date of acquisition as part 
of the Electronic Systems segment. 

Note 4. Restructuring Activities

Summary of 2017 Restructuring Plan

In November 2017, management approved and commenced a restructuring plan that was intended to increase operating 
efficiencies. We have recorded cumulative expenses of $23.6 million through December 31, 2018, with $8.8 million recorded 
during 2017. 

In the Electronic Systems segment, we have recorded $2.6 million during 2018 and cumulative expenses of $3.8 million for 
severance and benefits which were classified as restructuring charges. We recorded during 2018 and on a cumulative basis, 
expenses of $0.9 million for loss on early exit from lease termination which was classified as restructuring charges. We also 
recorded during 2018 and on a cumulative basis, other expenses of $0.9 million which were classified as restructuring 
charges. In addition, we recorded during 2018 and on a cumulative basis, expenses of $0.2 million for professional service 
fees which were classified as restructuring charges. Further, we recorded during 2018 and on a cumulative basis, non-cash 
expenses of $0.1 million for inventory write down which were classified as cost of sales. Finally, we recorded during 2018 
and on a cumulative basis, non-cash expenses of $0.1 million for property and equipment impairment which were classified 
as restructuring charges.

In the Structural Systems segment, we have recorded $1.3 million during 2018 and cumulative expenses of $3.0 million for 
severance and benefits which were classified as restructuring charges. We recorded $6.2 million during 2018 and on a 
cumulative basis, non-cash expenses of $9.8 million for property and equipment impairment which were classified as 
restructuring charges. We also recorded during 2018 and on a cumulative basis, non-cash expenses of $0.5 million for 
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inventory write down which were classified as cost of sales. In addition, we recorded during 2018 and on a cumulative basis, 
other expenses of $0.4 million which were classified as restructuring charges.

In Corporate, we have recorded $1.0 million during 2018 and cumulative expenses of $1.4 million for severance and benefits 
which was classified as restructuring charges. We recorded $0.1 million during 2018 and on a cumulative basis, non-cash 
expenses of $1.4 million for stock-based compensation awards which were modified, all of which were classified as 
restructuring charges. In addition, we recorded during 2018 and on a cumulative basis, expenses of $1.0 million for 
professional service fees which were classified as restructuring charges.

As of December 31, 2018, we have accrued $2.8 million, $0.9 million, and $0.3 million for severance and benefits, 
professional service fees, and loss on early exit from lease in the Electronic Systems segment, Structural Systems segment, 
and Corporate, respectively.

Our restructuring activities for 2018 and 2017 were as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2017 2018

December 31,
2018

Balance Charges
Cash

Payments
Non-Cash
Payments

Change in
Estimates Balance

Severance and benefits $ 2,659 $ 5,018 $ (4,346) $ — $ (700) $ 2,631
Modification of stock-based compensation
awards

— 105 — (105) — —

Lease termination 66 864 (69) — — 861
Property and equipment impairment due to
restructuring

— 6,207 — (6,207) — —

Professional service fees — 1,165 (1,122) — — 43
Other — 1,312 (896) — — 416
Total charged to restructuring charges 2,725 14,671 (6,433) (6,312) (700) 3,951
Inventory reserve — 121 — — (71) 50
Total charged to cost of sales — 121 — — (71) 50
Ending balance $ 2,725 $ 14,792 $ (6,433) $ (6,312) $ (771) $ 4,001

Note 5. Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following: 
 

(In thousands)
December 31,

2018 2017

Raw materials and supplies $ 89,767 $ 65,221
Work in process 9,199 62,584
Finished goods 2,159 10,665

101,125 138,470
Less progress payments — 16,309

Total $ 101,125 $ 122,161

The December 31, 2017 balances were prior to the adoption of ASC 606 and as such, we netted progress payments from 
customers related to inventory purchases against inventories on the consolidated balance sheets. See Note 2.
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Note 6. Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net consisted of the following:
 

(In thousands)
December 31,

Range of
Estimated

2018 2017 Useful Lives

Land $ 15,662 $ 15,662
Buildings and improvements 57,642 57,024 5 - 40 Years
Machinery and equipment 160,163 146,175 2 - 20 Years
Furniture and equipment 19,676 21,127 2 - 10 Years
Construction in progress 8,742 13,480

261,885 253,468
Less accumulated depreciation 154,840 143,216

Total $ 107,045 $ 110,252

Depreciation expense was $13.5 million, $13.2 million and $13.3 million, for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 
2016, respectively.

 
Note 7. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill

The carrying amounts of goodwill, by operating segment, for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 were as follows: 

 (In thousands)
Electronic
Systems

Structural
Systems

Consolidated
Ducommun

Gross goodwill $ 199,157 $ — $ 199,157
Accumulated goodwill impairment (81,722) — (81,722)
Balance at December 31, 2017 117,435 — 117,435
Goodwill from acquisition during the period — 18,622 18,622
Balance at December 31, 2018 $ 117,435 $ 18,622 $ 136,057

We perform our annual goodwill impairment test as of the first day of the fourth quarter. If certain factors occur, including 
significant under performance of our business relative to expected operating results, significant adverse economic and 
industry trends, significant decline in our market capitalization for an extended period of time relative to net book value, a 
decision to divest individual businesses within a reporting unit, or a decision to group individual businesses differently, we 
may perform an impairment test prior to the fourth quarter. 

In the fourth quarter of 2018, the carrying amount of goodwill at the date of the most recent annual impairment evaluation for 
Electronic Systems and Structural Systems was $117.5 million and $18.6 million, respectively. As of the date of our 2018 
annual evaluation for goodwill impairment, we used a qualitative assessment including 1) margin of passing most recent step 
1 analysis, 2) earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation, and amortization, 3) long-term growth rate, 4) analyzing material 
adverse factors/changes between valuation dates, 5) general macroeconomic factors, and 6) industry and market conditions, 
noting it was not more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount and thus, goodwill 
was not deemed impaired. 

On April 23, 2018, we acquired 100.0% of the outstanding equity interests of CTP for a purchase price of $30.7 million, net 
of cash acquired. We allocated the gross purchase price of $30.8 million to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at 
estimated fair values. The excess of the purchase over the aggregate fair values was recorded as goodwill. See Note 3.

In September 2017, we acquired 100.0% of the outstanding equity interests of LDS for a purchase price of $60.0 million, net 
of cash acquired. We allocated the gross purchase price of $62.0 million to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at 
estimated fair values. The excess of the purchase over the aggregate fair values was recorded as goodwill. See Note 3.
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Other intangible assets are related to acquisitions, including CTP, and recorded at fair value at the time of the acquisition. 
Other intangible assets with finite lives are generally amortized on the straight-line method over periods ranging from 10 to 
18 years. Intangible assets are as follows:
 

(In thousands)
December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Wtd.
Avg
Life
(Yrs)

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying
Amount

Finite-lived assets
Customer relationships 17 $ 187,200 $ 77,824 $ 109,376 $ 180,300 $ 67,449 $ 112,851
Trade names 13 2,500 193 2,307 1,300 26 1,274
Contract renewal 14 1,845 1,625 220 1,845 1,493 352
Technology 15 400 211 189 400 184 216
Total $ 191,945 $ 79,853 $ 112,092 $ 183,845 $ 69,152 $ 114,693

The carrying amount of other intangible assets by operating segment as of December 31, 2018 and 2017 was as follows:
 

(In thousands)
December 31, 2018 December 31, 2017

Gross
Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying

Value Gross
Accumulated
Amortization

Net
Carrying

Value

Other intangible assets
Electronic Systems $ 164,545 $ 62,108 $ 102,437 $ 164,545 $ 52,688 $ 111,857
Structural Systems 27,400 17,745 9,655 19,300 16,464 2,836

Total $ 191,945 $ 79,853 $ 112,092 $ 183,845 $ 69,152 $ 114,693

Amortization expense of other intangible assets was $10.7 million, $9.3 million and $9.0 million for the years ended 
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016, respectively. Future amortization expense by operating segment is expected to be as 
follows:
 

(In thousands)

Electronic
Systems

Structural
Systems

Consolidated
Ducommun

2019 $ 9,419 $ 1,401 $ 10,820
2020 9,348 1,300 10,648
2021 9,287 1,191 10,478
2022 9,288 1,130 10,418
2023 9,287 1,072 10,359
Thereafter 55,808 3,561 59,369

$ 102,437 $ 9,655 $ 112,092
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Note 8. Accrued Liabilities

The components of accrued liabilities consisted of the following:
 

(In thousands)
December 31,

2018 2017

Accrued compensation $ 29,616 $ 18,925
Accrued income tax and sales tax 82 71
Customer deposits — 3,970
Provision for forward loss reserves — 1,226
Other 8,088 4,137

Total $ 37,786 $ 28,329

The December 31, 2017 balances of customer deposits and provision for forward losses were prior to the adoption of ASC 
606 and as such, classified as accrued liabilities rather than contract liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. See Note 2.

Note 9. Long-Term Debt

Long-term debt and the current period interest rates were as follows:

(In thousands)
December 31,

2018 2017

Term loan $ 233,000 $ 160,000
Revolving credit facility — 58,100

Total debt 233,000 218,100
Less current portion 2,330 —

Total long-term debt 230,670 218,100
Less debt issuance costs 3,709 2,045

Total long-term debt, net of debt issuance costs $ 226,961 $ 216,055
Weighted-average interest rate 4.71% 3.73%

Future long-term debt payments at December 31, 2018 were as follows:

(In thousands)

2019 $ 2,330
2020 2,330
2021 2,330
2022 2,330
2023 2,330
Thereafter 221,350

Total $ 233,000

On November 21, 2018, we completed new credit facilities to replace the Existing Credit Facilities. The new credit facilities 
consist of a $240.0 million senior secured term loan, which matures on November 21, 2025 (“New Term Loan”), and a 
$100.0 million senior secured revolving credit facility (“New Revolving Credit Facility”), which matures on November 21, 
2023 (collectively, the “New Credit Facilities”). 

The New Term Loan bears interest, at our option, at a rate equal to either (i) the Eurodollar Rate (defined as the London 
Interbank Offered Rate [“LIBOR”]) plus an applicable margin ranging from 3.75% to 4.00% per year or (ii) the Base Rate 
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(defined as the highest of [a] Federal Funds Rate plus 0.50%, [b] Bank of America’s prime rate, and [c] the Eurodollar Rate 
plus 1.00%) plus an applicable margin ranging from 3.75% to 4.00% per year, in each case based upon the consolidated total 
net adjusted leverage ratio, typically payable quarterly. In addition, the New Term Loan requires installment payments of 
0.25% of the outstanding principal balance of the New Term Loan amount on a quarterly basis.

The New Revolving Credit Facility bears interest, at our option, at a rate equal to either (i) the Eurodollar Rate (defined as 
LIBOR) plus an applicable margin ranging from 1.75% to 2.75% per year or (ii) the Base Rate (defined as the highest of [a] 
Federal Funds Rate plus 0.50%, [b] Bank of America’s prime rate, and [c] the Eurodollar Rate plus 1.00%) plus an applicable 
margin ranging from 0.75% to 1.75% per year, in each case based upon the consolidated total net adjusted leverage ratio, 
typically payable quarterly. The undrawn portion of the commitment of the New Revolving Credit Facility is subject to a 
commitment fee ranging from 0.200% to 0.300%, based upon the consolidated total net adjusted leverage ratio. 

Further, if we meet the annual excess cash flow threshold, we will be required to make excess flow payments. The annual 
mandatory excess cash flow payments will be based on (i) 50% of the excess cash flow amount if the adjusted leverage ratio 
is greater than 3.25 to 1.0, (ii) 25% of the excess cash flow amount if the adjusted leverage ratio is less than or equal to 3.25 
to 1.0 but greater than 2.50 to 1.0, and (iii) zero percent of the excess cash flow amount if the adjusted leverage ratio is less 
than or equal to 2.50 to 1.0. As of December 31, 2018, we were in compliance with all covenants required under the New 
Credit Facilities. 

We have been making periodic voluntary principal prepayments on our Existing Credit Facilities and in conjunction with the 
closing of the New Credit Facilities on November 21, 2018, we drew down $240.0 million on the New Term Loan, $7.9 
million on the New Revolving Credit Facility and used those proceeds along with current cash on hand to pay off the Existing 
Credit Facilities of $247.9 million. The New Term Loan replacing the term loan that was a part of the Existing Credit 
Facilities (“Existing Term Loan”) was considered an extinguishment of debt except for the portion related to a creditor that 
was part of the Existing Term Loan and the New Term Loan and in which case, it was considered a modification of debt. As a 
result, we expensed the portion of the unamortized debt issuance costs related to the Existing Term Loan that was considered 
an extinguishment of debt of $0.4 million. In addition, the New Revolving Credit Facility replacing the existing revolving 
credit facility that was part of the Existing Credit Facilities (“Existing Revolving Credit Facility”) was considered an 
extinguishment of debt except for the portion related to the creditors that were part of the Existing Revolving Credit Facility 
and the New Revolving Credit Facility and in which case, it was considered a modification of debt. As a result, we expensed 
the portion of the unamortized debt issuance costs related to the Existing Revolving Credit Facility that was considered an 
extinguishment of debt of $0.5 million. As such, an aggregate total loss on extinguishment of debt of $0.9 million was 
recorded in 2018.

Further, we incurred $3.5 million of new debt issuance costs that can be capitalized related to the New Credit Facilities, of 
which $1.7 million were allocated to the New Term Loan and the $1.8 million was allocated to the New Revolving Credit 
facility. The New Term Loan new debt issuance costs of $1.7 million and remaining unamortized Existing Term Loan debt 
issuance costs of $0.1 million, for an aggregate total of $1.8 million of debt issuance costs related to the New Term Loan 
were capitalized and are being amortized over the seven year life of the New Term Loan. The New Revolving Credit Facility 
new debt issuance costs of $1.8 million and remaining unamortized Existing Revolving Credit Facility debt issuance costs of 
$0.2 million, for an aggregate total of $2.0 million of debt issuance costs related to the New Revolving Credit Facility were 
capitalized and are being amortized over the five years life of the New Existing Revolving Credit Facility.

On April 23, 2018, we acquired Certified Thermoplastics Co., LLC (“CTP”) for a purchase price of $30.7 million, net of cash 
acquired, all payable in cash. We paid an aggregate of $30.8 million in cash by drawing down on the Existing Revolving 
Credit Facility. See Note 3.

In September 2017, we acquired LDS for a purchase price of $60.0 million, net of cash acquired, all payable in cash. Upon 
the closing of the transaction, we paid $61.4 million in cash by drawing down on the Revolving Credit Facility. The 
remaining $0.6 million was paid in October 2017 in cash, also by drawing down on the Revolving Credit Facility. See Note 3.

As of December 31, 2018, we had $99.7 million of unused borrowing capacity under the New Revolving Credit Facility, after 
deducting $0.3 million for standby letters of credit.

The New Credit Facilities were entered into by us (“Parent Company”) and guaranteed by all of our subsidiaries, other than 
two subsidiaries that were considered minor (“Subsidiary Guarantors”). The Subsidiary Guarantors jointly and severally 
guarantee the New Credit Facilities. The Parent Company has no independent assets or operations and therefore, no 
consolidating financial information for the Parent Company and its subsidiaries are presented.



Table of Contents

74

In October 2015, we entered into interest rate cap hedges designated as cash flow hedges with a portion of these interest rate 
cap hedges maturing on a quarterly basis, and a final quarterly maturity date of June 2020, in aggregate, totaling $135.0 
million of our debt. We paid a total of $1.0 million in connection with the interest rate cap hedges. See Note 1 for further 
information.

In December 2018, 2017, and 2016, we entered into agreements to purchase $2.2 million, $14.2 million, and $9.9 million of 
industrial revenue bonds (“IRBs”) issued by the city of Parsons, Kansas (“Parsons”) and concurrently, sold $2.2 million, 
$14.2 million, and $9.9 million of property and equipment (“Property”) to Parsons as well as entered into lease agreements to 
lease the Property from Parsons (“Lease”) with lease payments totaling $2.2 million, $14.2 million, and $9.9 million over the 
lease terms, respectively. The sale of the Property and concurrent lease back of the Property in December 2018, 2017, and 
2016 did not meet the sale-leaseback accounting requirements as a result of our continuous involvement with the Property 
and thus, the $2.2 million, $14.2 million, and $9.9 million in cash received from Parsons was not recorded as a sale but as a 
financing obligation, respectively. Further, the Lease included a right of offset so long as we continue to own the IRBs and 
thus, the financing obligations of $2.2 million, $14.2 million, and $9.9 million were offset against the $2.2 million, $14.2 
million, and $9.9 million, respectively, of IRBs assets and are presented net on the consolidated balance sheets with no 
impact to the consolidated statements of income or consolidated cash flow statements.

Note 10. Shareholders’ Equity

We are authorized to issue five million shares of preferred stock. At December 31, 2018 and 2017, no preferred shares were 
issued or outstanding.

 
Note 11. Stock-Based Compensation

Stock Incentive Compensation Plans

We currently have two stock incentive plans: i) the 2013 Stock Incentive Plan, as amended (the “2013 Plan”), which expires 
on May 2, 2028, provided that Incentive Stock Options may not be granted after February 21, 2028, and ii) the 2018 
Employee Stock Purchase Plan (“ESPP”). The 2013 Plan permit awards of stock options, restricted stock units, performance 
stock units and other stock-based awards to our officers, key employees and non-employee directors on terms determined by 
the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors (the “Compensation Committee”). The aggregate number of shares 
available for issuance under the 2013 Plan is 1,690,000. Under the 2013 Plan, no more than an aggregate of 337,693 shares 
are available for issue of stock-based awards other than stock options and stock appreciation rights after December 31, 2017. 
As of December 31, 2018, shares available for future grant under the 2013 Plan are 490,930. Prior to the adoption of the 2013 
Plan, we granted stock-based awards to purchase shares of our common stock under certain predecessor plans. No further 
awards can be granted under these predecessor plans.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The ESPP was adopted by the Board of Directors and approved by the shareholders in 2018, including 750,000 shares that 
can be awarded. The first offering period will begin on February 1, 2019. Under the ESPP, our employees who elect to 
participate have the right to purchase common stock at a 15% discount from the lower of the market value of the common 
stock at the beginning or the end of each six month offering period and the discount will be treated as compensation to those 
employees. Employees purchase common stock using payroll deductions, which may not exceed 10% of their eligible 
compensation and other limitations. The Compensation Committee administers the ESPP. As of December 31, 2018, there are 
750,000 shares available for future award grants.

Stock Options

In the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, we granted stock options to our officers and key employees of 
176,940, 129,400, and 123,500, respectively, with weighted-average grant date fair values of $12.87, $11.88, and $6.53, 
respectively. Stock options have been granted with an exercise price equal to the fair market value of our stock on the date of 
grant and expire not more than ten years from the date of grant. The stock options typically vest over a period of three or four 
years from the date of grant. The option price and number of shares are subject to adjustment under certain dilutive 
circumstances. If an employee terminates employment, the non-vested portion of the stock options will not vest and all rights 
to the non-vested portion will terminate completely. 
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Stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2018 were as follows:

Number
of Stock 
Options

Weighted-
Average
Exercise
Price Per 

Share

Weighted-
Average

Remaining
Contractual
Life (Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(in thousands)

Outstanding at January 1, 2018 306,225 $ 23.38
Granted 176,940 $ 33.41
Exercised (84,800) $ 21.48
Expired (6,075) $ 19.45
Forfeited (29,065) $ 28.90

Outstanding at December 31, 2018 363,225 $ 28.33 6.9 $ 2,934
Exerciseable at December 31, 2018 71,212 $ 23.09 3.8 $ 942

Changes in nonvested stock options for the year ended December 31, 2018 were as follows:

Number of
Stock Options

Weighted-
Average

Grant 
Date Fair 

Value

Nonvested at January 1, 2018 219,800 $ 11.07
     Granted 176,940 $ 12.87
     Vested (75,662) $ 10.71
     Forfeited (29,065) $ 11.54
Nonvested at December 31, 2018 292,013 $ 12.20

The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options represents the amount by which the market price of our common stock exceeds 
the exercise price of the stock option. The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options exercised for the years ended 
December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $1.3 million, $2.5 million, and $1.3 million, respectively. Cash received from stock 
options exercised for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017 and 2016 was $1.8 million, $4.3 million, and $2.1 million, 
respectively, with related tax benefits of $0.3 million, $0.9 million, and $0.5 million, respectively. The total amount of stock 
options vested and expected to vest in the future is 363,225 shares with a weighted-average exercise price of $28.33 and an 
aggregate intrinsic value of $2.9 million. These stock options have a weighted-average remaining contractual term of 6.9 
years.

The share-based compensation cost expensed for stock options for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 
(before tax benefits) was $0.9 million, $0.7 million, and $0.8 million, respectively, and is included in selling, general and 
administrative expenses on the consolidated income statements. At December 31, 2018, total unrecognized compensation 
cost (before tax benefits) related to stock options of $2.5 million is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period 
of 2.4 years. The total fair value of stock options vested during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 was $0.8 
million, $0.8 million, and $0.9 million, respectively.

We apply fair value accounting for stock-based compensation based on the grant date fair value estimated using a Black-
Scholes-Merton (“Black-Scholes”) valuation model. The assumptions used to compute the fair value of stock option grants 
under the Stock Incentive Plans for years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Risk-free interest rate 2.65% 1.75% 1.20%
Expected volatility 53.66% 50.37% 51.79%
Expected dividends — — —
Expected term (in months) 36 48 48
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We recognize compensation expense, net of an estimated forfeiture rate, on a straight-line basis over the requisite service 
period of the award. We have award populations with option vesting terms of three and four years. We estimate the forfeiture 
rate based on our historic experience, attempting to determine any discernible activity patterns. The expected life 
computation is based on historic exercise patterns and post-vesting termination behavior. The risk-free interest rate for 
periods within the contractual life of the award is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant. The 
expected volatility is derived from historical volatility of our common stock. We suspended payments of dividends after the 
first quarter of 2011.

Restricted Stock Units

We granted restricted stock units (“RSUs”) to certain officers, key employees and non-employee directors of 81,230, 
135,350, and 139,450 RSUs during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively, with weighted-average 
grant date fair values (equal to the fair market value of our stock on the date of grant) of $32.36, $28.97, and $15.97 per 
share, respectively. RSUs represent a right to receive a share of stock at future vesting dates with no cash payment required 
from the holder. The RSUs typically have a three year vesting term of 33%, 33% and 34% on the first, second and third 
anniversaries of the date of grant, respectively. If an employee terminates employment, their non-vested portion of the RSUs 
will not vest and all rights to the non-vested portion will terminate. 

Restricted stock unit activity for the year ended December 31, 2018 was as follows:

Number of
Restricted

Stock Units

Weighted-
Average

Grant 
Date Fair Value

Outstanding at January 1, 2018 185,344 $ 25.14
     Granted 81,230 $ 32.36
     Vested (89,513) $ 24.57
     Forfeited (19,124) $ 26.85
Outstanding at December 31, 2018 157,937 $ 28.96

The share-based compensation cost expensed for RSUs for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 (before tax 
benefits) was $2.1 million, $2.0 million, and $1.8 million respectively, and is included in selling, general and administrative 
expenses on the consolidated income statements. At December 31, 2018, total unrecognized compensation cost (before tax 
benefits) related to RSUs of $3.0 million is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.9 years. The total 
fair value of RSUs vested for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 was $2.7 million, $3.0 million, and $1.3 
million, respectively. The tax benefit realized from vested RSUs for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 was 
$0.6 million, $1.1 million, and $0.7 million, respectively.

Performance Stock Units

We granted performance stock awards (“PSUs”) to certain key employees of 64,700, 126,000, and 62,500 PSUs during the 
years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, respectively, with weighted-average grant date fair values of $35.16, 
$26.31, and $15.92 per share, respectively. PSU awards are subject to the attainment of performance goals established by the 
Compensation Committee, the periods during which performance is to be measured, and all other limitations and conditions 
applicable to the awarded shares. Performance goals are based on a pre-established objective formula that specifies the 
manner of determining the number of performance stock awards that will be granted if performance goals are attained. If an 
employee terminates employment, their non-vested portion of the PSUs will not vest and all rights to the non-vested portion 
will terminate. 
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Performance stock activity for the year ended December 31, 2018 was as follows:

Number of
Performance
Stock Units

Weighted-
Average

Grant 
Date Fair 

Value

Outstanding at January 1, 2018 221,500 $ 23.52
     Granted 64,700 $ 35.16
     Adjustment for target performance 3,000 $ 20.72
     Vested (9,146) $ 25.04
     Forfeited (43,354) $ 26.29
Outstanding at December 31, 2018 236,700 $ 26.21

The share-based compensation cost expensed for PSUs for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 (before tax 
benefits) was $1.9 million, $2.0 million and $0.4 million, respectively, and is included in selling, general and administrative 
expenses on the consolidated income statements. At December 31, 2018, total unrecognized compensation cost (before tax 
benefits) related to PSUs of $3.1 million is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 1.7 years. The total 
fair value of PSUs vested during the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016, was $0.3 million, $1.2 million, and 
$1.1 million, respectively. The tax benefit realized from PSUs for the years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 were 
$0.1 million, $0.5 million, and $0.2 million, respectively.

Note 12. Employee Benefit Plans

Supplemental Retirement Plans

We have three unfunded supplemental retirement plans. The first plan was suspended in 1986, but continues to cover certain 
former executives. The second plan was suspended in 1997, but continues to cover certain current and retired directors. The 
third plan covers certain current and retired employees and further employee contributions to this plan were suspended on 
August 5, 2011. The liability for the third plan and interest thereon is included in accrued employee compensation and long-
term liabilities and was $0.7 million and $0.1 million, respectively, at December 31, 2018 and $0.1 million and $0.7 million, 
respectively, at December 31, 2017. The accumulated benefit obligations of the first two plans at December 31, 2018 and 
December 31, 2017 were both $0.6 million, and are included in accrued liabilities.

Defined Contribution 401(K) Plans

We sponsor a 401(k) defined contribution plan for all our employees. The plan allows the employees to make annual 
voluntary contributions not to exceed the lesser of an amount equal to 25% of their compensation or limits established by the 
Internal Revenue Code. Under this plan, we generally provide a match equal to 50% of the employee’s contributions up to the 
first 6% of compensation, except for union employees who are not eligible to receive the match. Our provision for matching 
and profit sharing contributions for the three years ended December 31, 2018, 2017, and 2016 was $2.6 million, $2.7 million, 
and $2.7 million, respectively.

Other Plans

We have a defined benefit pension plan covering certain hourly employees of a subsidiary (the “Pension Plan”). Pension Plan 
benefits are generally determined on the basis of the retiree’s age and length of service. Assets of the Pension Plan are 
composed primarily of fixed income and equity securities. We also have a retirement plan covering certain current and retired 
employees (the “LaBarge Retirement Plan”). As part of the acquisition of CTP, we acquired their defined benefit pension plan 
(the “CTP Pension Plan”), which covers certain current and retired employees that was fully funded by CTP as of the 
acquisition date of April 23, 2018. The CTP Pension Plan has been suspended as of the acquisition date but continues to 
cover certain current and former CTP employees. The CTP Pension Plan gross assets, liabilities, and current year expense are 
immaterial for disclosure purposes. The CTP Pension Plan is in the process of being liquidated with a termination date of July 
31, 2018 and it may take up to 12 to 18 months to be completed.
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The components of net periodic pension cost for all three plans are as follows:

(In thousands)
Years Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016

Service cost $ 601 $ 531 $ 531
Interest cost 1,268 1,329 1,367
Expected return on plan assets (1,784) (1,530) (1,482)
Amortization of actuarial losses 743 810 762

Net periodic pension cost $ 828 $ 1,140 $ 1,178

The components of the reclassifications of net actuarial losses from accumulated other comprehensive loss to net income for 
2018 were as follows:

(In thousands)
Year Ended 

December 31,
2018

Amortization of actuarial loss - total before tax (1) $ 743
Tax benefit (173)
Net of tax $ 570

(1) The amortization expense is included in the computation of periodic pension cost and is a decrease to net income 
upon reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive loss.

The estimated net actuarial loss for both plans that will be amortized from accumulated other comprehensive loss into net 
periodic cost during 2019 is $0.9 million.
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The obligations, fair value of plan assets, and funded status of both plans are as follows:

(In thousands)
December 31,

2018 2017

Change in benefit obligation(1)

Beginning benefit obligation (January 1) $ 36,002 $ 33,154
Service cost 601 531
Interest cost 1,268 1,329
Actuarial (gain) loss (2,415) 2,449
Benefits paid (1,505) (1,461)
Ending benefit obligation (December 31) $ 33,951 $ 36,002
Change in plan assets
Beginning fair value of plan assets (January 1) $ 25,646 $ 22,015
Return on assets (1,951) 3,481
Employer contribution 1,559 1,611
Benefits paid (1,505) (1,461)
Ending fair value of plan assets (December 31) $ 23,749 $ 25,646
Funded status (underfunded) $ (10,202) $ (10,356)
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheet

Current liabilities $ 580 $ 560
Non-current liabilities $ 9,622 $ 9,796

Unrecognized loss included in accumulated other comprehensive loss
Beginning unrecognized loss, before tax (January 1) $ 8,908 $ 9,220
Amortization (743) (810)
Liability (gain) loss (2,415) 2,449
Asset loss (gain) 3,735 (1,951)
Ending unrecognized loss, before tax (December 31) 9,485 8,908
Tax impact (2,263) (3,309)
Unrecognized loss included in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax $ 7,222 $ 5,599

(1) Projected benefit obligation equals the accumulated benefit obligation for the plans.

On December 31, 2018, our annual measurement date, the accumulated benefit obligation exceeded the fair value of the plans 
assets by $10.2 million. Such excess is referred to as an unfunded accumulated benefit obligation. We recorded unrecognized 
loss included in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax at December 31, 2018 and 2017 of $7.2 million and $5.6 
million, respectively, which decreased shareholders’ equity. This charge to shareholders’ equity represents a net loss not yet 
recognized as pension expense. This charge did not affect reported earnings, and would be decreased or be eliminated if 
either interest rates increase or market performance and plan returns improve which will cause the Pension Plan to return to 
fully funded status.

Our Pension Plan asset allocations at December 31, 2018 and 2017, by asset category, were as follows:

December 31,
2018 2017

Equity securities 57% 70%
Cash and equivalents 1% 1%
Debt securities 42% 29%

Total(1) 100% 100%
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(1) Our overall investment strategy is to achieve an asset allocation within the following ranges to achieve an appropriate 
rate of return relative to risk.

Cash 0-5%
Fixed income securities 15-75%
Equities 30-80%

Pension Plan assets consist primarily of listed stocks and bonds and do not include any of the Company’s securities. The 
return on assets assumption reflects the average rate of return expected on funds invested or to be invested to provide for the 
benefits included in the projected benefit obligation. We select the return on asset assumption by considering our current and 
target asset allocation. We consider information from various external investment managers, forward-looking information 
regarding expected returns by asset class and our own judgment when determining the expected returns.

(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31, 2018

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and cash equivalents $ 153 $ — $ — $ 153
Fixed income securities 3,647 — — 3,647
Equities(1) 1,475 — — 1,475
Other investments 851 — — 851

Total plan assets at fair value $ 6,126 $ — $ — 6,126
Pooled funds 17,623
Total fair value of plan assets $ 23,749

(In thousands)
Year Ended December 31, 2017

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Cash and cash equivalents $ 135 $ — $ — $ 135
Fixed income securities 3,494 — — 3,494
Equities(1) 1,625 — — 1,625
Other investments 910 — — 910

Total plan assets at fair value $ 6,164 $ — $ — 6,164
Pooled funds 19,482
Total fair value of plan assets $ 25,646

(1) Represents mutual funds and commingled accounts which invest primarily in equities, but may also hold fixed 
income securities, cash and other investments. Commingled funds with publicly quoted prices and actively traded are 
classified as Level 1 investments.

Pooled funds are measured using the net asset value (“NAV”) as a practical expedient for fair value as permissible under the 
accounting standard for fair value measurements and have not been categorized in the fair value hierarchy in accordance with 
ASU 2015-07, “Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820):  Disclosures for Investments in Certain Entities That Calculate Net 
Asset Value per Share (or Its Equivalent).” Pooled fund NAVs are provided by the trustee and are determined by reference to 
the fair value of the underlying securities of the trust, less its liabilities, which are valued primarily through the use of directly 
or indirectly observable inputs. Depending on the pooled fund, underlying securities may include marketable equity securities 
or fixed income securities.

The assumptions used to determine the benefit obligations and expense for our two plans are presented in the tables below. 
The expected long-term return on assets, noted below, represents an estimate of long-term returns on investment portfolios 
consisting of a mixture of fixed income and equity securities. The estimated cash flows from the plans for all future years are 
determined based on the plans’ population at the measurement date. We used the expected benefit payouts from the plans for 
each year into the future and discounted them back to the present using the Wells Fargo yield curve rate for that duration.
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The weighted-average assumptions used to determine the net periodic benefit costs under the two plans were as follows:

Years Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Discount rate used to determine pension expense
Pension Plan 3.64% 4.18% 4.55%
LaBarge Retirement Plan 3.40% 3.75% 4.00%

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine the benefit obligations under the two plans were as follows:

December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Discount rate used to determine value of obligations
Pension Plan 4.23% 3.64% 4.18%
LaBarge Retirement Plan 4.00% 3.40% 3.75%

Long-term rate of return - Pension Plan only 7.00% 7.00% 7.50%

The following benefit payments under both plans, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected to be 
paid:

(In thousands)

Pension Plan

LaBarge
Retirement

Plan

2019 $ 1,206 $ 581
2020 1,282 561
2021 1,378 538
2022 1,479 512
2023 1,522 483
2024 - 2028 8,741 1,991

Our funding policy is to contribute cash to our plans so that the minimum contribution requirements established by 
government funding and taxing authorities are met. We expect to make contributions of $0.9 million to the plans in 2019.

 
Note 13. Indemnifications

We have made guarantees and indemnities under which we may be required to make payments to a guaranteed or 
indemnified party, in relation to certain transactions, including revenue transactions in the ordinary course of business. In 
connection with certain facility leases, we have indemnified our lessors for certain claims arising from the facility or the 
lease. We indemnify our directors and officers to the maximum extent permitted under the laws of the State of Delaware.

However, we have a directors and officers insurance policy that may reduce our exposure in certain circumstances and may 
enable us to recover a portion of future amounts that may be payable, if any. The duration of the guarantees and indemnities 
varies and, in many cases is indefinite but subject to statute of limitations. The majority of guarantees and indemnities do not 
provide any limitations of the maximum potential future payments we could be obligated to make. Historically, payments 
related to these guarantees and indemnities have been immaterial. We estimate the fair value of our indemnification 
obligations as insignificant based on this history and insurance coverage and have, therefore, not recorded any liability for 
these guarantees and indemnities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
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Note 14. Leases

We lease certain facilities and equipment for periods ranging from one to ten years. The leases generally are renewable and 
provide for the payment of property taxes, insurance and other costs relative to the property. Rental expense in 2018, 2017, 
and 2016 was $5.3 million, $5.0 million, and $4.9 million, respectively. Future minimum rental payments under operating 
leases having initial or remaining non-cancelable terms in excess of one year at December 31, 2018 were as follows:

(In thousands)

2019 $ 3,680
2020 3,405
2021 2,789
2022 1,404
2023 980
Thereafter 580

Total $ 12,838

 
Note 15. Income Taxes

Our pre-tax income attributable to foreign operations was not material. The provision for income tax (benefit) expense 
consisted of the following:

(In thousands)
Years Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016

Current tax expense
Federal $ 474 $ 2,387 $ 5,953
State 1,260 525 2,982

1,734 2,912 8,935
Deferred tax (benefit) expense

Federal (789) (15,515) 3,876
State 291 135 41

(498) (15,380) 3,917
Income tax expense (benefit) $ 1,236 $ (12,468) $ 12,852

On December 22, 2017, the U. S. enacted the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “2017 Tax Act”) which, among a broad range of tax 
reform measures, reduced the U.S. corporate tax rate from 35.0% to 21.0% effective January 1, 2018. The reduction in the 
corporate tax rate required the federal portion of our deferred tax assets and liabilities at December 31, 2017 to be re-
measured at the enacted tax rate expected to apply when the temporary differences are to be realized or settled using 21.0%. 
As a result, we recorded a provisional deferred income tax benefit of $13.0 million related to the re-measurement for the year 
ended December 31, 2017. SEC Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118, “Income Tax Accounting Implications of the Tax Cuts 
and Jobs Act” (“SAB 118”), allowed us to record provisional amounts during a measurement period not to extend beyond one 
year of the enactment date. Since the 2017 Tax Act was passed late in the fourth quarter of 2017, and ongoing tax guidance 
and accounting interpretation were expected during 2018, we considered the accounting of the deferred tax re-measurement 
and other items to be incomplete as of December 31, 2017. Based on our review of proposed tax regulations and related 
guidance issued and available as of December 22, 2018, we determined that no refinements were needed to the tax positions 
and provisional amounts recorded in the fourth quarter of 2017 and finalized the accounting of the tax effects of the 2017 Tax 
Act as of December 31, 2018.

ASU 2016-09, “Compensation - Stock Compensation (Topic 718):  Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment 
Accounting” (“ASU 2016-09”), became effective beginning January 1, 2017 and required all the tax effects related to share-
based payments be recorded through the income statement. We recognized net income tax benefits from deductions of share-
based payments in excess of compensation cost recognized for financial reporting purposes of $0.2 million and $0.6 million 
for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. Prior to January 1, 2017, the current income tax expense 
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(benefit) excluded net (tax shortfalls) excess tax benefits which were previously recorded directly to additional paid-in-capital 
in the amount of $(0.1) million for the year ended December 31, 2016.

Deferred tax (liabilities) assets were comprised of the following:

(In thousands)
December 31,

2018 2017

Deferred tax assets:
Accrued expenses $ 704 $ 313
Allowance for doubtful accounts 267 208
Contract overrun reserves 1,263 294
Deferred compensation 302 177
Employment-related accruals 4,252 2,091
Environmental reserves 479 501
Federal tax credit carryforwards 288 5,613
Inventory reserves 1,757 1,315
Pension obligation 2,324 2,398
State net operating loss carryforwards 51 86
State tax credit carryforwards 9,075 9,051
Stock-based compensation 1,661 1,480
Workers’ compensation 51 75
Other 1,538 1,492
Total gross deferred tax assets 24,012 25,094
Valuation allowance (9,083) (9,013)
Total gross deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance 14,929 16,081

Deferred tax liabilities:
Deferred revenue (649) —
Depreciation (7,951) (7,976)
Goodwill (3,963) (2,902)
Intangibles (19,905) (20,611)
Prepaid insurance (223) (312)
Total gross deferred tax liabilities (32,691) (31,801)

Net deferred tax liabilities $ (17,762) $ (15,720)

We have net operating losses in various states of $2.0 million as of December 31, 2018. The state net operating loss 
carryforwards include $1.9 million that is not expected to be realized under ASC Subtopic 740-10 and has been reduced by a 
valuation allowance. If not realized, the state net operating loss carryforwards will begin to expire in 2030. 

We have federal and state tax credit carryforwards of $2.6 million and $13.0 million, respectively, as of December 31, 2018. 
A valuation allowance of $11.5 million has been provided on state tax credit carryforwards that are not expected to be 
realized under ASC Subtopic 740-10. If not realized, the federal and state tax credit carryforwards will expire between 2019 
and 2038. 

We believe it is more likely than not that we will generate sufficient taxable income to realize the benefit of the remaining 
deferred tax assets.
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The principal reasons for the variation between the statutory and effective tax rates were as follows:

 Years Ended December 31,
 2018 2017 2016

Statutory federal income tax rate 21.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State income taxes (net of federal benefit) 5.3 2.5 5.7
Qualified domestic production activities — (2.6) (2.0)
Stock-based compensation expense (1.9) (8.2) —
Research and development tax credits (32.0) (50.6) (8.6)
Other tax credits (1.2) (7.5) —
Changes in valuation allowance 0.7 10.6 0.9
Non-deductible book expenses 8.2 1.1 0.2
Changes in deferred tax assets 12.1 15.4 1.5
Re-measurement of deferred taxes for 2017 Tax Act — (171.3) —
Changes in tax reserves 1.2 11.4 —
Other (1.4) 0.4 1.0
Effective income tax (benefit) rate 12.0% (163.8)% 33.7%

As a result of the 2017 Tax Act, we began utilizing the enacted U.S. corporate rate of 21.0% for the tax year 2018 and 
beyond.

Our total amount of unrecognized tax benefits was $5.3 million, $5.3 million, and $3.0 million at December 31, 2018, 2017, 
and 2016, respectively. We record interest and penalty charge, if any, related to uncertain tax positions as a component of tax 
expense and unrecognized tax benefits. The amounts accrued for interest and penalty charges as of December 31, 2018, 2017, 
and 2016 were not significant. If recognized, $3.6 million would affect the effective income tax rate. We do not reasonably 
expect significant increases or decreases to our unrecognized tax benefits in the next twelve months.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits was as follows:

(In thousands)
Years Ended December 31,

2018 2017 2016

Balance at January 1, $ 5,271 $ 3,036 $ 2,963
Additions for tax positions related to the current year 419 422 476
Additions for tax positions related to prior years 92 1,953 385
Reductions for tax positions related to prior years (499) (99) (567)
Reductions for lapse of statute of limitations — (41) (221)
Balance at December 31, $ 5,283 $ 5,271 $ 3,036

We file U.S. Federal and state income tax returns. During the fourth quarter of 2017, the Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) 
completed the audit of tax years 2013, 2014, and 2015. Consequently, Federal income tax returns after 2015 are subject to 
examination. California franchise (income) tax returns after 2013 and other state income tax returns after 2013 are subject to 
examination. While we are no longer subject to examination prior to those periods, carryforwards generated prior to those 
periods may still be adjusted upon examination by the IRS or state taxing authority if they either have been or will be used in 
a subsequent period. We believe we have adequately accrued for tax deficiencies or reductions in tax benefits, if any, that 
could result from the examination and all open audit years.

 
Note 16. Contingencies

Structural Systems has been directed by California environmental agencies to investigate and take corrective action for 
groundwater contamination at its facilities located in El Mirage and Monrovia, California. Based on currently available 
information, Ducommun has established an accrual for its estimated liability for such investigation and corrective action of 
$1.5 million at December 31, 2018, which is reflected in other long-term liabilities on its consolidated balance sheet.
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Structural Systems also faces liability as a potentially responsible party for hazardous waste disposed at landfills located in 
Casmalia and West Covina, California. Structural Systems and other companies and government entities have entered into 
consent decrees with respect to these landfills with the United States Environmental Protection Agency and/or California 
environmental agencies under which certain investigation, remediation and maintenance activities are being performed. 
Based on currently available information, Ducommun preliminarily estimates that the range of its future liabilities in 
connection with the landfill located in West Covina, California is between $0.4 million and $3.1 million. Ducommun has 
established an accrual for its estimated liability in connection with the West Covina landfill of $0.4 million at December 31, 
2018, which is reflected in other long-term liabilities on its consolidated balance sheet. Ducommun’s ultimate liability in 
connection with these matters will depend upon a number of factors, including changes in existing laws and regulations, the 
design and cost of construction, operation and maintenance activities, and the allocation of liability among potentially 
responsible parties.

In the normal course of business, Ducommun and its subsidiaries are defendants in certain other litigation, claims and 
inquiries, including matters relating to environmental laws. In addition, Ducommun makes various commitments and incurs 
contingent liabilities. While it is not feasible to predict the outcome of these matters, Ducommun does not presently expect 
that any sum it may be required to pay in connection with these matters would have a material adverse effect on its 
consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

 
Note 17. Major Customers and Concentrations of Credit Risk

We provide proprietary products and services to the Department of Defense and various United States Government agencies, 
and most of the aerospace and aircraft manufacturers who receive contracts directly from the U.S. Government as an original 
equipment manufacturer (“Primes”). In addition, we also service technology-driven markets in the industrial, medical and 
other end-use markets. As a result, we have significant net revenues from certain customers. Accounts receivable were 
diversified over a number of different commercial, military and space programs and were made by both operating segments. 
Net revenues from our top ten customers, including The Boeing Company (“Boeing”), Lockheed Martin Corporation 
(“Lockheed Martin”), Raytheon Company (“Raytheon”), Spirit AeroSystems Holdings, Inc. (“Spirit”), and United 
Technologies Corporation (“United Technologies”), represented the following percentages of total net sales:

Years Ended December 31,
2018 2017 2016

Boeing 17.0% 16.3% 17.3%
Lockheed Martin 4.4% 5.5% 5.6%
Raytheon 11.7% 13.5% 8.4%
Spirit 9.5% 8.2% 8.2%
United Technologies 4.6% 4.7% 5.3%
Top ten customers (1) 62.9% 62.5% 58.7%

(1) Includes Boeing, Lockheed Martin, Raytheon, Spirit, and United Technologies.

Boeing, Lockheed Martin, Raytheon, Spirit, and United Technologies represented the following percentages of total accounts 
receivable:

December 31,
 2018 2017

Boeing 8.0% 7.8%
Lockheed Martin 2.5% 5.9%
Raytheon 3.2% 1.4%
Spirit —% 13.5%
United Technologies 2.5% 2.3%

In 2018, 2017 and 2016, net revenues from foreign customers based on the location of the customer were $71.9 million, 
$57.2 million and $56.4 million, respectively. No net revenues from a foreign country were greater than 3.0% of total net 
revenues in 2018, 2017, and 2016. We have manufacturing facilities in Thailand and Mexico. Our net revenues, profitability 
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and identifiable long-lived assets attributable to foreign revenues activity were not material compared to our net revenues, 
profitability and identifiable long-lived assets attributable to our domestic operations during 2018, 2017, and 2016. We are 
not subject to any significant foreign currency risks as all our sales are made in United States dollars.

 
Note 18. Business Segment Information

We supply products and services primarily to the aerospace and defense industries. Our subsidiaries are organized into two 
strategic businesses, Electronic Systems and Structural Systems, each of which is an operating segment as well as a 
reportable segment.

Financial information by reportable segment was as follows:

(In thousands)
Years Ended December 31,

 2018 2017 2016

Net Revenues
Electronic Systems $ 337,868 $ 316,723 $ 304,177
Structural Systems 291,439 241,460 246,465

Total Net Revenues $ 629,307 $ 558,183 $ 550,642
Segment Operating Income (Loss) (2)(3)

Electronic Systems $ 30,916 $ 31,236 $ 29,284
Structural Systems 19,063 5,790 16,844

49,979 37,026 46,128
Corporate General and Administrative Expenses (1)(2)(3) (26,061) (21,392) (16,912)

Operating Income $ 23,918 $ 15,634 $ 29,216
Depreciation and Amortization Expenses

Electronic Systems $ 14,223 $ 13,888 $ 14,087
Structural Systems 10,525 8,860 8,688
Corporate Administration 548 97 85

Total Depreciation and Amortization Expenses $ 25,296 $ 22,845 $ 22,860
Capital Expenditures

Electronic Systems $ 6,719 $ 5,019 $ 3,032
Structural Systems 9,104 20,679 15,661
Corporate Administration 514 775 —

Total Capital Expenditures $ 16,337 $ 26,473 $ 18,693  

(1) Includes cost not allocated to either the Electronic Systems or Structural Systems operating segments.
(2) The results for 2018 includes CTP’s results of operations which have been included in our consolidated statements of 

income since the date of acquisition as part of the Structural Systems segment. See Note 3.
(3) The results for 2017 includes LDS’ results of operations which have been included in our consolidated statements of 

income since the date of acquisition as part of the Electronic Systems segment. See Note 3.
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Segment assets include assets directly identifiable with each segment. Corporate assets include assets not specifically 
identified with a business segment, including cash. The following table summarizes our segment assets for 2018 and 2017:

(In thousands)
December 31,

 2018 2017

Total Assets
Electronic Systems $ 405,743 $ 362,831
Structural Systems 226,304 193,600
Corporate Administration 16,096 10,322

Total Assets $ 648,143 $ 566,753
Goodwill and Intangibles

Electronic Systems $ 219,872 $ 229,292
Structural Systems 28,277 2,836

Total Goodwill and Intangibles $ 248,149 $ 232,128

On April 23, 2018, we acquired 100.0% of the outstanding equity interests of CTP for a purchase price of $30.7 million, net 
of cash acquired. We allocated the gross purchase price of $30.8 million to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at 
estimated fair values. The excess of the purchase price over the aggregate fair values of the net assets was recorded as 
goodwill. See Note 3.

In September 2017, we acquired 100.0% of the outstanding equity interests of LDS for a purchase price of $60.0 million, net 
of cash acquired. We allocated the gross purchase price of $62.0 million to the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at 
estimated fair values. The excess of the purchase over the aggregate fair values was recorded as goodwill. See Note 3.

Note 19. Supplemental Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

(In thousands, except per share amounts)
Three Months Ended

2018
Three Months Ended

2017
Dec 31 Sep 29 Jun 30 Mar 31 Dec 31 Sep 30 Jul 1 Apr 1

Net Revenues $ 164,183 $ 159,842 $ 154,827 $ 150,455 $ 142,258 $ 138,690 $ 140,938 $ 136,297
Gross Profit 32,697 31,116 32,028 26,755 25,772 26,087 26,269 25,005
Income (Loss) Before
Taxes 1,791 4,290 1,833 2,357 (5,057) 5,595 4,564 2,507
Income Tax Expense
(Benefit) 1,118 119 242 (243) (14,541) 940 741 392

Net Income $ 673 $ 4,171 $ 1,591 $ 2,600 $ 9,484 $ 4,655 $ 3,823 $ 2,115
Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per
share $ 0.06 $ 0.37 $ 0.14 $ 0.23 $ 0.84 $ 0.41 $ 0.34 $ 0.19
Diluted earnings
per share $ 0.06 $ 0.36 $ 0.14 $ 0.22 $ 0.82 $ 0.41 $ 0.33 $ 0.18

In the fourth quarter of 2018, we recorded restructuring charges of $3.8 million as part of a restructuring plan that 
commenced during the fourth quarter of 2017. See Note 4.

In the third quarter of 2018, we recorded restructuring charges of $3.4 million as part of a restructuring plan that commenced 
during the fourth quarter of 2017. See Note 4.

In the second quarter of 2018, we acquired 100.0% of the outstanding equity interests of CTP and CTP’s results of operations 
have been included in our consolidated statements of operations since the date of acquisition as part of the Structural Systems 
segment. See Note 3. In addition, we recorded restructuring charges of $5.4 million as part of a restructuring plan that 
commenced during the fourth quarter of 2017. See Note 4.
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In the first quarter of 2018, we recorded restructuring charges of $2.2 million as part of a restructuring plan that commenced 
during the fourth quarter of 2017. See Note 4.

In the fourth quarter of 2017, we adopted the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act and as a result, recorded a provisional deferred income 
tax benefit of $13.0 million related to the re-measurement for the year ended December 31, 2017. See Note 15. In addition, 
we commenced a restructuring plan (“2017 Restructuring Plan”) and recorded restructuring charges of $8.8 million (with 
$0.5 million recorded as costs of sales). See Note 4.

In the third quarter of 2017, we acquired 100.0% of the outstanding equity interests of LDS and LDS’ results of operations 
have been included in our consolidated statements of operations since the date of acquisition as part of the Electronic 
Systems segment. See Note 3.
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DUCOMMUN INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018, 2017, AND 2016

(in thousands)

SCHEDULE II
 

Description

Balance at
Beginning
of Period

Charged to
Costs and
Expenses

Deductions/
(Recoveries)

Balance at End
of Period

2018

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts $ 868 $ 776 $ 509 $ 1,135

Valuation Allowance on Deferred Tax Assets $ 9,013 $ 70 $ — $ 9,083
2017

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts $ 495 $ 334 $ (39) $ 868

Valuation Allowance on Deferred Tax Assets $ 6,607 $ 2,406 $ — $ 9,013
2016

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts $ 359 $ 233 $ 97 $ 495

Valuation Allowance on Deferred Tax Assets $ 7,477 $ (870) $ — $ 6,607
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
No.  Description

2.1  Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of April 3, 2011, among Ducommun Incorporated, DLBMS, Inc. and LaBarge, 
Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Form 8-K filed on April 5, 2011.

2.2  Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of September 11, 2017, among Ducommun LaBarge Technologies, Inc., LS 
Holdings Company LLC, and DLS Company LLC. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Form 8-K filed on 
September 11, 2017.

2.3  Stock Purchase Agreement dated January 22, 2016, by and among Ducommun Incorporated, Ducommun LaBarge 
Technologies, Inc., as Seller, LaBarge Electronics, Inc., and Intervala, LLC, as Buyer. Incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 2.1 to Form 8-K filed on January 25, 2016.

2.4  Stock Purchase Agreement dated February 24, 2016, by and between Ducommun LaBarge Technologies, Inc., as Seller, 
and General Atomics, as Buyer. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Form 8-K filed on February 25, 2016.

3.1  Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on May 29, 1990. Incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1990.

3.2  Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on May 27, 1998. 
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998.

3.3  Bylaws as amended and restated on March 19, 2013. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8-K filed on 
March 22, 2013.

3.4  Amendment to Bylaws dated January 5, 2017. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to Form 8-K filed on January 9, 
2017.

3.5  Amendment to Bylaws dated February 21, 2018. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Form 8-K filed on February 
26, 2018.

10.1  Credit Agreement, dated as of November 21, 2018, among Ducommun Incorporated, certain of its subsidiaries, Bank of 
America, N.A., as administrative agent, swingline lender and issuing bank, and other lenders party thereto. Incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K filed on November 26, 2018.

*10.2  2007 Stock Incentive Plan. Incorporated by reference to Appendix B of Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14a, 
filed on March 29, 2010.

*10.3  2013 Stock Incentive Plan (Amended and Restated March 18, 2015). Incorporated by reference to Appendix B of 
Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14a, filed on April 22, 2015.

*10.4  2013 Stock Incentive Plan (Amended and Restated May 2, 2018). Incorporated by reference to Appendix A of 
Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14a, filed on March 23, 2018.

*10.5  2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Incorporated by reference to Appendix B of Definitive Proxy Statement on 
Schedule 14a, filed on March 23, 2018.

*10.6  Form of Stock Option Agreement for 2016 and earlier. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 2003.

*10.7  Form of Stock Option Agreement for 2017. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2016.

*10.8  Form of Stock Option Agreement for 2018 and after. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to Form S-8 filed on 
May 10, 2018.

*10.9  Form of Performance Stock Unit Agreement for 2014 and 2015. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to Form 
10-Q for the period ended March 29, 2014.

*10.10  Form of Performance Stock Unit Agreement for 2016. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Form 10-Q for 
the period ended April 2, 2016. 

*10.11  Form of Performance Stock Unit Agreement for 2017. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to Form 10-Q for 
the period ended April 1, 2017. 

2.1   Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of April 3, 2011, among Ducommun Incorporated, DLBMS, Inc. and LaBarge, 
Inc. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Form 8-K filed on April 5, 2011.

2.2   Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of September 11, 2017, among Ducommun LaBarge Technologies, Inc., LS 
Holdings Company LLC, and DLS Company LLC. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Form 8-K filed on 
September 11, 2017.

2.3   Stock Purchase Agreement dated January 22, 2016, by and among Ducommun Incorporated, Ducommun LaBarge 
Technologies, Inc., as Seller, LaBarge Electronics, Inc., and Intervala, LLC, as Buyer. Incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 2.1 to Form 8-K filed on January 25, 2016.

2.4   Stock Purchase Agreement dated February 24, 2016, by and between Ducommun LaBarge Technologies, Inc., as Seller, 
and General Atomics, as Buyer. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to Form 8-K filed on February 25, 2016.

3.1   Restated Certificate of Incorporation filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on May 29, 1990. Incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1990.

3.2   Certificate of Amendment of Certificate of Incorporation filed with the Delaware Secretary of State on May 27, 1998. 
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1998.

3.3   Bylaws as amended and restated on March 19, 2013. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8-K filed on 
March 22, 2013.

3.4   Amendment to Bylaws dated January 5, 2017. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to Form 8-K filed on  
January 9, 2017.

3.5   Amendment to Bylaws dated February 21, 2018. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Form 8-K filed on  
February26, 2018.

10.1   Credit Agreement, dated as of November 21, 2018, among Ducommun Incorporated, certain of its subsidiaries, Bank of 
America, N.A., as administrative agent, swingline lender and issuing bank, and other lenders party thereto. Incorporated 
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K filed on November 26, 2018.

*10.2   2007 Stock Incentive Plan. Incorporated by reference to Appendix B of Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14a, 
filed on March 29, 2010.

*10.3   2013 Stock Incentive Plan (Amended and Restated March 18, 2015). Incorporated by reference to Appendix B of 
Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14a, filed on April 22, 2015.

*10.4   2013 Stock Incentive Plan (Amended and Restated May 2, 2018). Incorporated by reference to Appendix A of 
Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14a, filed on March 23, 2018.

*10.5   2018 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Incorporated by reference to Appendix B of Definitive Proxy Statement on 
Schedule 14a, filed on March 23, 2018.

*10.6   Form of Stock Option Agreement for 2016 and earlier. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 2003.

*10.7   Form of Stock Option Agreement for 2017. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2016.

*10.8   Form of Stock Option Agreement for 2018 and after. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.7 to Form S-8 filed on 
May 10, 2018.

*10.9   Form of Performance Stock Unit Agreement for 2014 and 2015. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to Form 
10-Q for the period ended March 29, 2014.

*10.10   Form of Performance Stock Unit Agreement for 2016. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to Form 10-Q for 
the period ended April 2, 2016.

*10.11   Form of Performance Stock Unit Agreement for 2017. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 to Form 10-Q for 
the period ended April 1, 2017.
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Exhibit
No.  Description

*10.12  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for 2016 and earlier. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8-
K filed on May 8, 2007.

*10.13  Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for 2017 and after. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to Form 10-K 
for the year ended December 31, 2016.

*10.14  Form of Directors’ Restricted Stock Unit Agreement. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8-K filed on 
May 10, 2010.

*10.15  Performance Restricted Stock Unit Agreement dated January 23, 2017 between Ducommun Incorporated and 
Stephen G. Oswald. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016.

*10.16 Form of Indemnity Agreement entered with all directors and officers of Ducommun. Incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.8 to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1990. All of the Indemnity Agreements are identical 
except for the name of the director or officer and the date of the Agreement:

Director/Officer Date of Agreement
Richard A. Baldridge March 19, 2013
Gregory S. Churchill March 19, 2013
Shirley G. Drazba October 18, 2018
Robert C. Ducommun December 31, 1985
Dean M. Flatt November 5, 2009
Douglas L. Groves February 12, 2013
Jay L. Haberland February 2, 2009
Stephen G. Oswald January 23, 2017
Robert D. Paulson March 25, 2003
Jerry L. Redondo October 1, 2015
Rosalie F. Rogers July 24, 2008
Christopher D. Wampler January 1, 2016

*10.17  Ducommun Incorporated 2016 Bonus Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to Form 8-K filed on March 1, 
2016.

*10.18  Ducommun Incorporated 2017 Bonus Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8-K filed on February 
27, 2017.

*10.19  Directors’ Deferred Compensation and Retirement Plan, as amended and restated February 2, 2010. Incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.15 to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009.

*10.20  Key Executive Severance Agreement between Ducommun Incorporated and Stephen G. Oswald dated January 23, 
2017. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8-K filed on January 27, 2017.

*10.21  Form of Key Executive Severance Agreement between Ducommun Incorporated and each of the individuals listed 
below. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to Form 8-K filed on January 27, 2017. All of the Key Executive 
Severance Agreements are identical except for the name of the person and the address for notice:

Person Date of Agreement
Douglas L. Groves January 23, 2017
Jerry L. Redondo January 23, 2017
Rosalie F. Rogers January 23, 2017
Christopher D. Wampler January 23, 2017

*10.22  Employment Letter Agreement dated January 3, 2017 between Ducommun Incorporated and Stephen G. Oswald. 
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8-K filed on January 9, 2017.

*10.23  Employment Letter Agreement dated December 19, 2016 between Ducommun Incorporated and Amy M. Paul. 
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016.

*10.12   Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for 2016 and earlier. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8- 
K filed on May 8, 2007.

*10.13   Form of Restricted Stock Unit Agreement for 2017 and after. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to Form 10-K 
for the year ended December 31, 2016.

*10.14   Form of Directors’ Restricted Stock Unit Agreement. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8-K filed on 
May 10, 2010.

*10.15   Performance Restricted Stock Unit Agreement dated January 23, 2017 between Ducommun Incorporated and 
Stephen G. Oswald. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016.

*10.16   Form of Indemnity Agreement entered with all directors and officers of Ducommun. Incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.8 to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1990. All of the Indemnity Agreements are identical 
except for the name of the director or officer and the date of the Agreement:

*10.17   Ducommun Incorporated 2016 Bonus Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to Form 8-K filed on  
March 1, 2016.

*10.18   Ducommun Incorporated 2017 Bonus Plan. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8-K filed on  
February 27, 2017.

*10.19   Directors’ Deferred Compensation and Retirement Plan, as amended and restated February 2, 2010. Incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.15 to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009.

*10.20   Key Executive Severance Agreement between Ducommun Incorporated and Stephen G. Oswald dated  
January 23, 2017. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8-K filed on January 27, 2017.

*10.21   Form of Key Executive Severance Agreement between Ducommun Incorporated and each of the individuals listed 
below. Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to Form 8-K filed on January 27, 2017. All of the Key Executive 
Severance Agreements are identical except for the name of the person and the address for notice:

*10.22   Employment Letter Agreement dated January 3, 2017 between Ducommun Incorporated and Stephen G. Oswald. 
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8-K filed on January 9, 2017.

*10.23   Employment Letter Agreement dated December 19, 2016 between Ducommun Incorporated and Amy M. Paul. 
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 to Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016.
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Exhibit
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*10.24  Transition Services Letter Agreement dated January 10, 2017 between Ducommun Incorporated and James S. Heiser. 
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8-K filed on January 17, 2017.

*10.25  Separation and Release Agreement dated May 14, 2018 between Ducommun Incorporated and Amy M. Paul. 
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K filed on May 23, 2018.

21 Subsidiaries of the registrant.

23 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer.

31.2 Certification of Principal Financial Officer.

32 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS  XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase

101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase
___________________
* Indicates an executive compensation plan or arrangement.

*10.24   Transition Services Letter Agreement dated January 10, 2017 between Ducommun Incorporated and James S. Heiser. 
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to Form 8-K filed on January 17, 2017.

*10.25   Separation and Release Agreement dated May 14, 2018 between Ducommun Incorporated and Amy M. Paul. 
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to Form 8-K filed on May 23, 2018.

21  Subsidiaries of the registrant.

23  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

31.1  Certification of Principal Executive Officer.

31.2  Certification of Principal Financial Officer.

32  Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
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ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

Not applicable.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly 
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 

 DUCOMMUN INCORPORATED

Date: February 28, 2019 By:  /s/ Stephen G. Oswald
 Stephen G. Oswald
 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been duly signed below by the 
following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated on February 28, 2019.
 

Signature Title

/s/ Stephen G. Oswald Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
Stephen G. Oswald (Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ Douglas L. Groves Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
Douglas L. Groves (Principal Financial Officer)

/s/ Christopher D. Wampler Vice President, Controller and Chief Accounting Officer
Christopher D. Wampler (Principal Accounting Officer)

/s/ Richard A. Baldridge Director
Richard A. Baldridge

/s/ Gregory S. Churchill Director
Gregory S. Churchill

/s/ Shirley G. Drazba Director
Shirley G. Drazba

/s/ Robert C. Ducommun Director
Robert C. Ducommun

/s/ Dean M. Flatt Director
Dean M. Flatt

/s/ Jay L. Haberland Director
Jay L. Haberland

/s/ Robert D. Paulson Director
Robert D. Paulson



EXHIBIT 21

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Following is a list of the subsidiaries of the Company(1):

Name of Subsidiary Jurisdiction of Incorporation
CMP Display Systems, Inc. California
Composite Structures, LLC Delaware
Ducommun AeroStructures, Inc. Delaware
Ducommun AeroStructures Mexico, LLC Delaware
Ducommun AeroStructures New York, Inc. New York
Ducommun (England) LTD England
Ducommun LaBarge Technologies, Inc. Arizona
Ducommun LaBarge Technologies, Inc. Delaware
Ducommun Technologies (Thailand) Ltd. Thailand
LaBarge/STC, Inc. Texas
LaBarge Acquisition Company, Inc. Missouri
Lightning Diversion Systems, LLC Delaware
LS Holdings Company, LLC Delaware

(1) As of December 31, 2018.



EXHIBIT 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-214408, 
333-188460, and 333-224838) of Ducommun Incorporated of our report dated February 28, 2019 relating to the consolidated 
financial statements, consolidated financial statement schedule and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, 
which appears in this Form 10-K.
 

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Irvine, California
February 28, 2019



EXHIBIT 31.1

Certification of Principal Executive Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Stephen G. Oswald, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report of Ducommun Incorporated (the “registrant”) on Form 10-K for the period ended 
December 31, 2018;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present 
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the 
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls 
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial 
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f), and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures 
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, 
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, 
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial 
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in 
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of 
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that 
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the 
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control 
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to 
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a 
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2019 

/s/ Stephen G. Oswald
Stephen G. Oswald
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

Certification of Principal Financial Officer
Pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

I, Douglas L. Groves, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report of Ducommun Incorporated (the “registrant”) on Form 10-K for the period ended 
December 31, 2018;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present 
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the 
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls 
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial 
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)), for the registrant and have:

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures 
to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, 
including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, 
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial 
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the 
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in 
this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of 
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that 
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the 
case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the 
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control 
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or 
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control 
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to 
record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a 
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: February 28, 2019 

/s/ Douglas L. Groves
Douglas L. Groves
Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer



EXHIBIT 32

Certification Pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Ducommun Incorporated (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending 
December 31, 2018, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Stephen G. 
Oswald, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted 
pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of our knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and 
results of operations of the Company.

By:  /s/ Stephen G. Oswald
 Stephen G. Oswald
 Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
 February 28, 2019

In connection with the Annual Report of Ducommun Incorporated (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the period ending 
December 31, 2018, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Douglas L. 
Groves, Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer of the Company, certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted 
pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of our knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and 
results of operations of the Company.

By:  /s/ Douglas L. Groves
 Douglas L. Groves
 Vice President, Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer
 February 28, 2019

The foregoing certification is accompanying the Form 10-K solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, 
and is not being filed as part of the Form 10-K or as a separate disclosure document.
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CertIfICatIOnS
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